
Table of Contents

 
Agenda 5
Consider approval of the minutes from the December 21, 2015
regular city council meeting, and take any action necessary.

12/21 cc mtg mins 10
Blank Page 32

Z2015-030 - Consider approval of an ordinance for a City
initiated request for a zoning amendment to Planned
Development District 75 (PD-75) being Ordinance No. 09-37,
containing 329.53-acres of land, identified as the Lake Rockwall
Estates Subdivision, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas,
zoned Planned Development District 75 (PD-75) for Single
Family 7 (SF-7) District land uses, being situated east of Tubbs
Road and north of County Line Road, and take any action
necessary. (2nd reading)

Ord (2nd reading) LRE 33
Blank Page 39

Z2015-032 - Consider a request by Lloyd Waldrop of Rockwall
Gold & Silver on behalf of the owner Donna Pritchard for the
approval for renewal of Specific Use Permit (SUP) No. S-115
(Ordinance No. 13-46) allowing a pawn shop on a portion of a
0.423-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block 1 of the
Garland Federal Savings & Loan Addition, City of Rockwall,
Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District,
situated within the SH-205 Overlay (SH-205 OV) District,
address as Suite 1 of 1901 S. Goliad Street, and take any action
necessary.  (2nd reading)

2nd reading (SUP Rck Gold & Silver) 40
Blank Page 43

Z2015-033 - Consider a request by Stephen B. North for the
approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for an
accessory building not meeting the standards stipulated by the
Unified Development Code on a 0.23-acre parcel of land
identified as Lot 14, Block F, Harlan Park Addition, Phase 1,
City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single Family
10 (SF-10) District, situated within the North SH-205 Overlay (N.
SH-205 OV) District, addressed as 513 Windsor Way, and take
any action necessary.  (2nd reading)

Ord (2nd reading) SUP accessory bldg 44
Blank Page 48

Z2015-034 - Consider a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star
Land Development Inc. on behalf of the owner Randa Hance of
R&R Hance Investment LP for the approval of an ordinance for
a zoning change from an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned
Development District for Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land
uses for a 45.318-acre tract of land identified as Tract 2-03 of
the P. B. Harrison Survey, Abstract No. 97, City of Rockwall,
Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Agricultural (AG) District,
situated within the SH-205 By-Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV)
District, located on the north side of John King Boulevard south
of FM-552, and take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)

Ord_2nd reading (Atkins) 49

1
1



Blank Page 60
Z2015-035 - Consider a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star
Land Development Inc. on behalf of the owner Larry Hance for
the approval of an ordinance for a zoning change from an
Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development District for
Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land uses for a 44.56-acre
tract of land identified as Tract 3 of the T. R. Bailey Survey,
Abstract No. 30, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas,
zoned Agricultural (AG) District, situated within the SH-205 By-
Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District, located at the northwest
corner of FM-552 and John King Boulevard, and take any action
necessary.  (2nd reading)

Concept Plan 61
Draft Ordinance 62
Blank page 75

Appointment with Steven Nosworthy to hear presentation
regarding his completed Eagle Scout project, and take any
action necessary.

Nosworthy Presentation 76
Blank Page 84

Discuss and consider adoption of a resolution regarding cost of
treated water from the North Texas municipal water District, and
take any action necessary.

Memo 85
blank page 86

Z2015-031 - Discuss and consider a request by John and Lenny
James on behalf of the owner Rockway Partners for the
approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a
carwash on a 0.688-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block
D, La Jolla Pointe Addition, Phase 2, City of Rockwall, Rockwall
County, Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District, situated within
the Scenic Overlay (SOV) District, located at the northwest
corner of La Jolla Pointe Drive and Ridge Road [FM-740], and
take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)

Ord_2nd reading (car wash) 87
Blank Page 91

Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance modifying
Chapter 38. Subdivisions, Article 1. In General, Section 38-19.
Street Improvements and Oversizing, of the Municipal Code of
Ordinances to require a 41-foot street adjacent to schools and
parks, and take any action necessary. (2nd reading)

Ord (2nd reading) street width 92
Blank Page 94

Discuss and consider possible amendment to second reading of
the ordinance for MIS2015-003 to collect data on alternative
solutions for the roadway designation of Goliad from downtown
to East Fork, to include but not be limited to considering the
possibility of two through lanes, one north and one south,
divided by a dedicated turn lane, and take any action necessary.

Milder agenda item request 95
City Mgr Memo re Thoroughfare Plan 96
Blank Page 99

2
2



MIS2015-003 - Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance
for a City initiated request to amend the Comprehensive Plan by
approving changes to the Master Thoroughfare Plan Map
contained within the Transportation section, add a street cross
section for a M4U-M (minor arterial, four [4] lane, undivided
roadway, modified) and modify existing street cross sections in
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, and take any action
necessary.  (2nd reading)

City Mgr Memo re plan updates 100
Ord 2nd reading (amend thoroughfare plan) 103
MIS2015-003 117
Blank Page 159

Discuss and consider a request by Price Pointer for the
approval of a structure preservation tax exemption application
seeking to have the assessed value for ad valorem taxation
fixed for a period of five (5) years on the subject property at 602
Williams Street, further identified as the east ½ of Lot 121, Block
A of the B. F. Boydston Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall
County, Texas, zoned Single Family 7 (SF-7) District, located
within the Old Town Rockwall (OTR) Historic District, and take
any action necessary.

Memorandum 160
Blank Page 201

Discuss and consider extending the Facilities Agreement for
Damascus Road with Our Lady of the Lake Catholic Church for
an additional 90 calendar days, and take any action necessary.

City Manager Memo 202
Blank Page 203

Discuss and consider approval of a joint contract between the
City of Rockwall, the Rockwall Independent School District
(RISD) and the Elections Administrator of Rockwall County for
administration of the May 7, 2016 General (Municipal) Election,
and take any action necessary.

Memo 204
Elections Contract 205
Blank Page 218

Discuss and consider adoption of an ordinance authorizing the
issuance of City of Rockwall, Texas, General Obligation
Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2016; establishing
procedures and delegating authority for the sale and delivery of
the bonds; providing an effective date; enacting other provisions
relating to the subject. (1st Reading - No Action Will Be Taken)

staff memo 219
GO Ordinance 221
Blank Page 250

Discuss and consider adoption of an ordinance authorizing the
issuance of City of Rockwall, Texas, Combination Tax and
Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016;
establishing procedures and delegating authority for the sale
and delivery of the certificates; providing an effective date; and
enacting other provisions relating to the subject. (1st Reading -
No Action Will Be Taken)

staff memo 251

3
3



Certificates Ordinance 253
Blank Page 279

Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance amending the
Code of Ordinances in Chapter 8. Aviation by adding a new
article, Article III, establishing an Airport Advisory Board at the
Ralph M. Hall / Rockwall Municipal Airport to be appointed and
removed by the city council, and take any action necessary. (1st
reading)

Memo - Airport Advisory Board 280
Ord_1st Reading (airport board) 281
Blank Page 283

Building Inspections Monthly Report - November 2015
November 2015 Building Report 284
Blank Page 296

Fire Department Monthly Reports - November 2015
Fire Dept. Monthly Reports - November 2015 297
Blank Page 312

GIS Department Monthly Report - November 2015
GIS Monthly Report (November 2015) 313
Blank Page 314

Harbor PD Monthly Report - November 2015
Harbor PD Report - Nov 2015 315
Blank Page 316

Internal Operations Department Monthly Report - November
2015.

IO Report 317
Blank Page 320

Police Department Monthly Report - November 2015
PD Monthly Report 321
Blank Page 323

Recreation Monthly Report - November 2015
Recreation Graph - Nov 2015 324
Blank Page 325

Rockwall Animal Adoption Center Monthly Report - November
2015

RAAC-November 2015 326
Blank Page 327

4
4



Monday, January 04, 2016   City Council Agenda 
Page 1 

AGENDA 
ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL 

Monday, January 04, 2016 
4:00 p.m.  Regular City Council Meeting 

City Hall - 385 S. Goliad, Rockwall, Texas 75087 

I. CALL PUBLIC MEETING TO ORDER 

II. EXECUTIVE SESSION

THE CITY OF ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL WILL RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS
THE FOLLOWING MATTERS AS AUTHORIZED BY CHAPTER 551 OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT
CODE:

1. Discussion regarding land acquisition for South Community Park pursuant
to Section § 551.072 (Real Property).

2. Discussion regarding purchase or lease of real property / land acquisition
in the vicinity of the downtown area pursuant to Section § 551.072 (Real
Property).

3. Discussion regarding process associated with City Manager performance
evaluation pursuant to Section 551.074 (personnel matters)

III. ADJOURN EXECUTIVE SESSION

5
5



Monday, January 04, 2016  City Council Agenda 
Page 2 

AGENDA 
ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL 

Monday, January 04, 2016 
6:00 p.m. Regular City Council Meeting 

City Hall, 385 S. Goliad, Rockwall, Texas 75087 

IV. RECONVENE PUBLIC MEETING

V. TAKE ANY ACTION AS A RESULT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 

VI. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – COUNCILMEMBER HOHENSHELT

VII. OPEN FORUM

VIII. CONSENT AGENDA

1. Consider approval of the minutes from the December 21, 2015 regular
city council meeting, and take any action necessary.

2. Z2015-030 - Consider approval of an ordinance for a City initiated
request for a zoning amendment to Planned Development District 75 (PD-
75) being Ordinance No. 09-37, containing 329.53-acres of land,
identified as the Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision, City of Rockwall, 
Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 75 (PD-75) 
for Single Family 7 (SF-7) District land uses, being situated east of Tubbs 
Road and north of County Line Road, and take any action necessary. 
(2nd reading) 

3. Z2015-032 - Consider a request by Lloyd Waldrop of Rockwall Gold &
Silver on behalf of the owner Donna Pritchard for the approval for renewal
of Specific Use Permit (SUP) No. S-115 (Ordinance No. 13-46) allowing
a pawn shop on a portion of a 0.423-acre parcel of land identified as Lot
1, Block 1 of the Garland Federal Savings & Loan Addition, City of
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District,
situated within the SH-205 Overlay (SH-205 OV) District, address as
Suite 1 of 1901 S. Goliad Street, and take any action necessary.  (2nd
reading)

4. Z2015-033 - Consider a request by Stephen B. North for the approval of
an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for an accessory building
not meeting the standards stipulated by the Unified Development Code
on a 0.23-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 14, Block F, Harlan Park
Addition, Phase 1, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned
Single Family 10 (SF-10) District, situated within the North SH-205
Overlay (N. SH-205 OV) District, addressed as 513 Windsor Way, and
take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)

5. Z2015-034 - Consider a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land
Development Inc. on behalf of the owner Randa Hance of R&R Hance
Investment LP for the approval of an ordinance for a zoning change from
an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development District for Single

6
6

p.10

p.33

p.40

p.44

p.49



Monday, January 04, 2016  City Council Agenda 
Page 3 

Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land uses for a 45.318-acre tract of land 
identified as Tract 2-03 of the P. B. Harrison Survey, Abstract No. 97, City 
of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Agricultural (AG) District, 
situated within the SH-205 By-Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District, 
located on the north side of John King Boulevard south of FM-552, and 
take any action necessary.  (2nd reading) 

6. Z2015-035 - Consider a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land
Development Inc. on behalf of the owner Larry Hance for the approval of
an ordinance for a zoning change from an Agricultural (AG) District to a
Planned Development District for Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land
uses for a 44.56-acre tract of land identified as Tract 3 of the T. R. Bailey
Survey, Abstract No. 30, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas,
zoned Agricultural (AG) District, situated within the SH-205 By-Pass
Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District, located at the northwest corner of FM-
552 and John King Boulevard, and take any action necessary.  (2nd
reading)

IX. APPOINTMENTS

1. Appointment with the Planning and Zoning Chairman to discuss and
answer any questions regarding cases on the agenda and related issues
and take any action necessary.

2. Appointment with Steven Nosworthy to hear presentation regarding his
completed Eagle Scout project, and take any action necessary.

X. ACTION ITEMS 

1. Discuss and consider adoption of a resolution regarding cost of treated
water from the North Texas municipal water District, and take any action
necessary.

2. Z2015-031 - Discuss and consider a request by John and Lenny James
on behalf of the owner Rockway Partners for the approval of an
ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a carwash on a 0.688-acre
parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block D, La Jolla Pointe Addition, Phase
2, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Commercial (C)
District, situated within the Scenic Overlay (SOV) District, located at the
northwest corner of La Jolla Pointe Drive and Ridge Road [FM-740], and
take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)

3. Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance modifying Chapter 38.
Subdivisions, Article 1. In General, Section 38-19. Street Improvements
and Oversizing, of the Municipal Code of Ordinances to require a 41-foot
street adjacent to schools and parks, and take any action necessary.
(2nd reading)

4. Discuss and consider possible amendment to second reading of the
ordinance for MIS2015-003 to collect data on alternative solutions for the
roadway designation of Goliad from downtown to East Fork, to include but
not be limited to considering the possibility of two through lanes, one

7
7

p.61

p.75

p.84

p.86

p.91

p.94



Monday, January 04, 2016  City Council Agenda 
Page 4 

north and one south, divided by a dedicated turn lane, and take any 
action necessary. 

5. MIS2015-003 - Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance for a City
initiated request to amend the Comprehensive Plan by approving
changes to the Master Thoroughfare Plan Map contained within the
Transportation section, add a street cross section for a M4U-M (minor
arterial, four [4] lane, undivided roadway, modified) and modify existing
street cross sections in Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, and
take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)

6. Discuss and consider a request by Price Pointer for the approval of a
structure preservation tax exemption application seeking to have the
assessed value for ad valorem taxation fixed for a period of five (5) years
on the subject property at 602 Williams Street, further identified as the
east ½ of Lot 121, Block A of the B. F. Boydston Addition, City of
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single Family 7 (SF-7) District,
located within the Old Town Rockwall (OTR) Historic District, and take
any action necessary.

7. Discuss and consider extending the Facilities Agreement for Damascus
Road with Our Lady of the Lake Catholic Church for an additional 90
calendar days, and take any action necessary.

8. Discuss and consider approval of a joint contract between the City of
Rockwall, the Rockwall Independent School District (RISD) and the
Elections Administrator of Rockwall County for administration of the May
7, 2016 General (Municipal) Election, and take any action necessary.

9. Discuss and consider adoption of an ordinance authorizing the issuance
of City of Rockwall, Texas, General Obligation Refunding and
Improvement Bonds, Series 2016; establishing procedures and
delegating authority for the sale and delivery of the bonds; providing an
effective date; enacting other provisions relating to the subject. (1st
Reading - No Action Will Be Taken)

10. Discuss and consider adoption of an ordinance authorizing the issuance
of City of Rockwall, Texas, Combination Tax and Surplus Revenue
Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016; establishing procedures and
delegating authority for the sale and delivery of the certificates; providing
an effective date; and enacting other provisions relating to the subject.
(1st Reading - No Action Will Be Taken)

11. Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance amending the Code of
Ordinances in Chapter 8. Aviation by adding a new article, Article III,
establishing an Airport Advisory Board at the Ralph M. Hall / Rockwall
Municipal Airport to be appointed and removed by the city council, and
take any action necessary. (1st reading)

8
8

p.99

p.159

p.201

p.203

p.218

p.250

p.279



Monday, January 04, 2016  City Council Agenda 
Page 5 

XI. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT TO DISCUSS CURRENT CITY ACTIVITIES, UPCOMING MEETINGS,
FUTURE LEGISLATIVE ACTIVITIES, AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS.

1. Departmental Reports
Building Inspections Monthly Report - November 2015
Fire Department Monthly Reports - November 2015
GIS Department Monthly Report - November 2015
Harbor PD Monthly Report - November 2015
Internal Operations Department Monthly Report - November 2015.
Police Department Monthly Report - November 2015
Recreation Monthly Report - November 2015
Rockwall Animal Adoption Center Monthly Report - November 2015

2. City Manager’s Report

XII. EXECUTIVE SESSION

THE CITY OF ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL WILL RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS
THE FOLLOWING MATTERS AS AUTHORIZED BY CHAPTER 551 OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT
CODE:
1. Discussion regarding purchase or lease of real property / land acquisition

in the vicinity of the downtown area pursuant to Section § 551.072 (Real
Property).

2. Discussion regarding land acquisition for South Community Park pursuant
to Section § 551.072 (Real Property).

3. Discussion regarding process associated with City Manager performance
evaluation pursuant to Section 551.074 (personnel matters)

XIII. RECONVENE PUBLIC MEETING & TAKE ANY ACTION AS RESULT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION

XIV. ADJOURNMENT

This facility is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available.  Request for accommodations or 
interpretive services must be made 48 hours prior to this meeting.  Please contact the City Secretary’s Office at (972) 
771-7700 or FAX (972) 771-7727 for further information. 

The City of Rockwall City Council reserves the right to adjourn into executive session at any time to discuss any of 
the matters listed on the agenda above, as authorized by Texas Government Code § 551.071 (Consultation with 
Attorney) § 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property) § 551.074 (Personnel Matters) and § 551.086 (Economic 
Development) 

I, Kristy Cole, City Secretary for the City of Rockwall, Texas, do hereby certify that this Agenda was posted at City 
Hall, in a place readily accessible to the general public at all times, on the 31st  day of December, 2015 at 4:00 p.m. 
and remained so posted for at least 72 continuous hours preceding the scheduled time of said meeting. 

_____________________________________ _________________________ 
Kristy Cole, City Secretary Date Removed 

Jacky Casey, Assistant Secretary 

9
9

283
296

312
314

316
320

323
325



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 1 

MINUTES 1 

ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL 2 
Monday, December 21, 2015 3 

4:00 p.m.  Regular City Council Meeting 4 
City Hall, 385 S. Goliad, Rockwall, Texas 75087 5 

 6 
I. CALL PUBLIC MEETING TO ORDER 7 

8 
Mayor Pruitt called the public meeting to order at 4:00 p.m. Mayor Jim Pruitt, Mayor Pro 9 
Tem Dennis Lewis and Council Members David White, Mike Townsend, John Hohenshelt, 10 
Scott Milder and Kevin Fowler were present.  Also present were City Manager Rick 11 
Crowley, Assistant City Managers Brad Griggs and Mary Smith and City Attorney Frank 12 
Garza. 13 
 14 

II. WORK SESSION 15 
16 

1. Hold work session with representative(s) of the city's Park Board to hear and17 
discuss update concerning the Parks & Recreation Department's marketing18 
initiatives, and take any action necessary.19 

20 
Brad Bassett, Chair of the Park Board, came forth and introduced Bob Lewis, Vice Chair. 21 
He then provided an update to the Council concerning a recent strategic initiative related 22 
to bring more awareness to Parks and Recreation activities and amenities that are 23 
available to the public.  New registration software has been put in place for all programs, 24 
the websites have been redesigned, and the marketing budget has really helped.  “Go 25 
Outside and Play” is the catch phrase that has been coined for this marketing campaign. 26 
Both digital and print media communications have been in development.  February 1st is 27 
the target date for launching this campaign.  Vehicle wraps, ads in various media, water 28 
bill inserts, signage, and a YouTube message from the Mayor will all be part of the 29 
campaign launch.  A new website, www.playrockwall.com, will also be launched.  It will 30 
be internet and mobile/tablet friendly, and it will show the user everything that there is to 31 
do in Rockwall.  He then explained the functionality that the new website will have.  The 32 
City Council provided positive comments concerning the new campaign and website.  It 33 
was suggested that this new website link back to the portion of the city’s website where 34 
‘outside organizations’ list their events and activities taking place within the city (i.e. 35 
non-city sponsored triathlons).  36 
 37 
At 4:15 p.m. Mayor Pruitt then read the below listed discussion items into the record and 38 
recessed the public meeting to hold Executive Session. 39 
 40 

III. EXECUTIVE SESSION. 41 
42 

THE CITY OF ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL WILL RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS 43 
THE FOLLOWING MATTERS AS AUTHORIZED BY CHAPTER 551 OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT 44 
CODE: 45 

46 
1. Discussion regarding Economic Development incentives, procedures and47 

possible projects pursuant to Section 551.087 (Economic Development)48 

10
10



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 2 

 

2. Discussion regarding negotiations of Access Agreement pursuant to Section 49 
551.071 (Consultation with Attorney) 50 

3. Discussion regarding land acquisition for South Community Park pursuant to 51 
Section § 551.072 (Real Property). 52 

4. Discussion regarding (re)appointments to city regulatory boards, commissions, 53 
and committees - Rockwall Economic Development Corporation (REDC) Ex-54 
Officio Board Members - pursuant to Section 551.074 (personnel matters) 55 

5. Discussion regarding purchase or lease of real property / land acquisition in the 56 
vicinity of the downtown area pursuant to Section § 551.072 (Real Property). 57 

6. Discussion regarding legal advice associated with homeowners association 58 
(HOA) regulations within the city pursuant to Section 551.071 (Consultation with 59 
Attorney). 60 

7. Discussion regarding process associated with City Manager performance 61 
evaluation pursuant to Section 551.074 (personnel matters) 62 

 63 
IV. ADJOURN EXECUTIVE SESSION 64 

 65 
Executive Session was held from 4:15 p.m. until 4:55 p.m. and then again from 5:13 p.m. 66 
until 5:52 p.m. 67 

 68 
V. RECONVENE PUBLIC MEETING (6:00 P.M.) 69 

 70 
Mayor Pruitt reconvened the public meeting at 6:00 p.m. with all seven city council 71 
members being present. 72 
 73 
VI. TAKE ANY ACTION AS A RESULT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 74 

 75 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis made a motion to reappoint Linda Duran to serve as a non-voting, 76 
Ex Officio board member on the Rockwall Economic Development Corporation (term to 77 
expire in December of 2017).  Mayor Pruitt seconded the motion, which passed by a vote 78 
of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 79 

 80 
VII. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – COUNCILMEMBER TOWNSEND 81 
 82 
Councilmember Townsend delivered the invocation and led the pledge of Allegiance. 83 
 84 
VIII. OPEN FORUM  85 

 86 
Mayor Pruitt asked if anyone would like to come forth and speak at this time.  There 87 
being no one, he then closed the Open Forum. 88 

 89 
IX. CONSENT AGENDA  90 

 91 
1. Consider approval of the minutes from the December 7, 2015 regular city 92 

council meeting, and take any action necessary. 93 

2. Consider awarding a bid to New Star Grading and Paving Company and 94 
authorizing the City Manager to execute a Purchase Order for utility cuts 95 

11
11



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 3 

 

pavement repair services for an estimated annual amount of $75,000 to 96 
be funded out of the General Fund Streets Operations Budget, and take 97 
any action necessary. 98 

3. Consider awarding a bid to Nortex Concrete Lift and Stabilization and 99 
authorizing the City Manager to execute a Purchase Order for concrete 100 
paving stabilization services for an estimated annual amount of $50,000 101 
to be funded out of the General Fund Streets Operations Budget, and 102 
take any action necessary. 103 

4. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a professional 104 
engineering services contract with Birkhoff, Hendricks & Carter, LLP in 105 
the amount of $124,400 to perform a wastewater lift station evaluation 106 
update on the City’s wastewater lift stations to be funded by water/sewer 107 
revenue bonds, and take any action necessary.      108 

5. Consider awarding a bid to Hoyt Breathing Air Products and authorizing 109 
the City Manager to execute a Purchase Order for new Fire Fighter SCBA 110 
Air Paks and Bottles in the amount of $343,016.20 to be funded out of the 111 
General Fund, and take any action necessary. 112 

6. Consider designation of the city's newspaper of record, naming the 113 
Rockwall County Herald Banner, as annually required by the City's 114 
Charter, and take any action necessary. 115 

Mayor Pro Tem Lewis made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda (#s 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 116 
6).  Councilmember Townsend seconded the motion, which passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 117 
0 nays. 118 
 119 

X. APPOINTMENTS 120 
 121 

1. Appointment with the Planning and Zoning Chairman to discuss and 122 
answer any questions regarding cases on the agenda and related issues 123 
and take any action necessary. 124 

The P&Z Chairman was not present, so this item was not addressed by Council, and no 125 
action was taken. 126 

2. Appointment with Patricia Davis, Chief Appraiser with the Rockwall 127 
Central Appraisal District, to discuss and consider CAD-related matters, 128 
including a proposed interlocal agreement for assessment and collection 129 
of taxes, and take any action necessary. 130 

Mrs. Davis indicated that she is here at the request of the City Council to answer any 131 
questions the council may have concerning the proposed interlocal agreement. 132 
 133 
Mrs. Smith, Assistant City Manager, provided brief comments concerning some of the 134 
challenges with the CAD over the last year or more, for example, getting timely and 135 
accurate information concerning the Tax Increment Financing District (TIF) and getting 136 
the effective tax rate and associated calculations correct. 137 
 138 
Mrs. Davis explained she came in the middle of things last year, and, as a new employee, 139 
she did not have a good handle on what was going on.  She generally assured the 140 
Council that the upcoming TIF calculations spreadsheet has already been prepared, and 141 

12
12



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 4 

 

this coming year, the city should have information from the CAD by February, which is 142 
even earlier than prior years before she came. 143 
 144 
Mayor Pruitt asked for clarification regarding how the CAD passes individual collections 145 
monies onto the City and how lawyers who collect funds are paid.  Mrs. Davis indicated 146 
that the law provides that the lawyers can charge an additional fee directly to the 147 
property owner, which does not come out of the CAD budget, and it does not come from 148 
any of the taxing entities.  Mayor Pruitt pointed out that the contract speaks of this issue 149 
in a manner contrary to how Mrs. Davis is explaining.  Mrs. Davis suggested that the 150 
language in the contract can be corrected. 151 
 152 
Mayor Pruitt asked for clarification regarding other types of costs such as lawsuit costs 153 
and how those things are paid for.  Mrs. Davis explained that those types of expenses 154 
come out of the appraisal budget, not the collection budget.  If it has to do with 155 
collection, then it comes directly from the property owner. 156 
 157 
Mayor Pruitt explained that he has personally met with Mrs. Davis several times to try 158 
and remedy some concerns that have arisen over time.  Mr. Crowley requested that Mrs. 159 
Davis notify the City of Rockwall once the recent CAD board nominations and votes have 160 
been tallied and concluded.  She assured him that she would. 161 
 162 
Mayor Pruitt asked if the assessment of taxes is based on how many accounts or on the 163 
assessed value.  Mrs. Davis indicated that, prior to her coming, it was based on a per 164 
parcel basis.  However, when she came, the RISD pointed out to her that this was unfair 165 
because everyone did not pay the same dollar amount per parcel.  So, Rockwall County 166 
was getting a lower rate.  So, RISD did not choose to do anything about it last year, but 167 
she did have discussions with the board regarding a fair way to address this issue.  After 168 
conducting a survey around the state and evaluating the matter, she has put the County 169 
on notice that in the future, it will need to make a decision to either collect its own taxes, 170 
or else get on board and pay its own fair share like every other taxing entity. 171 
 172 
He thanked Mrs. Davis for coming, explaining that the City of Rockwall is a customer of 173 
the CAD, and he would like Mrs. Davis to continue to get to know her customers, 174 
including the city manager. 175 
 176 
See very end of agenda/minutes (following Action Item #8) for Council action concerning 177 
the interlocal agreement. 178 
 179 
XI. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 180 

 181 
1. MIS2015-003 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider approval of 182 

an ordinance for a City initiated request to amend the Comprehensive 183 
Plan by approving changes to the Master Thoroughfare Plan Map 184 
contained within the Transportation section, add a street cross section for 185 
a M4U-M (minor arterial, four [4] lane, undivided roadway, modified) and 186 
modify existing street cross sections in Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross 187 
Sections, and take any action necessary [1st Reading]. 188 

Planning Director Ryan Miller provided background information concerning this agenda 189 
item, explaining each of the proposed changes regarding the Master Thoroughfare Plan.  190 

13
13



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 5 

 

The Planning & Zoning Commission reviewed these changes at its last meeting and has 191 
recommended approval of all the proposed changes. 192 

Mayor Pruitt asked how what is shown in these changes for SH205 / John King fits into 193 
the city’s desire to have John King be designated as the alternate route for SH205.  It was 194 
clarified that John King will remain a principal, six-lane, divided roadway, which is also 195 
what the state would have in mind if it becomes a state roadway. 196 
 197 
Mayor Pruitt opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to come forth and 198 
speak. 199 
 200 
Matt Parker 201 
1118 Lubbock Lane 202 
Melissa, Texas 203 
 204 
Mr. Parker came forth and explained that he is a developer with Skorburgh and is 205 
wondering if proposed roadway changes will affect Phase 9 of the Breezy Hill 206 
development.  Mr. Miller indicated that, no, it would not affect Phase 9 at all. 207 
 208 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis assumed oversight of the meeting at this point (6:23 p.m.), asking 209 
if anyone else would like to come forward and speak at this time.  There being on one 210 
indicating such, he then closed the public hearing. 211 
 212 
Councilmember Milder explained he has concerns about the North portion of SH205 213 
running up to East Fork.  Mr. Miller and Mr. Crowley explained how and why it is being 214 
proposed as it is at this time, especially pertaining to the city council’s desire to have 215 
TXDOT designate John King as the alternate route for SH205. 216 
Mayor Pruitt returned to the meeting at 6:28 p.m. 217 
 218 
Discussion ensued related to SH-205 and future modifications to the north portion of the 219 
roadway, including pertaining to designation of John King Boulevard as the proposed 220 
bypass route for 205. 221 
 222 
Councilmember White made a motion to approve MIS2015-003.   Councilmember 223 
Townsend seconded the motion.  The ordinance was read as follows: 224 
 225 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 226 
ORDINANCE NO. 16-__ 227 

 228 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 229 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, ADOPTING REVISIONS TO THE MASTER 230 
THOROUGHFARE PLAN CONTAINED WITHIN THE TRANSPORTATION 231 
SECTION, ADD A STREET CROSS SECTION FOR A M4U-M (MINOR 232 
ARTERIAL, FOUR [4] LANE, UNDIVIDED ROADWAY, MODIFIED), AND 233 
MODIFY EXISTING STREET CROSS SECTIONS IN APPENDIX ‘D’, 234 
THOROUGHFARE CROSS SECTIONS, OF THE COMPREHENSIVE 235 
PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY’S HOME RULE CHARTER. 236 

 237 
The motion passed by a vote of 6 in favor with 1 against (Milder). 238 
 239 

14
14



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 6 

 

2. Z2015-030 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider approval of an 240 
ordinance for a City initiated request for a zoning amendment to Planned 241 
Development District 75 (PD-75) being Ordinance No. 09-37, containing 242 
329.53-acres of land, identified as the Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision, 243 
City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development 244 
District 75 (PD-75) for Single Family 7 (SF-7) District land uses, being 245 
situated east of Tubbs Road and north of County Line Road, and take any 246 
action necessary [1st Reading]. 247 

Ryan Miller, Planning Director, provided brief background information concerning this 248 
agenda item.  Notifications were sent out on November 20 (qty: 1,541 notices in English 249 
and Spanish) to property owners within 500’ of the property.   Also, the Linden Park, Fox 250 
Chase and Rainbow Lakes HOAs were also notified.  Eleven responses were received, 251 
with 4 indicating opposition to the amendment and the remainder expressing they were 252 
in favor.  However, two of the opposition responses actually appeared to be in favor, 253 
rather than opposed, based on what they actually wrote.  One additional reply was 254 
received back in favor today.  The Planning & Zoning Commission did hear this case and 255 
has unanimously recommended approval of this item. 256 

Mayor Pruitt opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to come forth and 257 
speak at this time. 258 

Connie Powell 259 
532 Eva Place 260 
Rockwall, TX 261 
 262 
Mrs. Powell came forth and asked for clarification regarding what these changes mean.  263 
Mayor Pruitt explained that these changes will allow the citizens an opportunity to be 264 
more informed about zoning changes that the Council is considering in LRE and allow 265 
them an opportunity for their voices to be heard regarding those future, proposed 266 
changes.  Councilmember White provided some additional clarification, explaining that 267 
this cleans up a phrase in the existing ordinance that allows the Council to do whatever it 268 
wants without allowing for input from the neighborhood residents.  The change being 269 
considered tonight will modify that language to ensure that residents are notified and 270 
have an ability to be heard before zoning changes are made by Council in the future. 271 
 272 
Mayor Pruitt asked if anyone else would like to come forth and speak during this time.  273 
There being no one indicating such, he then closed the public hearing. 274 
 275 
Councilmember White made a motion to approve Z2015-030.  Councilmember Townsend 276 
seconded the motion.  The ordinance was read as follows: 277 

 278 
CITY OF ROCKWALL 279 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 280 
 281 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 282 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 283 
DISTRICT 75 [ORDINANCE NO. 09-37] AND THE UNIFIED 284 
DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF 285 
ROCKWALL, AS HERETOFORE AMENDED, BY AMENDING EXHIBIT 286 
‘B’ AND EXHIBIT ‘C’ OF ORDINANCE NO. 09-37, BEING A 329.53.00-287 
ACRE TRACT OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS THE LAKE ROCKWALL 288 
ESTATES SUBDIVISION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, 289 

15
15



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 7 

 

TEXAS AND MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN BY EXHIBIT ‘A’; 290 
PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A 291 
PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND 292 
DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 293 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 294 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 295 

 296 
The motion passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 297 
 298 

3. Z2015-031 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by 299 
John and Lenny James on behalf of the owner Rockway Partners for the 300 
approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a carwash 301 
on a 0.688-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block D, La Jolla Pointe 302 
Addition, Phase 2, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned 303 
Commercial (C) District, situated within the Scenic Overlay (SOV) District, 304 
located at the northwest corner of La Jolla Pointe Drive and Ridge Road 305 
[FM-740], and take any action necessary [1st Reading]. 306 

Mr. Miller, Planning Director, provided background information concerning this agenda 307 
item.  Notices were sent out with 21 notices being mailed out to property and 308 
homeowners owners located within 500’ of the subject property.  In addition, the 309 
Lakeside Village and Turtle Cove HOAs were also notified.  Four total notices of 310 
opposition have been received back, and two letters of support have been received from 311 
residents.  The Planning & Zoning Commission has recommended denial of this request 312 
by a vote of 6 to 1.  Therefore, in order for it to be approved, it will require a super 313 
majority vote of the City Council (3/4 of all council members present). 314 

John James 315 
2283 Lafayette Lane 316 
Heath, TX 317 
 318 
Mr. James came forth and provided a presentation to the Council concerning this 319 
proposed car wash, including the perceived advantages, the services it would offer 320 
patrons, its hours, traffic/parking plans, a rendering of how it is proposed to look.  He 321 
explained that this piece of property has been on the market for a long time, most likely 322 
because it is not suitable for a lot of business uses due to it being so unusual. 323 
 324 
Councilman Hohenshelt asked if the property poses challenges.  Mr. Miller indicated that, 325 
yes, the topography of the property does pose some challenges. 326 
 327 
Councilmember Milder expressed concern with not having heard from the P&Z Chairman 328 
to know more about why the P&Z Commission objected to this proposal.  Mr. Miller 329 
indicated that the P&Z did not provide comments publicly as to their reasoning for 330 
making a motion and associated vote to recommend denial. 331 
 332 
Councilmember Fowler expressed concern with the look of the facility, expressing he 333 
does not believe it aesthetically fits in with the surrounding buildings.  He explained that 334 
this is a gateway to our city, and he would like for it to look as optimal as possible. 335 
 336 
Councilmember Hohenshelt expressed that there is a car wash in existence over by 337 
Lowes on the S. side of IH-30.  It contains a lot of nice stone on the facade, and it fits in a 338 
lot better with the surrounding buildings compared to this one. 339 

16
16



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 8 

 

 340 
Mayor Pruitt opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to come forth and 341 
speak. 342 
 343 
Richard Burkes came forth indicating that he owns the building located to the north of 344 
this proposed car wash.  He does not believe a half acre is at all sufficient for this 345 
proposed car wash.  He explained that he believes it will bring a lot of unwanted traffic, 346 
and the vacuums will make a lot of noise, especially considering that there is a sleep 347 
study office located in the adjacent medical office building.  He suggested that this would 348 
be a perfect place for a bank to be located instead.  He expressed concern about the 349 
back part of his parking lot potentially being used by employees of this car wash.  He 350 
does not believe this facility fits in with the scenic overlay district standards.  He is 351 
opposed to its approval. 352 
 353 
Richard Harris 354 
210 Glen Avenue 355 
Rockwall, TX 356 
 357 
He explained that he and his wife own the building located at 2604 Ridge Road, currently 358 
occupied by Ebby Halliday.  He had to grant a lot of utility easements to the city back in 359 
the 1980s.  He is against this proposed car wash, and he does not believe it fits in or 360 
belongs in this scenic overlay district.  He also expressed that the property owner next 361 
door to him, who is currently in Arizona, is opposed to this as well.  He believes this 362 
business would degrade his property values.  He also explained that Wayne Hogg, the 363 
property owner next door to him, was unable to be here this evening, so he asked Mr. 364 
Harris to express on his behalf that he is also opposed to this proposed car wash. 365 
 366 
Derek Anderson 367 
218 Cullins Road 368 
Rockwall, TX 75032 369 
 370 
Mr. Anderson explained that he is in favor of this proposed car wash.  He believes this 371 
would provide a convenient, more affordable way for him to get his truck washed.  He 372 
explained that he has lived here in Rockwall since 1998, and this piece of property has 373 
been sitting vacant ever since he moved here.  He believes that this development might 374 
bring some revenue to the city, as opposed to the property continuing to sit vacant.  He 375 
expressed that the closest car washes of this nature, in his research, are located in 376 
Mesquite on Belt Line Road by the old movie theater or in Rowlett on SH-66 just before 377 
George Bush.  He suggested planting a landscape buffer to hide some of the car wash 378 
building on the Ridge Road side.  He also suggested that it could be a different color, 379 
other than red, to better fit in with the surrounding buildings and their facades.  He 380 
pointed out that this scenic overlay district, which is a “gateway to the City” also 381 
contains a Long John Silvers, a Wendy’s and an IHOP.  He stated that a large, neon 382 
“Rosas Café” is also located in another “gateway” area to the city, and the sign blinds 383 
you.  He encouraged the Council to control the way the car wash will ultimately look, 384 
aesthetically, if they have concerns about it. 385 
 386 
Mr. Ben Weible 387 
215 Trout Drive 388 
Rockwall, TX 389 
 390 

17
17



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 9 

 

Mr. Weible expressed that this item has aroused an emotional response from him, 391 
explaining that he loves these types of car washes.  He explained that there is no other 392 
car wash of this nature in Rockwall.  There is no other car wash in town that will allow 393 
this sort of quick, convenient car wash at an affordable price.  He expressed a desire for 394 
the City Council to get out of the way and allow the free market to work as it is intended 395 
to, especially considering that this property has been sitting vacant for a while because it 396 
poses some challenges.  He is not sure why the Planning & Zoning Commission did not 397 
recommend approval of this item, but he generally encouraged the Council to approve 398 
the request. 399 
 400 
There being no one else wishing to come forth and speak, Mayor Pruitt closed the public 401 
hearing. 402 
 403 
Councilmember Milder explained that he texted the P&Z Chairman to inquire as to why 404 
the Planning & Zoning Commission recommended denial.  He indicated that Mr. Renfro 405 
provided four reasons as follows: 406 
 407 

 the majority of the existing properties are either commercial or medical; 408 
 it is one of the only the vacant lots left; 409 
 the proposed development encroaches the majority of the lot;  410 
 there are concerns regarding increased traffic with potential backups onto Ridge. 411 

 412 
Councilmember White made a motion to approve Z2015-031.  Mayor Pro Tem Lewis 413 
seconded the motion.  Councilmember Milder expressed that he initially had some 414 
reservations, mainly due to not knowing why the P&Z Commission recommended its 415 
denial; however, he is now comfortable with supporting this item.  Councilmember White 416 
asked if the setbacks and color may be addressed during the site plan phase.  Mr. Miller 417 
indicated that the setback is already established, but the building itself could be 418 
repositioned on the property, and the Architectural Review Board (ARB) will still review 419 
it.  Mayor Pro Tem Lewis expressed he would like to see it be a different color (other than 420 
red) and that it be set back on the lower end of the property.   Mayor Pruitt expressed that 421 
this is to be located in the “scenic overlay district,” and he sees nothing “scenic” about a 422 
car wash. 423 
 424 
The ordinance was read as follows: 425 
 426 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 427 
ORDINANCE NO. 16-__ 428 

SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-__ 429 
 430 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 431 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE 432 
NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY 433 
AMENDED, SO AS TO GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT (SUP) FOR A 434 
CAR WASH WITHIN THE SCENIC OVERLAY (SOV) DISTRICT, FOR A 435 
0.688-ACRE PARCEL OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS LOT 1, BLOCK D, LA 436 
JOLLA POINTE ADDITION, PHASE 2, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL 437 
COUNTY, TEXAS; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING 438 
FOR A PENALTY OR FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO 439 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING 440 

18
18



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 10 

 

FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER 441 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 442 

 443 
The motion passed by a vote of 6 in favor with 1 against (Pruitt). 444 
 445 

4. Z2015-032 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by 446 
Lloyd Waldrop of Rockwall Gold & Silver on behalf of the owner Donna 447 
Pritchard for the approval of an renewal of Specific Use Permit (SUP) No. 448 
S-115 (Ordinance No. 13-46) allowing a pawn shop on a portion of a 449 
0.423-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block 1 of the Garland 450 
Federal Savings & Loan Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, 451 
Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District, situated within the SH-205 Overlay 452 
(SH-205 OV) District, address as Suite 1 of 1901 S. Goliad Street, and 453 
take any action necessary [1st Reading]. 454 

Mr. Miller indicated that this SUP was first approved in December of 2013.  The applicant 455 
is now requesting extension of the SUP for a period of five (5) years with the ability to 456 
extend rather than expire.   Thirty-four notices were mailed out to adjacent properties 457 
located within 500’ of the subject property, and a notice was placed on site on the 458 
property itself.  One notice was received back in favor, and one notice was received back 459 
in opposition.  The P&Z Commission has voted to recommend approval for an extension 460 
for a period of five years with the option to extend it at that time rather than have it 461 
expire. 462 
 463 
Mr. Waldrop came forth and stood prepared to answer any questions of the Council. 464 
 465 
Mayor Pruitt opened the public hearing. 466 
 467 
Mr. John White 468 
1929 S. Lakeshore 469 
Rockwall, TX 470 
 471 
Mr. White explained that he is fully in favor of this request.  He expressed that the owners 472 
are first class individuals who run a very good business. 473 
 474 
Mr. Ben Weible 475 
215 Trout Drive 476 
Rockwall, TX 477 
 478 
Mr. Weible explained that he is speaking on behalf of the Waldrops, explaining that these 479 
business owners are good folks who are involved in a positive way in the community.  He 480 
spoke in favor of the Council approving this request. 481 
 482 
Mayor Pruitt closed the public hearing. 483 
 484 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis asked for clarification regarding “extend” versus “expire.”  Mr. 485 
Miller indicated that if it “expires,” the owner would have to go back through the full 486 
process (i.e. notifications to adjacent property owners). 487 
 488 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis made a motion to approve this request.  Councilmember White 489 
seconded the motion. 490 

19
19



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 11 

 

 491 
Mayor Pruitt asked why the notification signage on the property is insufficient (there’s 492 
nothing that says, “zoning change from (blank) to (blank).”  Mr. Miller’s indicated that 493 
there have been various complications associated with signage, and staff is working to 494 
spend some money on some alternative signs to rectify these complications.  The 495 
ordinance was read as follows: 496 
 497 
  CITY OF ROCKWALL 498 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 499 
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-XXX 500 

 501 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 502 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 503 
OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, 504 
SO AS GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR A 505 
“PAWNSHOP” ON A PORTION OF A 0.423-ACRE PARCEL OF LAND, 506 
AND MORE SPECIFICALLY IDENTIFIED AS “SUITE 1” AS DEPICTED 507 
IN EXHIBIT “A” ATTACHED HERETO, AND  LOCATED AT 1901 S. 508 
GOLIAD STREET, AND ZONED COMMERCIAL (C) DISTRICT, AND 509 
DESCRIBED AS LOT 1, BLOCK 1 OF THE GARLAND FEDERAL 510 
SAVINGS & LOAN ADDITION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL 511 
COUNTY, TEXAS; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; 512 
PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OR FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF 513 
TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; 514 
PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A 515 
REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 516 

 517 
The motion passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 518 
 519 
Mayor Pruitt explained that he initially voted against this SUP when it was first approved 520 
two years ago; however, he has since observed this to be a very nice business, one of 521 
the best he has ever seen. 522 
 523 

5. Z2015-033 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by 524 
Stephen B. North for the approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use 525 
Permit (SUP) for an accessory building not meeting the standards 526 
stipulated by the Unified Development Code on a 0.23-acre parcel of land 527 
identified as Lot 14, Block F, Harlan Park Addition, Phase 1, City of 528 
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single Family 10 (SF-10) 529 
District, situated within the North SH-205 Overlay (N. SH-205 OV) District, 530 
addressed as 513 Windsor Way, and take any action necessary [1st 531 
Reading]. 532 

Mr. Miller, Planning Director, provided background information concerning this agenda 533 
item.  The applicant is asking to place a 288 sq. foot accessory structure in order to put a 534 
decorative porch on front (exceeds the allowable max. of 250 sq. ft.).  Also, he is 535 
proposing to use 100% hardy plank siding, which does not match materials on the 536 
primary structure.  Seventy-two notices were sent out to adjacent property owners.  Two 537 
notices were received back in favor, and two were received back in opposition.  The P&Z 538 
Commission did unanimously recommend approval of this request. 539 

Stephen North 540 
513 Windsor Way 541 

20
20



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 12 

 

 542 
Mr. North came forth and indicated that he initially wanted to have the structure be even 543 
larger than what’s being ultimately proposed now.  The only reason for the decorative 544 
‘front porch’ is so that his wife may hang plants there.  He explained that the back of his 545 
house does have siding on it, and it is not as durable as the hardy plank that will be 546 
utilized on this accessory building.  So the hardy plank is above and beyond the material 547 
on the back of his house. 548 
 549 
Mayor Pruitt opened the public hearing, asking if anyone would like to come forth and 550 
speak.  There being no one, he closed the public hearing. 551 
 552 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis made a motion to approve Z2015-033.  Councilmember White 553 
seconded the motion.   The ordinance was read as follows: 554 
 555 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 556 
ORDINANCE NO. 16-       557 

SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. _____ 558 
 559 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 560 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 561 
OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, 562 
SO AS TO GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT WITHIN THE SINGLE-563 
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (SF-10) DISTRICT ALLOWING FOR AN 564 
ACCESSORY BUILDING NOT MEETING THE STANDARDS 565 
STIPULATED BY THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE, ON THE 566 
PROPERTY ADDRESSED AS 513 WINDSOR WAY, BEING A 0.23-ACRE 567 
PARCEL OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS LOT 14, BLOCK F, HARLAN PARK 568 
ADDITION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS; 569 
PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A 570 
PENALTY OR FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND 571 
DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 572 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 573 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 574 

 575 
The motion passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 576 
 577 
Mayor Pruitt recessed the meeting for a break at 7:30 p.m.  He called the meeting back to 578 
order at 7:47 p.m. 579 
 580 

6. Z2015-034 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by 581 
Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land Development Inc. on behalf of the owner 582 
Randa Hance of R&R Hance Investment LP for the approval of an 583 
ordinance for a zoning change from an Agricultural (AG) District to a 584 
Planned Development District for Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land 585 
uses for a 45.318-acre tract of land identified as Tract 2-03 of the P. B. 586 
Harrison Survey, Abstract No. 97, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, 587 
Texas, zoned Agricultural (AG) District, situated within the SH-205 By-588 
Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District, located on the north side of John 589 
King Boulevard south of FM-552, and take any action necessary [1st 590 
Reading]. 591 

21
21



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 13 

 

Mr. Miller, Planning Director, provided background information related to this agenda 592 
item.  The applicant has submitted an application requesting to rezone a 45.318-acre tract 593 
of land from an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development District for a single-594 
family, residential subdivision that will consist of 113 single-family lots. The subject 595 
property, which was annexed into the City on March 16, 1998 by Ordinance No. 98-10, is 596 
located on the west side of John King Boulevard -- south of Featherstone Drive and north 597 
of E. Quail Run Road -- and is currently vacant agricultural land. 598 
 599 
The concept plan shows that in addition to the 45.318-acre 247 tract of land being 600 
considered under this zoning case, two (2) additional tracts (north of the subject 601 
property) will be included as future phases for the proposed subdivision. Currently, both 602 
of these tracts are outside of the City’s corporate boundaries; however, they are located 603 
within the City’s Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ) and can be annexed. The applicant has 604 
stated that the intent of this project is to receive entitlement on the 45.318-acre tract of 605 
land and then initiate a voluntary annexation case to bring the remaining tracts of land 606 
into the City. The applicant will also be requesting that the proposed PD (if approved) be 607 
amended to incorporate this area. The current request is for 113, 70’ x 125’ lots or a 608 
gross residential density of ~2.49 units/acre.  Incorporated within the development will be 609 
6.73-acres of open space (or ~14.85%), which includes a 3.64-acre neighborhood park 610 
[the applicant has revised the plan to show 17% open space. In addition, the applicant is 611 
proposing to incorporate a ten (10) foot trail and trail rest area along John King 612 
Boulevard in conformance with the John King Boulevard Design Concept Plan contained 613 
in the Comprehensive Plan (staff has incorporated this into the proposed ordinance). It 614 
should be pointed out that the proposed PD Ordinance has similar standards as were 615 
approved in the adjacent Planned Development District 77 (PD-77), and according to the 616 
applicant will incorporate a similar product as those in the Stone Creek and Breezy Hill 617 
Subdivisions. 618 
 619 
The applicant is requesting variances to allow for j-swing and front entry garages in lieu 620 
of alleyways.  On November 20, 2015, staff mailed three (3) notices to property owners 621 
and residents within 500-feet of the subject property. Staff also emailed notices to the 622 
Stoney Hollow and Stone Creek Homeowner’s Associations (HOA’s), which are the only 623 
HOA’s located within 1,500 feet of the subject property. Additionally, staff posted a sign 624 
along John King Boulevard, and advertised the public hearings in the Rockwall Harold 625 
Banner as required by the Unified Development Code (UDC).  At the time this case memo 626 
was drafted no responses were received by staff.  On December 8, 2015, the Planning 627 
and Zoning Commission approved a motion to recommend approval of the zoning 628 
change by a vote of 7-0; however, the Planning and Zoning Commission did also 629 
recommend that Section 12, Open Space, of Exhibit ‘C’ of the PD Ordinance be amended 630 
to reflect a minimum of 20% open space.  The applicant has agreed to increase the 631 
proposed open space from ~14.85% to a minimum of 17%, but has stated that an 632 
increase to 20% is not feasible for this project. Staff has changed the ordinance to reflect 633 
the 17% requested by the applicant. 634 
 635 
Pat Atkins 636 
3076 Hays Lane 637 
 638 
Mr. Atkins indicated that he is representing Saddlestar Estates.  He then shared an 639 
animated PowerPoint presentation with the Council and explained various aspects of his 640 
request associated with this PD. 641 

22
22



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 14 

 

 642 
Mayor Pruitt opened the public hearing, asking if anyone would like to come forth and 643 
speak.  There being no one, he then closed the public hearing. 644 
 645 
Councilmember Hohenshelt asked for clarification on the proposed open space.  The 646 
proposal is for 17%, which is 3% less than the required 20% suggested in the city’s 647 
Comp Plan.  Councilmember Hohenshelt, after asking several questions, indicated that 648 
the change in open space being requested (to be lowered) equates to about 3 residential 649 
lots.  He clarified that the anticipated added property tax value expressed are for the two 650 
developments combined. 651 
 652 
Brief discussion took place regarding who owns the adjacent tracts. 653 
 654 
Mr. Miller indicated that once this approval is secured, Mr. Atkins will be coming forth 655 
with a request for voluntary annexation on the other tract of land, likely as soon as 656 
January 4th.  Mr. Atkins clarified that the pool and amenities center are anticipated to go 657 
on the ground once about 100 units have been constructed.  It was clarified that the open 658 
space land will not meet the 11 acre minimum required to be used as a neighborhood 659 
park.  It will only be designated as “open space,” not a park. 660 
 661 
Various comments took place concerning the proposal.  Then, Councilmember White 662 
made a motion to approve Z2015-034, granting the 17% open space variance.  663 
Councilmember Milder seconded the motion.  After brief comments, the ordinance was 664 
read as follows: 665 
 666 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 667 
ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 668 

 669 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 670 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE 671 
NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, AS HERETOFORE AMENDED, 672 
SO AS TO CHANGE THE ZONING FROM AN AGRICULTURAL (AG) 673 
DISTRICT TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT XX (PD-XX) FOR 674 
SINGLE FAMILY 8.4 (SF-8.4) DISTRICT LAND USES ON THE SUBJECT 675 
PROPERTY, BEING A 45.318-ACRE TRACT OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS 676 
TRACT 2-03 OF THE P. B. HARRISON SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 97, CITY 677 
OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS AND MORE FULLY 678 
DESCRIBED HEREIN BY EXHIBIT ‘A’; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL 679 
CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED 680 
THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH 681 
OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING 682 
FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 683 

 684 
The motion passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 685 
 686 

7. Z2015-035 - Hold a public hearing to discuss and consider a request by 687 
Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land Development Inc. on behalf of the owner 688 
Larry Hance for the approval of an ordinance for a zoning change from 689 
an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development District for Single 690 
Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land uses for a 44.56-acre tract of land 691 
identified as Tract 3 of the T. R. Bailey Survey, Abstract No. 30, City of 692 
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Agricultural (AG) District, 693 

23
23



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 15 

 

situated within the SH-205 By-Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District, 694 
located at the northwest corner of FM-552 and John King Boulevard, and 695 
take any action necessary [1st Reading]. 696 

Mr. Miller provided background information concerning this request.  On November 16, 697 
2015, the applicant submitted an application requesting to rezone a 44.56-acre tract of 698 
land from an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development District for a single-699 
family, residential subdivision that will consist of 109 single-family lots. The subject 700 
property, which was annexed into the City on February 4, 2008 by Ordinance No. 08-10, is 701 
located at the northwest corner of John King Boulevard, north of FM 552 and is currently 702 
vacant land zoned Agricultural (AG) district.  According to the concept plan, it is the 703 
intent of the development to provide 109 single-family residential lots that are to be a 704 
minimum of 10,000 sq. ft. (i.e.80’ x 125’ lots) in area; however, the  development does not 705 
include a neighborhood park, rather a trail system meanders through the floodplain area 706 
and is to be the developments primary amenity. The applicant has stated that the 707 
neighborhood park to be located within the South Saddle Star Estates Addition will be 708 
available to this development. In addition, the concept plan shows the inclusion of 5.61-709 
acres of net open space, the majority of which is situated within a 100-year floodplain, 710 
which transects the property from the north to the south. Additionally, the applicant has 711 
also agreed to provide a corner enhancement that will incorporate a seat wall and 712 
additional landscaping at the corner of the intersection of John King Boulevard and FM-713 
552 (see the Corner Enhancement Concept contained in the John King Boulevard Design 714 
Concept Plan). Staff has included these as development requirements within the Planned 715 
Development District Ordinance. In addition, the applicant has also indicated that a 716 
minimum of a 50-foot landscape buffer will be provided along John King Blvd, and a 717 
minimum of a ten (10) foot meandering sidewalk will be constructed within this 718 
landscape buffer.  It should be pointed out that the proposed PD Ordinance has similar 719 
standards as were approved in the in the Stone Creek and Breezy Hill Subdivisions.  The 720 
applicant is requesting to allow J-Swing and/or Front Entry garages that comply with 721 
Article VI, Parking and Loading, of the Unified Development Code (UDC) in lieu of alleys.  722 
This requirement has been waived for other subdivisions throughout the City when the 723 
PD Ordinance conforms to the requirements stipulated by the UDC. 724 
 725 
The proposed zoning does appear to conform to the majority of the Comprehensive 726 
Plan’s policies and guidelines with the exception of the proposed open space 727 
requirement. The applicant is proposing a total 5.61 acres of open space (or 12.59%) 728 
which is primarily flood plain. It should be noted that if the floodplain were calculated at 729 
100% (as opposed to 50%) the development would meet the minimum 20% requirement. 730 
With this being said, the proposed open space standard is a discretionary decision for 731 
the City Council. On November 20, 2015, staff mailed twenty-four (24) notices to property 732 
owners and residents within 500-feet of the subject property.  Staff also emailed notices 733 
to the Stoney Hollow and Stone Creek Homeowner’s Associations (HOA’s), which are the 734 
only HOA’s located within 1,500 feet of the subject property. Additionally, staff posted a 735 
sign at the corner of John King Boulevard and FM552 and advertised the public hearings 736 
in the Rockwall Harold Banner as required by the Unified Development Code (UDC). At 737 
the time this case memo was drafted no responses were received by staff. 738 
 739 
 740 
 741 
 742 
 743 

24
24



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 16 

 

Pat Atkins 744 
3076 Hays Lane 745 
 746 
Mr. Atkins came forth and provided comments, requesting that the Council consider 747 
approval of this item. 748 
 749 
Mayor Pruitt opened the public hearing, asking if anyone would like to come forth and 750 
speak at this time. 751 
 752 
Caroline Newton 753 
304 Wooded Trail 754 
Rockwall, TX (in Hidden Valley Estates, on the W. side) 755 
 756 
She would like the developer to commit to larger lot sizes near the side that abuts Hidden 757 
Valley Estates.  She explained that these new homes would be “invading her backyard,” 758 
and where she lives is characteristic of ‘country living’ with a lot of open space.  She has 759 
some concern about the floodplain area, especially for homeowners that will be living 760 
down by the creek, expressing she believes those homeowners may have problems.  She 761 
would like some answers to ensure that these concerns are being considered and 762 
addressed.  She generally expressed concern about the density.  She would like the area 763 
where the larger homes are to be built to have larger lots than what are currently being 764 
proposed for approval.  She encouraged the Council to consider quality of life, rather 765 
than just tax money. 766 
 767 
Jonas Odom 768 
303 Wooded Trail 769 
Rockwall, TX 770 
 771 
Mr. Odom asked for the 3,200 square footage to be added to the ordinance, as well as 772 
larger lots to be added like his neighbor who also spoke, Mrs. Newton, has requested.  773 
He expressed that he has some neighbors who are living by the floodplain, and flooding 774 
has been a concern for them.  He is concerned about this public hearing being held the 775 
week of Christmas, as several homeowners may be out of town. 776 
 777 
Mayor Pruitt indicated that he has received emails from several homeowners expressing 778 
concern about the floodplain area. 779 
 780 
Mr. Tumulty, City Engineer, indicated that with any development, the developer hires a 781 
consultant to conduct a hydraulics study in order to verify that it meets all of the city’s 782 
requirements. 783 
 784 
Jennifer Huber 785 
400 Country Ridge 786 
Rockwall, TX 787 
 788 
Mrs. Huber indicated that she and her neighbors live in the county, so they do not 789 
receive notification of requests like this (including Mrs. Newton).  She is concerned about 790 
the floodplain area, also expressing that she is very frustrated with this development 791 
because it will consist of a lot of houses built on top of one another.  She expressed 792 
strong opposition to this request. 793 
 794 

25
25



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 17 

 

Ben Weible 795 
215 Trout 796 
Rockwall, TX 797 
 798 
Mrs. Weible indicated that he is a citizen of the City of Rockwall and has been living in 799 
Rockwall County for about 15 years.  He knew when he moved in that he would be able to 800 
control his own property, but he would not be able to control what happens to the 801 
properties around him that may change and develop over time.  He generally expressed 802 
support for this request, especially because it will allow the property owner to develop it 803 
and use the property as he sees fit.  He believes this request is representative of ‘bit lots’ 804 
and ‘big homes,’ which is something he has understood to be of importance to the city.  805 
He believes, as a citizen of Rockwall, that this is a very good use of the land. 806 
 807 
There being no one else wishing to come forth and speak, Mayor Pruitt then closed the 808 
public hearing. 809 
 810 
Councilmember Fowler asked what the price point of the homes will be.  Mr. Atkins 811 
indicated that the price point will be a little more expensive in this area as compared to 812 
the development addressed in the previous public hearing item. 813 
 814 
Councilmember Milder expressed that even though those who spoke during the public 815 
hearing do not live within the City limits, they are part of the Rockwall community, and he 816 
does want to be a ‘good neighbor’ to those residents.  He asked what sort of buffer may 817 
exist between this development and the existing, adjacent homes/neighborhood.  Mr. 818 
Atkins expressed that he is happy to work with the adjacent homeowners to, for example, 819 
install fencing and/or a retaining wall (perhaps wrought iron fencing or board-on-board 820 
with adjacent retaining walls…whatever the adjacent property owners might want). 821 
 822 
Mayor Pruitt expressed that the 12.5% of open space being proposed here is quite 823 
significantly less than the required 20%.  Allowing for larger lots abutting to the adjacent, 824 
existing homes, will result in about 4 less lots for Mr. Atkins’ development.  He 825 
suggested that Mr. Atkins consider putting in the larger lots along this area in exchange 826 
for the city approving the lowered amount of open space. 827 
 828 
Councilmember Hohenshelt generally expressed concern about ongoing requests to 829 
reduce the city’s required 20% of open space, suggesting that the city may need to 830 
amend this requirement if the Council continues to grant variances, allowing for less 831 
open space to be dedicated associated with proposed developments. 832 
 833 
The Council and Mr. Atkins proceeded to go back and forth concerning proposed lot 834 
sizes and the percentage of open space that will or won’t be permissible associated with 835 
approval of his request. 836 
 837 
Councilmember White spoke briefly to the open space requirement, indicating that the 838 
floodplain is working against him.  He again pointed out that this request represents 839 
exactly what the Council has been wanting for a long time – larger lots and larger homes. 840 
 841 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis expressed that this property proposes challenges because of the 842 
topography and the creek.  He explained that the Council reviewed a preliminary 843 
proposal during a previous work session in which putting townhomes on this particular 844 
piece of property was suggested.  He believes this proposal is a great improvement. 845 

26
26



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 18 

 

 846 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis made a motion to approve Z2015-035, maintaining the 12.59% open 847 
space, with 100’ lots on the west side of the property and a minimum of 3,200 square foot 848 
houses on the west side.  Mayor Pruitt seconded the motion.  Councilmember White 849 
asked if this motion passes, will Mr. Atkins choose to not build.  Mr. Atkins indicated 850 
that, no, it does not mean he will not build; however, he is not truly in favor of the motion 851 
on the floor.  He prefers to somehow achieve the same number of lot sizes. 852 
 853 
Councilmember Milder requested that Lewis consider amending his motion. 854 
 855 
After brief discussion, Mayor Pro Tem Lewis amended his original motion to allow for 856 
thirty (30) of the interior lots to be changed to 70’ lots with all of the other provisions 857 
stated in his original motion remaining unchanged.  Mayor Pruitt seconded the amended 858 
motion.  The ordinance was read as follows: 859 
 860 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 861 
ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 862 

 863 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 864 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 865 
[ORDINANCE NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, AS 866 
HERETOFORE AMENDED, SO AS TO CHANGE THE ZONING FROM 867 
AN AGRICULTURAL (AG) DISTRICT TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 868 
DISTRICT XX (PD-XX) FOR SINGLE FAMILY 8.4 (SF-8.4) DISTRICT 869 
LAND USES ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, BEING A 44.56-ACRE 870 
TRACT OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS TRACT 3 OF THE T. R. BAILEY 871 
SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 30, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL 872 
COUNTY, TEXAS AND MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN BY EXHIBIT 873 
‘A’; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A 874 
PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND 875 
DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 876 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 877 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 878 

 879 
The motion passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 880 
 881 
XII. ACTION ITEMS 882 
 883 

1. SP2015-018 - Discuss and consider a request by Michael Liang of the 884 
Dimension Group on behalf of Jeffery Baird of RaceTrac for the approval 885 
of a variance to the secondary material requirements stipulated by 886 
Section 6.8 of Article V, District Development Standards, of the Unified 887 
Development Code in conjunction with an approved site plan for a retail 888 
store with gasoline sales on a 2.46-acre parcel of land identified as Lots 889 
1R & 2R of the Woods at Rockwall Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall 890 
County, Texas,  zoned Commercial (C) District, situated within the Scenic 891 
Overlay (SOV) District, located at the southeast corner of the intersection 892 
of Ridge Road and Yellow Jacket Lane, and take any action necessary. 893 

Mr. Miller explained that the applicant is requesting approval of an amended site plan for 894 
a retail store with gasoline sales located at the southeast corner of the intersection of 895 
Ridge Road and Yellow Jacket Lane.  The property is zoned Commercial (C) District and 896 

27
27



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 19 

 

is located within the Scenic Overlay (SOV) District.  If approved, the amendment would 897 
allow RaceTrac convenience store to change the approved exterior elevations to appear 898 
as represented in the drawings submitted along with this request. Staff has provided a 899 
copy of the exterior elevations that were approved back in December 2013 and the 900 
exterior elevations that are now being proposed for Council’s review.  They essentially 901 
would like to change the material proposed to be used. 902 
 903 
Councilmember White made a motion to approve SP2015-018.  Councilmember 904 
Townsend seconded the motion. 905 
 906 
The motion passed by a vote of 6 in favor with 1 against (Pruitt). 907 
 908 

2. P2015-041 - Discuss and consider a request by Tony Rangel of Rangel 909 
Land Surveying on behalf of the owner Shawn Valk of Platinum Storage, 910 
LLC for the approval of a replat for Lots 2 & 3, Block A, Platinum Storage 911 
Addition being a 5.549-acre parcel of land currently identified as Lot 1, 912 
Block A, Platinum Storage Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, 913 
Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District, situated within the IH-30 Overlay 914 
(IH-30 OV) District, located east of Townsend Drive and north of SH-276, 915 
and take any action necessary. 916 

Mr. Miller provided background information concerning this agenda item. 917 

Tony Rangel 918 
1012 Timberline 919 
Heath, TX 920 
 921 
Mr. Rangel came forth and provided brief comments pertaining to his request.  922 
Councilmember White made a motion to approve P2015-041. Mayor Pro Tem Lewis 923 
seconded the motion, which passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 924 

3. Discuss and consider adoption of a resolution fixing the water and 925 
wastewater rates of the city, and take any action necessary. 926 

Assistant City Manager Mary Smith explained that this is the rate schedule that has been 927 
being discussed since budget time.  It reflects a just over 10% increase for water and 928 
sewer rates.  It also includes a rate increase for the city’s wholesale customers.  929 
Councilmember White asked how much of the rate increase is going towards NTMWD’s 930 
fancy new building or its new employees.  Mrs. Smith indicated that she does not know.  931 
Councilmember Fowler indicated that this rate increase is about a 10.79%, and it will 932 
raise roughly a million and a half or a million nine in revenue.  Mr. Crowley indicated that 933 
the NTWD is anticipating increases in water rates for the foreseeable future years.  934 
Councilmember Fowler expressed concern about the public mistakenly believing that the 935 
Council is arbitrarily raising water rates by more than 10% each year.  Mayor Pruitt 936 
indicated that staff is working to put out educational information to our citizens to better 937 
explain various aspects concerning water rates and reading water meters when the city 938 
assesses fees to customers.  Mayor Pruitt explained he has heard from a lot of people on 939 
fixed incomes.  Perhaps those using 2,000 – 5,000 gallons of water could be given a little 940 
break before the rates then jump up for those who utilize over 5k gallons.  Mrs. Smith 941 
indicated that the city will likely hire a firm to conduct another rate study next year, 942 
however, we will have to choose another firm since the gentleman we have previously 943 
used recently passed away. 944 

28
28



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 20 

 

Councilmember Milder expressed that this is his third water rate increase discussion in 945 
three years, and each time it’s gone up in double digit percentages.  He has a lot of 946 
concern about NTMWD continuing to increase its water rates, knowing that its member 947 
cities have no alternative and are not able to ‘pull out.’  He is irritated with the NTMWD 948 
organization and believes it is most concerned about self-preservation rather than the 949 
interests of its customers.   Therefore, he suggested that paragraph 2 of the resolution 950 
be changed to read as follows: 951 

Whereas city council finds itself with its back against the 952 
wall; and Whereas the NTMWD is mandating water rate 953 
increases, it is under duress and reluctantly that the 954 
council raises its water rates to accommodate the 955 
NTMWD’s mandated rate increase. 956 

Mayor Pruitt suggested that the Council consider having staff draft a separate resolution 957 
to express its dissatisfaction associated with NTMWD and its continued increases in 958 
water rates and bring that back for the Council to consider at the next meeting. 959 

Councilmember Townsend clarified that if the Council does not approve this rate 960 
increase, then the city’s budget ‘takes the hit’ for the increases in water rates charged to 961 
the City.  Yes, Mr. Crowley, indicated that this is true. 962 

Councilmember Townsend made a motion to approve the resolution as is.  963 
Councilmember Hohenshelt seconded the motion, which passed by a vote of 6 ayes to 1 964 
nays (White). 965 

4. Discuss and consider adoption of a resolution setting solid waste 966 
collection rates, and take any action necessary. 967 

Assistant City Manager Mary Smith provided brief comments concerning this agenda 968 
item.  Councilmember Townsend made a motion to approve the resolution.  Mayor Pro 969 
Tem Lewis seconded the motion.  Councilmember Milder expressed strong opposition to 970 
this item, explaining he believes the city should have gone out for bid.  The motion 971 
passed by a vote of 5 ayes to 2 nays (White and Milder). 972 

5. Consider approval of an ordinance modifying Chapter 38. Subdivisions, 973 
Article 1. In General, Section 38-19. Street Improvements and Oversizing, 974 
of the Municipal Code of Ordinances to require a 41-foot street adjacent 975 
to schools and parks, and take any action necessary. (1st reading) 976 

Mr. Milder indicated that at the last meeting, Council directed staff to draft this ordinance.  977 
It is being brought forth as an Action Item since it was not unanimously approved by the 978 
Council to move forward with this ordinance.  Councilmember Milder asked where this 979 
concern came from.  Mr. Miller indicated that residents living next to a school in Fontana 980 
Ranch brought this concern forth to staff.  He expressed concern about future 981 
developers having to spend a lot of money to build wider roads next to schools and 982 
parks.  He does not believe that the wider roads are going to represent a positive benefit 983 
concerning traffic that occurs in and around schools.  Mayor Pro Tem Lewis indicated 984 
that this has to do with more than just a handful of complaints from Fontana Ranch 985 
residents.  He expressed that this has been a concern in other areas of the city too, and it 986 
represents a safety concern.  Lewis expressed that widening the road by 3’ is not going 987 
to ‘kill’ a developer.  When sports teams have been practicing in parks, other residents in 988 
the past have also expressed concern about not being able to move around due to the 989 
congestion. 990 
 991 

29
29



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 21 

 

Councilmember Townsend left the meeting for a few minutes at this time (9:29 p.m.) 992 
 993 
Mayor Pro Tem Lewis made a motion to approve the ordinance.  Mayor Pruitt seconded 994 
the motion.  The ordinance was read as follows: 995 
 996 

CITY OF ROCKWALL 997 
ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 998 

 999 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 1000 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING SECTION 38-19, STREET 1001 
IMPROVEMENTS AND OVERSIZING, OF CHAPTER 38, SUBDIVISIONS 1002 
OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES AS SET FORTH HEREIN; PROVIDING 1003 
FOR REPEALING, SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; 1004 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 1005 

 1006 
The motion passed by a vote of 4 in favor, 2 against (Milder and White), and 1 absent 1007 
(Townsend). 1008 
 1009 

6. Discuss and consider the City’s selection of nominees to the Texas 1010 
Coalition for Affordable Power (TCAP) Board of Directors for the 2016-1011 
2017 term of office, and take any necessary action. 1012 

Councilmember Townsend rejoined the meeting at this time (9:32 p.m.).  Mr. Crowley 1013 
provided brief background information concerning this agenda item.  After brief 1014 
comments, the Council chose not to take any action concerning this agenda item. 1015 

7. Discuss and consider the final report presented by Aecom related to 1016 
transit services in the City of Rockwall, and take any necessary action. 1017 

Mr. Crowley expressed that this item was placed on the agenda to have a follow-up 1018 
discussion after the Aecom consultant provided its findings to the Council at the last 1019 
regular meeting.  Council had expressed a desire to discuss this a bit more before 1020 
passing along the report to Rockwall County.  The Council generally indicated that it is 1021 
ok with the City Manager sending the study findings to the County for its information and 1022 
consideration.  Councilmember Townsend suggested that the city needs to sit down with 1023 
the County and with STAR in the coming months to figure out a preferred, agreed upon 1024 
‘fixed route.’  The Council took no formal action concerning this agenda item. 1025 

8. Discuss and consider the formation of an Airport Advisory Board at the 1026 
Ralph M. Hall / Rockwall Municipal Airport, and take any necessary 1027 
action. 1028 

Councilmember White indicated that some citizens and users of the airport have 1029 
expressed concern that the Council does not have any seasoned pilots and/or airport 1030 
users to advise the Council when it discusses airport-related matters and makes airport-1031 
related decisions.  Councilmember White made a motion to instruct staff to draft an 1032 
ordinance to bring back to the Council for consideration concerning formation of an 1033 
Airport Advisory Board.  Mr. Crowley pointed out that the city’s charter stipulates that 1034 
any board members who serve will need to be residents of the City of Rockwall.  1035 
Councilmember Hohenshelt seconded the motion, which passed unanimously of Council 1036 
present (7 ayes to 0 nays). 1037 
 1038 

30
30



Monday, December 21, 2015   City Council Minutes 
Page 22 

 

Regarding Appointment Item #2, Mayor Pruitt made a motion to approve the interlocal 1039 
agreement with the Central Appraisal District for collection of taxes.  Councilmember 1040 
Townsend seconded the motion, which passed by a vote of 7 ayes to 0 nays. 1041 
 1042 
The Council did not go back into Executive Session following conclusion of the public 1043 
meeting agenda. 1044 
 1045 
XIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION  1046 
 1047 

THE CITY OF ROCKWALL CITY COUNCIL WILL RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS 1048 
THE FOLLOWING MATTERS AS AUTHORIZED BY CHAPTER 551 OF THE TEXAS GOVERNMENT 1049 
CODE: 1050 
 1051 
1. Discussion regarding Economic Development incentives, procedures and possible 1052 

projects pursuant to Section 551.087 (Economic Development)  1053 

2. Discussion regarding negotiations of Access Agreement pursuant to Section 551.071 1054 
(Consultation with Attorney)  1055 

3. Discussion regarding land acquisition for South Community Park pursuant to Section 1056 
§ 551.072 (Real Property).  1057 

4. Discussion regarding (re)appointments to city regulatory boards, commissions, and 1058 
committees - Rockwall Economic Development Corporation (REDC) Ex-Officio 1059 
Board Members - pursuant to Section 551.074 (personnel matters)  1060 

5. Discussion regarding purchase or lease of real property / land acquisition in the 1061 
vicinity of the downtown area pursuant to Section § 551.072 (Real Property).  1062 

6. Discussion regarding legal advice associated with homeowners association (HOA) 1063 
regulations within the city pursuant to Section 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney).  1064 

7. Discussion regarding process associated with City Manager performance evaluation 1065 
pursuant to Section 551.074 (personnel matters)  1066 

XIV. RECONVENE PUBLIC MEETING & TAKE ANY ACTION AS RESULT OF EXECUTIVE SESSION 1067 
 1068 

XV. ADJOURNMENT 1069 
 1070 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:39 p.m. 1071 
 1072 
 1073 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 1074 

THIS 4th day of January, 2016.    1075 

 1076 
 1077 

__________________________  1078 
ATTEST:       Jim Pruitt, Mayor 1079 
 1080 
_______________________________ 1081 
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 1082 

31
31



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

32
32



 

Z2015-030: Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-01; PD-75 (amended) 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-01 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 75 [ORDINANCE NO. 09-37] AND THE UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, AS HERETOFORE AMENDED, BY AMENDING EXHIBIT 
‘B’ AND EXHIBIT ‘C’ OF ORDINANCE NO. 09-37, BEING A 329.53.00-
ACRE TRACT OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS THE LAKE ROCKWALL 
ESTATES SUBDIVISION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, 
TEXAS AND MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN BY EXHIBIT ‘A’; 
PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A 
PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City has initiated a zoning change for the Lake Rockwall Estates 

Subdivision for the purpose of updating the PD Concept Plan in Exhibit ‘B’ and amending the 
development standards in Exhibit ‘C’ of Ordinance No. 09-37 for a 329.53-acre tract of land, zoned 
Planned Development District 75 (PD-75) [Ordinance No. 09-37], situated within the G. Wells 
Survey, Abstract No. 219,  City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas and more fully described in 
Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance, which hereinafter shall be referred to as the Subject Property and 
incorporated by reference herein; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the governing 

body of the City of Rockwall in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances of 
the City of Rockwall have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, and have held 
public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally and to all 
persons interested in and situated in the affected area, and in the vicinity thereof, and the governing 
body in the exercise of its legislative discretion, has concluded that Planned Development District 
75 (PD-75) [Ordinance No. 09-37] and the Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] should 
be amended as follows: 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 
 

Section 1. That the approval of this ordinance shall supersede all requirements 
stipulated in Ordinance No. 09-37; 
 

Section 2. That the Subject Property shall be used only in the manner and for the 
purposes authorized by this Planned Development District Ordinance and the Unified Development 
Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] of the City of Rockwall as heretofore amended, as amended herein by 
granting this zoning change, and as maybe amended in the future; 
 

Section 3. That development of the Subject Property shall generally be in accordance 
with the Planned Development Concept Plan, described in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit ‘B’, which is deemed hereby to be a 
condition of approval of the amended zoning classification for the Subject Property;  
 

Section 4. That development of the Subject Property shall generally be in accordance 

33
33



 

Z2015-030: Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-01; PD-75 (amended) 

with the Development Standards, described in Exhibit ‘C’ of this ordinance, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit ‘C’, which is deemed hereby to be a condition of 
approval of the amended zoning classification for the Subject Property; 

 
Section 5.   That any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 

ordinance shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a 
penalty of fine not to exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense and 
each and every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense; 
 

Section 6.   That if any section, paragraph, or provision of this ordinance or the 
application of that section, paragraph, or provision to any person, firm, corporation or situation is for 
any reason judged invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section, paragraph, or 
provision of this ordinance or the application of any other section, paragraph or provision to any 
other person, firm, corporation or situation, nor shall adjudication affect any other section, 
paragraph, or provision of the Unified Development Code, and the City Council declares that it 
would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the invalid parts 
and to this end the provisions for this ordinance are declared to be severable; 
 

Section 7.  The standards in this ordinance shall control in the event of a conflict 
between this ordinance and any provision of the Unified Development Code or any provision of the 
City Code, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or procedure that provides a specific standard 
that is different from and inconsistent with this ordinance. References to zoning district regulations 
or other standards in the Unified Development Code (including references to the Unified 
Development Code), and references to overlay districts, in this ordinance or any of the Exhibits 
hereto are those in effect on the date this ordinance was passed and approved by the City Council 
of the City of Rockwall, Texas; 
 

Section 8.   That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 
and the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides; 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 
THIS THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

 
 

      
 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

    
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
    
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 
 

1st Reading:  12-21-2015 
 
2nd Reading: 01-04-2016 

34
34



Exhibit ‘A’: 
Legal Description 

Z2015-030: Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision Page 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-01; PD-75 (amended) 

Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision: 
 
BEING a 329.53 acre tract of land, in the G. Wells Survey, Abstract No. 219, in Rockwall County, 
Texas, said tract being more particularly described by metes and bounds as follows; 
 
BEGINNING at a point at the intersection of the Centerline of Tubbs Road and the South Right of 
Way line of FM-3097 (Horizon Road); 
 
THENCE N 44° 03' 32.586" E, along the Centerline of said Tubbs Road, for a distance of 3196.715 
feet to a point for a corner; 
 
THENCE S 45°18' 40.548" E, departing said line Tubbs Road for a distance of 987.963 feet to a 
point for a corner; 
 
THENCE S 45° 01' 47 .969" E, for a distance of 305.802 feet to a point for a corner; THENCE S 57° 
46' 29.390" E, a distance of 618.885 feet to a point for a corner; 
 
THENCE N 89° 29' 58.294" E, a distance of 2177 .687 feet to a point for a corner in the North line 
of Rockwall Lake Estates No. 2; 
 
THENCE S 0° 20' 12.986" E, along the Easterly most line of Rockwall Lake Estates No. 2 for a 
distance of 2420.324 feet to a point for a corner in the North line of County Line Road; 
 
THENCE S 88° 49' 05.513" W, along the said North line of County Line Road for a distance of 
3751.248 feet to a point for a corner; 
 
THENCE S 77° 48' 25.087" W, continuing along the said North line of County Line Road for a 
distance of 388.521-feet to a point for a corner in the Northeast line of said Horizon Road; 
 
THENCE N 49 ° 33' 00" W, along said Northeast line of Horizon Road for a distance of 231.08-feet 
to a point for a corner; 
 
THENCE S 39° 24' 11.999" W, crossing Horizon Road for a distance of 100.00 feet to a point for a 
corner; 
 
THENCE N 46° 5' 44.798" W, continuing along the south right-of-way line of Horizon Road for a 
distance of 2,064.651-feet to the Point of Beginning and containing 329.53-acres and 
14,354,361.518 square feet of land more or less. 

35
35



Exhibit ‘B’: 
Concept Plan 

Z2015-030: Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision Page 5 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-01; PD-75 (amended) 

 

36
36



Exhibit ‘C’: 
PD Development Standards  

Z2015-030: Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision Page 6 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-01; PD-75 (amended) 

PD Development Standards. 
 

1. Density and Dimensional Requirements. Development of Area 1 or Area 2 as depicted in 
Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance shall be subject to the land uses and development standards 
stipulated for properties within a Single Family 7 (SF-7) District as required by Section 3.6, 
Single Family Residential (SF-7) District, and Article IV, Permissible Uses, of the Unified 
Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] of the City of Rockwall as heretofore amended, 
as amended herein by granting this zoning change, and as maybe amended in the future, 
and shall be subject to the following additional standards: 
 
Table 2: Lot Dimensional Requirements 

Lot Type (see Concept Plan) ► Area 1 Area 2 
Minimum Number of Single Family Units Per Lot 1 1 
Minimum Lot Width/Frontage (1) 50-Feet 50-Feet 
Minimum Lot Depth (1) 100-Feet 100-Feet 
Minimum Lot Area (1) 5,000-SF 5,000-SF 
Minimum Front Yard Setback (1) 20-Feet 20-Feet 
Minimum Side Yard Setback (Internal Lot) (1) 5-Feet 5-Feet 
Minimum Side Yard Setback (Adjacent to a Street) (1) 20-Feet 20-Feet 
Minimum Distance Between Buildings on the Same Lot 10-Feet 10-Feet 
Minimum Length of Driveway Pavement (2) 20-Feet 20-Feet 
Minimum Number of Off-Street Parking Spaces (3) & (4) 2 2 
Maximum Height  32-Feet 32-Feet 
Minimum Rear Yard Setback 10-Feet 10-Feet 
Minimum Area/Dwelling Unit (SF)  1,100-SF 1,100-SF 
Maximum Lot Coverage 45 % 45 % 

 

General Notes: 
1:  These setbacks and frontage requirements may be varied in accordance with Section 3.C, Consideration of a 

Special Request, of this Ordinance. 
2:  The minimum length of the driveway pavement as measured from public right-of-way for the rear and side-

yard.  
3:  An enclosed garage shall not be considered in meeting the off-street parking requirements. 
4:  Number denotes residential property only.  For all other land uses, see Article VI, Parking and Loading, of the 

Unified Development Code. 
 

2. Manufactured Home Replacement.  This standard only applies to Area 2 as depicted in 
Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance.  As of September 21, 2009, properties within Area 2 containing 
a habitable mobile/manufactured home, as defined by state law and the US Department of 
Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD’s) code, shall be permitted a one-time 
replacement of a new or used manufactured home (conforming to HUD’s standards) 
pending the replacement manufactured home meets the following minimum standards: 
 
(a) The manufactured home shall be permanently attached to a concrete foundation. 

 
(b) The primary roof pitch is a minimum of 3:12 inches. 

 
(c) At least 90% of the exterior materials, including the skirting material, excluding doors 

and windows, must be comprised of Hardi-Board lap siding or a similar durable 
cementaceous lap siding material with a minimum width of 6¼-inches.  Alternatively, the 
manufactured home may conform to the minimum masonry requirements as stipulated 
in Section 3.1, General Residential Standards, of the Unified Development Code. 
 

(d)  The proposed manufactured home is newer and larger in living space than the prior 
manufactured home. 

37
37



Exhibit ‘C’: 
PD Development Standards  

Z2015-030: Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision Page 7 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-01; PD-75 (amended) 

 
3. Additional Standards for Area 1 and Area 2. The following additional standards are 

required/permitted within Area 1 and Area 2: 
 

(a) Fencing Requirements.  All fences within Planned Development District 75 (PD-75) shall 
be required to meet the regulations and requirements stipulated by the City of Rockwall 
Municipal Code of Ordinances with the following exceptions: 
 
(i) Front Yard Fences.  Fences constructed in the required front yard for residential 

properties shall not require a special exception by the City Council as long as they 
adhere to the requirements of the Municipal Code of Ordinances.  Exceptions to the 
height requirements for front yard fences shall be appealed in accordance with 
Section 3.C, Consideration of a Special Request, of this Ordinance.  
 

(ii) Chain-Link Fences.  All properties within Area 1 and Area 2 shall be permitted to 
construct a chain-link fence along the rear and side yard property lines, provided 
said fence complies to the requirements of the Municipal Code of Ordinances. 

 
(b) Exterior Materials.  Buildings 120-SF of greater and over ten (10) feet in height shall 

have exterior walls constructed of a minimum of 80% standard masonry construction, 
excluding windows and doors.  In the event that an exterior wall is on a porch, patio, 
courtyard, or breezeway the wall may be of non-masonry construction.  Hardi-Board or 
similar cementaceous material may be used on up to 50% of the total masonry 
requirement.  A building with less than 80% standard masonry construction or which 
utilizes an excess of 50% cementaceous material shall require approval by the City 
Council in accordance with Section 3.C, Consideration of a Special Request, of this 
Ordinance. 
 
Buildings less than 120-SF and under ten (10) feet in height may be constructed with 
non-masonry materials or be metal with a baked-on enamel surface. 
 

(c) Consideration of a Special Request.  The City Council may consider special requests in 
the Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision (i.e. Area 1 and Area 2 as depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ 
of this ordinance).  Such request may include, but not necessarily be limited to the use 
of alternate building materials, reductions in the building setbacks, exceptions to the 
fencing requirements, or other requests submitted for consideration to the Planning and 
Zoning Department. 
 
Upon receipt of such requests, the Planning and Zoning Commission shall review the 
case and forward a recommendation to the City Council for consideration.  The City 
Council may approve special request.  Any such approval shall preempt any other 
underlying zoning restrictions in the Unified Development Code.  Such special requests 
may be denied by the City Council by the passage of a motion to deny. 
 
Special requests shall not include any request to change the land use of a property. 

 
4. Area 3. The area indicated as Area 3 in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance shall be restricted to 

open space and drainage, and development in this area shall be prohibited. 
 

38
38



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

39
39



 
Z2015-032: Rockwall Gold & Silver – SUP Renewal (Pawnshop) 
Ordinance No.16-05; S-142 

  CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-05 
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-142 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, SO AS GRANT A 
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR A “PAWNSHOP” ON A PORTION 
OF A 0.423-ACRE PARCEL OF LAND, AND MORE SPECIFICALLY 
IDENTIFIED AS “SUITE 1” AS DEPICTED IN EXHIBIT “A” ATTACHED 
HERETO, AND  LOCATED AT 1901 S. GOLIAD STREET, AND ZONED 
COMMERCIAL (C) DISTRICT, AND DESCRIBED AS LOT 1, BLOCK 1 OF THE 
GARLAND FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ADDITION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OR FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR 
A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a “Pawnshop” within a Commercial (C) zoning district 

has been requested by Lloyd Waldrop of Rockwall Gold & Silver and on behalf of Donna Pritchard  
(property owner), on a portion of a 0.423-acre parcel of land, and more specifically identified as “Suite 1” 
as depicted in Exhibit “A” attached hereto, and described as Lot 1, Block 1 of the Garland Federal 
Savings & Loan Addition City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, which is situated  at the southeast 
corner of SH-205 and Yellow Jacket Lane, and also known as 1901 S. Goliad Street, which herein after 
shall be referred to as the Subject Property and incorporated by reference herein; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the governing body 
of the City of Rockwall, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances of the City of 
Rockwall, have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, and have held public hearings 
and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally, and to all persons interested in and 
situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof, the governing body in the exercise of its legislative 
discretion has concluded that the Unified Development Code of the City of Rockwall should be amended 
as follows: 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the Unified Development Code of the City of Rockwall, as heretofore amended, 
be and the same is hereby amended so as to grant a Specific Use Permit (SUP) to allow for a 
“Pawnshop” within a Commercial (C) zoning district as stipulated by the Unified Development Code 
[Ordinance no. 04-38] on the Subject Property; and 
 
 SECTION 2.  That the Subject Property shall be used only in the manner and for the purposes 
described in this Specific Use Permit (SUP) and as set forth in the Unified Development Code [Ordinance 
No. 04-38] as heretofore amended, and as may be amended in the future, and shall be subject to the 
additional following conditions and compliance standards: 
 
 
 
 

40
40



 
Z2015-032: Rockwall Gold & Silver – SUP Renewal (Pawnshop) 
Ordinance No.16-05; S-142 

2.1 Operational Conditions 
 

The following conditions pertain to the operation of a “Pawnshop” as a use for an existing commercial 
facility on the Subject Property, and conformance to these operational conditions on required for 
continued operations: 

 
1. That the “Pawnshop” shall generally be limited in its operations to an area of approximately nine 

(900) hundred square feet for the area designated as “Suite 1” and as depicted in Exhibit “A” 
attached hereto, and 

   
2. That incidental display and outside storage shall be strictly prohibited, and 
 
3. That this Specific Use Permit (SUP) shall be valid for a period of five (5) years from the date of 

approval as granted upon herein, and that the City Council shall review this SUP ordinance 
and determine if an extension is warranted.  Ninety (90) days prior to the cessation of this 
ordinance the applicant shall submit an application for renewal of this SUP ordinance for a 
certain period of time to be determined by the City Council.   

 
 Section 3. That the official zoning map of the City be corrected to reflect the changes in zoning 
described herein. 

 
 Section 4. That all ordinances of the City of Rockwall in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance be, and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of that conflict. 

 
 Section 5. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this ordinance shall 
be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a penalty of fine not to 
exceed the sum of TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) for each offence and each and every day 
such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense. 

 
 Section 6. If any section or provision of this ordinance or the application of that section or 
provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance is for any reason judged invalid, the 
adjudication shall not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the application of any other 
section or provision to any other person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance, and the City Council 
declares that it would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the invalid 
parts and to this end the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
 Section 7. That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and the 
publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 
THIS THE 4th DAY OF January, 2016. 
  
 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
       1st Reading: 12-21-2015 

2nd Reading: 01-04-2016 
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

41
41



 
Z2015-032: Rockwall Gold & Silver – SUP Renewal (Pawnshop) 
Ordinance No.16-05; S-142 

 

42
42



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

43
43



Z2015-033; 513 Windsor Way (SUP – Accessory Building) 
Ordinance No. 16-06; SUP No. 143 

  CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-06 
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. 143 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE 
OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY AMENDED, 
SO AS TO GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT WITHIN THE SINGLE-
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL (SF-10) DISTRICT ALLOWING FOR AN 
ACCESSORY BUILDING NOT MEETING THE STANDARDS 
STIPULATED BY THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE, ON THE 
PROPERTY ADDRESSED AS 513 WINDSOR WAY, BEING A 0.23-
ACRE PARCEL OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS LOT 14, BLOCK F, HARLAN 
PARK ADDITION, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL COUNTY, 
TEXAS; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR A 
PENALTY OR FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, a request has been made by Stephen B. North for a Specific Use Permit 

allowing for an accessory building not meeting the standards stipulated by the Unified Development 
Code within the Single-Family Residential (SF-10) District, on the property located at 513 Windsor 
Way, being a 0.23-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 14, Block F, Harlan Park Addition, City of 
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, and more specifically described in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance, 
which hereinafter shall be referred to as the Subject Property and incorporated by reference herein; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the governing 
body of the City of Rockwall, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances 
of the City of Rockwall, have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, and have 
held public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally, and to all 
persons interested in and situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof, the governing 
body in the exercise of its legislative discretion has concluded that the Unified Development Code 
of the City of Rockwall should be amended as follows: 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 
 
 Section 1.  That the Unified Development Code of the City of Rockwall, as heretofore 
amended, be and the same is hereby amended so as to grant a Specific Use Permit allowing for an 
accessory building not meeting the standards stipulated by the Unified Development Code within 
the Single-Family Residential (SF-10) District for the Subject Property; and 
  
 Section 2. That the Specific Use Permit shall be subject to the conditions set forth in Article 
IV, Section 2.1.2, Residential and Lodging Use Conditions, of the City of Rockwall Unified 
Development Code (Ord. No. 04-38) as heretofore amended and as may be amended in the future, 
and shall be subject to the additional following additions:  
 

44
44



Z2015-033; 513 Windsor Way (SUP – Accessory Building) 
Ordinance No. 16-06; SUP No. 143 

 
1. That the structure must meet all Building Inspections, Engineering, and Fire Department 

standards, and 
 
2. That submittal and approval of a building permit is required prior to the construction of the 

accessory building, and 
 
3. That the accessory building shall generally not exceed 288 sq. ft. in area or a maximum height of 

15-ft. (measured at the midpoint of the pitched roof), and 
 
4.That the accessory building shall generally conform to the site plan (Exhibit ‘A’ - Survey), building 

elevations as submitted, including the use of up to 100% Hardi Board lap siding (or other 
comparable cementaceous lap siding product) on all exterior walls, a composition roof, and a 
porch/roof overhang as generally depicted in the attached photo, and 

 
5.That the accessory building is subject to administrative review in the event that the subject 

property is sold to another party, conveyed in any manner to another party, subdivided, or re-
platted, and 

 
6. That the City Council reserves the right to review the Specific Use Permit granted herein, and 
 
7. That Any construction or building allowed by this request must conform to the requirements set 

forth by the Unified Development Code, the 2009 International Building Code, the Rockwall 
Municipal Code of Ordinances, city adopted engineering and fire codes and with all other 
applicable regulatory requirements administered and/or enforced by the state and federal 
government. 

 
 
 Section 3. That the official zoning map of the City be corrected to reflect the changes in 
zoning described herein. 

 
 Section 4. That all ordinances of the City of Rockwall in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance be, and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of that conflict. 

 
 Section 5. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this ordinance 
shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a penalty of fine 
not to exceed the sum of TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) for each offence and each and 
every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense. 

 
 Section 6. If any section or provision of this ordinance or the application of that section or 
provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance is for any reason judged invalid, 
the adjudication shall not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the application of 
any other section or provision to any other person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance, and 
the City Council declares that it would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the 
ordinance without the invalid parts and to this end the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in 
full force and effect. 

 
 
 
 
 

45
45



Z2015-033; 513 Windsor Way (SUP – Accessory Building) 
Ordinance No. 16-06; SUP No. 143 

 
 Section 7. That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and 
the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides. 
 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 

THIS THE 4th DAY OF January, 2016. 
  __________________________ 
 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
  
  
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
   
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 
 
1st Reading:  12-21-2015 

2nd Reading:  01-04-2016 

46
46



 

Z2015-033; 513 Windsor Way (SUP – Accessory Building) 
Ordinance No. 16-06; SUP No. 143 

 
 

 

47
47



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

48
48



Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-07 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 
CODE [ORDINANCE NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, AS 
HERETOFORE AMENDED, SO AS TO CHANGE THE ZONING FROM 
AN AGRICULTURAL (AG) DISTRICT TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 79 (PD-79) FOR SINGLE FAMILY 8.4 (SF-8.4) DISTRICT 
LAND USES ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, BEING A 45.318-ACRE 
TRACT OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS TRACT 2-03 OF THE P. B. 
HARRISON SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 97, CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
ROCKWALL COUNTY, TEXAS AND MORE FULLY DESCRIBED 
HEREIN BY EXHIBIT ‘A’; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM 
OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; 
PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City has received a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land 

Development, Inc. on behalf of the owner Randa Hance of R&R Hance Investment, LP for the 
approval of a zoning change from an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development 
District for Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land uses, on a 45.318-acre tract of land identified 
as Tract 2-03 of the P. B. Harrison Survey, Abstract No. 97, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, 
Texas and more fully described in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance, which hereinafter shall be 
referred to as the Subject Property and incorporated by reference herein; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the 
governing body of the City of Rockwall in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the 
ordinances of the City of Rockwall have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, 
and have held public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners 
generally and to all persons interested in and situated in the affected area, and in the vicinity 
thereof, and the governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion, has concluded that 
the Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] should be amended as follows: 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 
 

Section 1. That the Subject Property shall be used only in the manner and for the 
purposes authorized by this Planned Development District Ordinance and the Unified 
Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] of the City of Rockwall as heretofore amended, as 
amended herein by granting this zoning change, and as maybe amended in the future; 
 

Section 2. That development of the Subject Property shall generally be in 
accordance with the Planned Development Concept Plan, described in Exhibit ‘B’ of this 
ordinance, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit ‘B’, which is 
deemed hereby to be a condition of approval of the amended zoning classification for the 
Subject Property;  
 

Section 3. That development of the Subject Property shall generally be in 
accordance with the Development Standards, described in Exhibit ‘C’ of this ordinance, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit ‘C’, which is deemed hereby to 

49
49



Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

be a condition of approval of the amended zoning classification for the Subject Property; 
 

Section 4. That a Master Parks and Open Space Plan for the Subject Property, 
prepared in accordance with this ordinance and consistent with the Planned Development 
Concept Plan described in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance, shall be considered for approval by the 
City Council following recommendation of the Parks and Recreation Board. 
 

Section 5. That development of the Subject Property shall be in conformance with 
the schedule listed below (except as set forth below with regard to simultaneous processing and 
approvals). 

 
(a) The procedures set forth in the City’s subdivision regulations on the date this 

ordinance is approved by the City, as amended by this ordinance (including 
Subsections 5(b) through 5(e) below), shall be the exclusive procedures applicable 
to the subdivision and platting of the Subject Property.  

(b) The following plans and plats shall be required in the order listed below (except as 
set forth below with regard to simultaneous processing and approvals). The City 
Council shall act on an application for an Open Space Master Plan in accordance 
with the time period specified in Section 212.009 of the Texas Local Government 
Code. 

 
(1) Open Space Master Plan 
(2) Master Plat 
(3) PD Site Plan 
(4) Preliminary Plat 
(5) Final Plat 

 
(c) PD Site Plan.  A PD Site Plan covering all of the Subject Property shall be submitted 

and shall identify all site/landscape/hardscape plan(s) for all open space, 
neighborhood parks, trail systems, street buffers and entry features.  A PD Site Plan 
application may be processed by the City concurrently with a Preliminary Plat 
Application for the development. 

(d) Preliminary Plat. A Preliminary Plat covering all of the Subject Property shall be 
submitted and shall include a Treescape Plan. A Preliminary Plat Application may be 
processed by the City concurrently with a PD Site Plan Application for the 
development. 

(e) Final Plat. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, a Final Plat, conforming to 
the Preliminary Plat, for all of the Subject Property shall be submitted for approval. 

 
Section 7.   That any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 

ordinance shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a 
penalty of fine not to exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense and 
each and every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate 
offense; 
 

Section 8.   That if any section, paragraph, or provision of this ordinance or the 
application of that section, paragraph, or provision to any person, firm, corporation or situation is 
for any reason judged invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section, paragraph, or 
provision of this ordinance or the application of any other section, paragraph or provision to any 
other person, firm, corporation or situation, nor shall adjudication affect any other section, 
paragraph, or provision of the Unified Development Code, and the City Council declares that it 
would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the invalid parts 
and to this end the provisions for this ordinance are declared to be severable; 
 

50
50



Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

Section 9.  The standards in this ordinance shall control in the event of a conflict 
between this ordinance and any provision of the Unified Development Code or any provision of 
the City Code, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or procedure that provides a specific 
standard that is different from and inconsistent with this ordinance. References to zoning district 
regulations or other standards in the Unified Development Code (including references to the 
Unified Development Code), and references to overlay districts, in this ordinance or any of the 
Exhibits hereto are those in effect on the date this ordinance was passed and approved by the 
City Council of the City of Rockwall, Texas; 
 

Section 10.   That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its 
passage and the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides; 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, THIS THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

 
      

 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
    
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
    
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 

1st Reading:  12-21-2015 
 
2nd Reading: 01-04-2016 

51
51



Exhibit ‘A’: 
Legal Description 

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

 
Tract 2-03 of the P. B. Harrison Survey, Abstract No. 97, City of Rockwall, Rockwall 
County, Texas: 
 
BEING, a tract of land situated in the P. B. Harrison Survey, Abstract No. 97, City of 
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, and further being a part of 137.0-acre tract of the R. 
R. Hance Investments LLP, and being more particularly described as follows: 
 
BEGINNING at a point on the east line of county road John King Boulevard, said point 
being the southwest corner of said 45.31-acre tract point for corner; 
 
THENCE, N. 71 37’ 49” W., a distance of 1,091.80’ to a point for a corner and beginning 
of a curve; 
 
THENCE, BEGINNING a point for a curve R=1,143’ for a distance 1,428.90’ to a point for 
a corner; 
 
THENCE, N. 89 46’ 06” E., a distance of 1,784.02’ to a point for a corner; 
 
THENCE, S. 00 04’ 13” W., a distance of 1,415.57’ to the PLACE OF BEGINNING and 
containing 45.31-acres of land. 

52
52



Exhibit ‘B’: 
Concept Plan 

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 5 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

53
53



Exhibit ‘C’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 6 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

Development Standards. 
 

1. Permitted Uses. Unless specifically provided by this Planned Development ordinance, 
only those uses permitted within the Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District, as stipulated by 
the Permissible Use Charts contained in Article IV, Permissible Uses, of the Unified 
Development Code (UDC), are allowed on the Subject Property. 
 

2. Lot Composition and Layout. The lot layout and composition shall generally conform to 
the Concept Plan depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ and stated in Table 1, which is as follows: 
 
Table 1: Lot Composition 

     

Lot Type Minimum Lot Size 
(FT) 

Minimum Lot Size 
(SF) Dwelling Units (#) Dwelling Units (%) 

A 70’ x 125’ 8,750 SF 113 100.00% 
     

Maximum Permitted Units: 113 100.00% 
 

3. Density and Dimensional Requirements. Unless specifically provided by this Planned 
Development ordinance, the development standards stipulated by the Single Family 8.4 
(SF-8.4) District, as specified by Article V, District Development Standards, of the Unified 
Development Code are applicable to all development on the Subject Property.  The 
maximum permissible density for the Subject Property shall not exceed 2.50 dwelling 
units per gross acre of land; however, in no case should the proposed development 
exceed 113 units.  All lots shall conform to the standards depicted in Table 2, which is as 
follows: 
 
Table 2: Lot Dimensional Requirements 
 

Minimum Lot Width (1) 70’ 
Minimum Lot Depth 125’ 
Minimum Lot Area 8,750 SF 
Minimum Front Yard Setback (2) & (5) 20’ 
Minimum Side Yard Setback 5’ 
Minimum Side Yard Setback (Adjacent to a Street) (2) & (5) 10’ 
Minimum Length of Driveway Pavement 25’ 
Maximum Height (3) 30’ 
Minimum Rear Yard Setback (4) 20’ 
Minimum Area/Dwelling Unit (SF) 2,700 SF 
Maximum Lot Coverage 65% 
Permitted Encroachment into Required Setbacks (5) Allowed 

 

General Notes: 
1:  The minimum lot width shall be measured at the Front Yard Building Setback. 
2:  The location of the Front Yard Building Setback as measured from the front property line. 
3:  The Maximum Height shall be measured to the eave or top plate (whichever is greater) of the single 

family home. 
4: As measured from the rear yard property line. 
5: Sunrooms, porches, stoops, bay windows, balconies, masonry clad chimneys, eaves and similar 

architectural features may encroach beyond the Front Yard Building Setback by up to ten (10) feet for 
any property; however, the encroachment shall not exceed five (5) feet on Side Yard Setbacks (Adjacent 
to a Street) and shall not encroach into public right-of-way [a Sunroom is an enclosed room no more than 
15-feet in width that has glass on at least 50% of each of the encroaching faces].  

 
 
 
 

54
54



Exhibit ‘C’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 7 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

4. Building Standards. All development shall adhere to the following building standards: 
 
(a) Masonry Requirement. The minimum masonry requirement for the exterior façades 

of all buildings shall be 90%.  For the purposes of this ordinance, the masonry 
requirement shall be limited to full width brick, natural stone, and cast stone.  
Cementaceous fiberboard horizontal lap-siding (e.g. HardiBoard or Hardy Plank) 
and, stucco (i.e. three [3] part stucco or a comparable -- to be determined by staff) 
may be used for up to 50% of the masonry requirement; however, stucco (i.e. three 
[3] part stucco or a comparable -- to be determined by staff) shall be permitted 
through a Specific Use Permit (SUP) only. 

 
(b) Roof Pitch. A minimum of an 8:12 roof pitch is required on all structures with the 

exception of sunrooms and porches, which shall have a minimum of a 4:12 roof 
pitch.  
 

(c) Garage Orientation. Garages shall be oriented in a traditional swing (or j-swing) or in 
a front entry configuration; however garages oriented toward the street in a front 
entry configuration must be situated a minimum of 20-feet behind the front building 
façade of the primary structure.  In this case the front façade of the primary structure 
does not include a permitted encroachment (e.g. a porch, sunroom, etcetera) 
allowed in Table 2 above.  All garage configurations that are not front entry shall 
meet the requirements of Article VI, Parking and Loading, of the Unified 
Development Code.    

 
5. Anti-Monotony Restrictions. The development shall adhere to the Anti-Monotony Matrix 

depicted in Table 3 below (for spacing requirements see the illustration below). 
 

Table 3 : Anti-Monotony Matrix 
Lot Type Minimum Lot Size Elevation Features 

A 70’ x 120’ (1), (2), (3), (4) 
 

(1) Identical brick blends or paint colors may not occur on adjacent (side-by-side) 
properties along any block face without at least five (5) intervening homes of differing 
materials on the same side of the street beginning with the adjacent property and six 
(6) intervening homes of differing materials on the opposite side of the street. 

(2) Front building elevations shall not repeat along any block face without at least five (5) 
intervening homes of differing appearance on the same side of the street and six (6) 
intervening homes of differing appearance on the opposite side of the street.  The 
rear elevation of homes backing to open spaces or on John King Boulevard shall not 
repeat without at least five (5) intervening homes of differing appearance. Homes are 
considered to have a differing appearance if any of the following two (2) items 
deviate: 
 
(a) Number of Stories 
(b) Permitted Encroachment Type and Layout 
(c) Roof Type and Layout 
(d) Articulation of the Front Façade  
  

(3) Permitted encroachments (i.e. porch and sunroom) elevations shall not repeat or be 
the same along any block face without at least five (5) intervening homes of sufficient 
dissimilarity on the same side of the street beginning with the home adjacent to the 

55
55



Exhibit ‘C’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 8 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

subject property and six (6) intervening homes beginning with the home on the 
opposite side of the street. 

(4) Each phase of the subdivision will allow for a maximum of four (4) compatible roof 
colors, and all roof shingles shall be an architectural or dimensional shingle (3-Tab 
Roofing Shingles are prohibited). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6. Fencing Standards. All individual residential fencing and walls shall be architecturally 

compatible with the design, materials and colors of the primary structure on the same lot, 
and meet the following standards: 
 
(a) Wood Fences.  All wood fences shall be constructed of a standard fencing material 

(minimum of ½” thickness or better; spruce fencing will not be allowed), and use 
fasteners that are hot dipped galvanized or stainless steel.  Wood fences facing onto 
a street shall be painted and/or stained and sealed with all pickets being placed on 
the public side facing the street.  All wood fences shall be smooth-finished, free of 
burs and splinters, and be a maximum of six (6) feet in height. 

(b) Wrought Iron/Tubular Steel. Lots located along the perimeter of roadways, abutting 
open spaces, greenbelts and parks shall be required to install a wrought iron or 
tubular steel fence.  Wrought iron/tubular steel fences can be a maximum of six (6) 
feet in height. 

Illustration 1: Properties line up on the opposite side of the street.  Where RED is the subject property. 

Illustration 2: Properties do not line up on opposite side of the street. Where RED is the subject property. 

56
56



Exhibit ‘C’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 9 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

(c) Corner Lots. Corner lots fences (i.e. adjacent to the street) shall provide masonry 
columns at 45-feet off center spacing that begins at the rear of the property line.  A 
maximum of six (6) foot solid board-on-board panel fence constructed utilizing cedar 
fencing shall be allowed between the masonry columns along the side and/or rear lot 
adjacent to a street.  In addition, the fencing shall be setback from the side property 
line adjacent to a street a minimum of five (5) feet.  The property owner shall be 
required to maintain both sides of the fence. 

(d) Solid Fences (including Wood Fences). All solid fences shall incorporate a 
decorative top rail or cap detailing into the design of the fence. 

 
7. Landscape and Hardscape Standards.  

 
(1) Landscape. Landscaping shall be reviewed and approved with the PD Site Plan.  All 

Canopy/Shade Trees planted within this development shall be a minimum of four (4) 
caliper inches in size and all Accent/Ornamental/Under-Story Trees shall be a 
minimum of four (4) feet in total height. The following tree species are approved for 
planting within this subdivision: 
 
(a) Canopy/Shade Trees. Bald Cyprus, Cedar Elm, Texas Red Oak, Homestead 

Elm, Lace Bark Elm, Alle Elm, Chinese Pistachio, Shumard Oak, Sycamore, and 
Burr Oak. 
 

(b) Accent/Ornamental/Under-Story Trees. Texas Redbud, Eve’s Necklace, Mexican 
Plum, Downy Hawthorn, Crepe Myrtle, Texas Mountain Laurel, Vitex, and Desert 
Willow. 

 
(2) Landscape Buffers. All landscape buffers and plantings located within the buffers 

shall be maintained by the Homeowner’s Association (HOA). 
 

(a) Landscape Buffer and Sidewalks (John King Boulevard). A minimum of a 50-foot 
landscape buffer shall be provided along the frontage of John King Boulevard 
(outside of and beyond any required right-of-way dedication), and shall 
incorporate ground cover, a built-up berm and/or shrubbery or a combination 
thereof along the entire length of the frontage.  Berms and/or shrubbery shall 
have a minimum height of 30-inches and a maximum height of 48-inches.  In 
addition, three (3) canopy trees and four (4) accent trees shall be planted per 
100-feet of linear frontage.  The developer shall also be responsible for the 
construction of a ten (10) foot sidewalk situated within the 50-foot landscape 
buffer adjacent to John King Boulevard. 
 

(3) Streetscape Landscaping.  Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy (CO), 
all residential, single family lots situated within the proposed subdivision shall be 
landscaped with canopy trees from the list stipulated by Section 7(1) of this 
ordinance in the following sizes and proportions: 
 
(i) Two (2), three (3) inch trees measured six (6) inches above the root ball shall be 

planted in the front yard of an interior lot. 
(ii) Two (2), three (3) inch trees measured six (6) inches above the root ball shall be 

planted in the front yard of a corner lot and two (2), three (3) inch caliper trees 
shall be planted in the side yard facing the street. 

57
57



Exhibit ‘C’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 10 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

 
Note: For the purposes of this section only [i.e. Section 7(3)], the term “front yard” 
includes the area within the dedicated right-of-way for a parkway immediately 
adjoining the front yard of the lot. 
 

(4) Irrigation Requirements. Irrigation shall be installed for all required landscaping 
located within common areas, landscape buffers and/or open space.  Irrigation 
installed in these areas shall be designed by a Texas licensed irrigator or landscape 
architect and shall be maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. 
 

(5) Hardscape. Hardscape plans indicating the location of all sidewalks and trails shall 
be reviewed and approved with the PD Site Plan. 
 

8. Street. All streets (excluding drives, fire lanes and private parking areas) shall be built 
according to City street standards. 
 

9. Lighting. Light poles shall not exceed 20-feet in total height (i.e. base and lighting 
standard).  All fixtures shall be directed downward and be positioned to contain all light 
within the development area. 
 

10. Sidewalks. At a maximum, all sidewalks adjacent to a street shall begin two (2) feet 
behind the right-of-way line and be five (5) feet in overall width. 
 

11. Buried Utilities. New distribution power-lines required to serve the Subject Property shall 
be placed underground, whether such lines are located internally or along the perimeter 
of the Subject Property, unless otherwise authorized by the City Council. New 
transmission power-lines, or distribution lines of a size not typically or cost effectively 
placed underground (3-phase lines), or additional lines that are added to existing poles, 
may be above ground, if located along the perimeter of the Subject Property. The 
Developer shall not be required to re-locate existing overhead power-lines along the 
perimeter of the Subject Property. Temporary power-lines constructed across 
undeveloped portions of the Subject Property to facilitate development phasing and 
looping may be allowed above ground, but  shall not be considered existing lines at the 
time the area is developed, and if they are to become permanent facilities, such lines 
shall be placed underground pursuant to this paragraph.  Franchise utilities shall be 
placed within a ten (10) foot public utility easement behind the sidewalk, between the 
home and the property line. 
 

12. Open Space. The development shall consist of a minimum of 17% open space (or 
7.704-acres), and generally conform to the Concept Plan contained in Exhibit ‘B’ of this 
ordinance.  All open space areas shall be maintained by the Homeowner’s Association 
(HOA). 
 
 
 
 

Continued on Next Page … 
 
 
 

58
58



Exhibit ‘C’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-034: South Saddle Star Estates Page 11 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-07; PD-79 

13. Trail Rest Area.  The developer shall be responsible for the construction of a Trail Rest 
Area that generally conforms to the rest area depicted in Figure 1 (below).  
 
 
Figure 1: Trail Rest Area Concept 

 
 
 

14. Neighborhood Signage. Permanent subdivision identification signage shall be permitted 
at all major entry points for the proposed subdivision.  Final design and location of any 
entry features shall be reviewed and approved with the PD Site Plan. 
 

15. Drainage Standards. The development shall comply with existing drainage standards 
including the permissible spread of water in the streets and permissible gutter flow 
through intersections as outlined in the City of Rockwall’s Standards of Design and 
Construction (approved in August 2003 and updated in October 2007).  The proposed 
drainage areas, flow patterns, and storm drain system that will be constructed shall be 
based on the City’s drainage criteria and be identified on a Conceptual Drainage Plan, 
which shall be submitted with the Civil Plans at the time of Engineering submittal. The 
Conceptual Drainage Plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Engineering 
Department in compliance with engineering standards. 
 

16. Homeowner’s Association (HOA). A Homeowner’s Association shall be created to 
enforce the restrictions established in accordance with the requirements of Section 38-
15 of the Subdivision Regulations contained within the Municipal Code of Ordinances of 
the City of Rockwall.  The HOA shall also maintain all neighborhood parks, trails, open 
space and common areas, irrigation, landscaping, screening fences associated with this 
development. 
 

17. Variances. The variance procedures and standards for approval that are set forth in the 
Unified Development Code shall apply to any application for variances to this ordinance. 

59
59



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

60
60



1.81 Ac.

J
 
o
 
h
 
n
 
 
 
 
K
 
i
 
n
 
g
 
 
 
 
B
 
l
 
v
 
d
.

F. M.   5 5 2

Approx. 100 Yr. Floodplain

Approx. 1
0
0
 Yr. Floodplain

5
0
' O

pen S
pace

Variable Width R.O.W. Dedication

5
0
' O

pen S
pace

0
.8

5
 A

c.
0
.8

3
 A

c.

1
.7

7
 Ac.

Section "A-A"
10' L.S. & S. Wall

10' L.S. & S. Wall

79' R.O.W. Dedication
0.34 Ac.

100100 50

N

Scale: 1" = 100'

0

n. t. s.

N

V i c i n i t y  M a p

Dec. 29, 2015 Scale:1" = 100'

CONCEPT  PLAN

City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas

Project
Site

972.991.1600
Dallas, Texas 75234
14241 North Dallas Pkwy,, S 1050

Owner:
Engineer:

L a n d  U s e  D a t a

Total Area - 44.56 Ac.

Total Open Space - 5.61 Ac.

Lot Size - 100'x125' - 18 Lots

Total Lots - 109

Density - 2.446 D.U. / Ac.

Bre
ezy

 Hi
ll

Hid
den

 Va
lle

y E
sta

tes

Wil
lia

ms 
Mid

dle
 Sc

hoo
l

Fut
ure

 Br
eez

y H
ill

Bre
ezy

 Hi
ll 

Com
mer

cia
l

C
i
t
y
 
L
i
m
i
t
 
L
i
n
e

Case No. Z-2015-035

S
t
r
e
e
t
 
"
G
"

A

Street "F"

S
t
r
e
e
t
 
"
B
"

Street "D"

Street "A"

Street "C"

Street "E"

Street "H"

Street "I"

S
t
r
e
e
t
 
"
G
"

S
t
r
e
e
t
 
"
B
"

A

Street "A"

C
i
t
y
 
L
i
m
i
t
 
L
i
n
e

C
i
t
y
 
L
i
m
i
t
 
L
i
n
e

City Limit Line

AA

Street "J"

Typ. Lot Size - 80'x125' - 79 Lots
Lot Size - 70'x125' - 12 Lots

61
61



Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 
CODE [ORDINANCE NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, AS 
HERETOFORE AMENDED, SO AS TO CHANGE THE ZONING FROM 
AN AGRICULTURAL (AG) DISTRICT TO PLANNED DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT XX (PD-XX) FOR SINGLE FAMILY 8.4 (SF-8.4) DISTRICT 
LAND USES ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY, BEING A 44.56-ACRE 
TRACT OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS TRACT 3 OF THE T. R. BAILEY 
SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 30, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL 
COUNTY, TEXAS AND MORE FULLY DESCRIBED HEREIN BY 
EXHIBIT ‘A’; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING 
FOR A PENALTY OF FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; 
PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the City has received a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land Development, 
Inc. on behalf of the owner Larry Hance for the approval of a zoning change from an Agricultural 
(AG) District to a Planned Development District for Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land uses, 
on a 44.56-acre tract of land identified as Tract 3 of the T. R. Bailey Survey, Abstract No. 30, 
City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas and more fully described in Exhibit ‘A’ of this 
ordinance, which hereinafter shall be referred to as the Subject Property and incorporated by 
reference herein; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the governing 
body of the City of Rockwall in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the 
ordinances of the City of Rockwall have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, 
and have held public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners 
generally and to all persons interested in and situated in the affected area, and in the vicinity 
thereof, and the governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion, has concluded that 
the Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] should be amended as follows: 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 
 
Section 1. That the Subject Property shall be used only in the manner and for the purposes 
authorized by this Planned Development District Ordinance and the Unified Development Code 
[Ordinance No. 04-38] of the City of Rockwall as heretofore amended, as amended herein by 
granting this zoning change, and as maybe amended in the future; 
 
Section 2. That development of the Subject Property shall generally be in accordance with 
the Planned Development Concept Plan, described in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance, attached 
hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit ‘B’, which is deemed hereby to be a 
condition of approval of the amended zoning classification for the Subject Property;  
 
Section 3. That development of the Subject Property shall generally be in accordance with 
the Development Standards, described in Exhibit ‘D’ of this ordinance, attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit ‘D’, which is deemed hereby to be a condition of 
approval of the amended zoning classification for the Subject Property; 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

62
62



Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

 
Section 4. That a Master Parks and Open Space Plan for the Subject Property, prepared in 
accordance with this ordinance and consistent with the Planned Development Concept Plan 
described in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance, shall be considered for approval by the City Council 
following recommendation of the Parks and Recreation Board. 
 
Section 5. That development of the Subject Property shall be in conformance with the 
schedule listed below (except as set forth below with regard to simultaneous processing and 
approvals). 

 
(a) The procedures set forth in the City’s subdivision regulations on the date this 

ordinance is approved by the City, as amended by this ordinance (including 
Subsections 5(b) through 5(e) below), shall be the exclusive procedures applicable 
to the subdivision and platting of the Subject Property.  

(b) The following plans and plats shall be required in the order listed below (except as 
set forth below with regard to simultaneous processing and approvals). The City 
Council shall act on an application for an Open Space Master Plan in accordance 
with the time period specified in Section 212.009 of the Texas Local Government 
Code. 

 
(1) Open Space Master Plan 
(2) Master Plat 
(3) PD Site Plan 
(4) Preliminary Plat 
(5) Final Plat 

 
(c) PD Site Plan.  A PD Site Plan covering all of the Subject Property shall be submitted 

and shall identify all site/landscape/hardscape plan(s) for all open space, 
neighborhood parks, trail systems, street buffers and entry features.  A PD Site Plan 
application may be processed by the City concurrently with a Preliminary Plat 
Application for the development. 

(d) Preliminary Plat. A Preliminary Plat covering all of the Subject Property shall be 
submitted and shall include a Treescape Plan. A Preliminary Plat Application may be 
processed by the City concurrently with a PD Site Plan Application for the 
development. 

(e) Final Plat. Prior to the issuance of any building permits, a Final Plat, conforming to 
the Preliminary Plat, for all of the Subject Property shall be submitted for approval. 

 
Section 7.   That any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 
ordinance shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a 
penalty of fine not to exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) for each offense and 
each and every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate 
offense; 
 
Section 8.   That if any section, paragraph, or provision of this ordinance or the application of 
that section, paragraph, or provision to any person, firm, corporation or situation is for any 
reason judged invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section, paragraph, or provision 
of this ordinance or the application of any other section, paragraph or provision to any other 
person, firm, corporation or situation, nor shall adjudication affect any other section, paragraph, 
or provision of the Unified Development Code, and the City Council declares that it would have 
adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the invalid parts and to this 
end the provisions for this ordinance are declared to be severable; 
 
Section 9.  The standards in this ordinance shall control in the event of a conflict between 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

63
63



Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

this ordinance and any provision of the Unified Development Code or any provision of the City 
Code, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation, or procedure that provides a specific standard that 
is different from and inconsistent with this ordinance. References to zoning district regulations or 
other standards in the Unified Development Code (including references to the Unified 
Development Code), and references to overlay districts, in this ordinance or any of the Exhibits 
hereto are those in effect on the date this ordinance was passed and approved by the City 
Council of the City of Rockwall, Texas; 
 
Section 10.   That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and 
the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides; 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 
THIS THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

 
      

 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
    
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
    
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 

1st Reading:  December 21, 2015 
 
2nd Reading: January 4, 2016 
 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

64
64



Exhibit ‘A’: 
Legal Description 

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

 
 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

65
65



Exhibit ‘B’: 
Concept Plan 

 

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

66
66



Exhibit ‘C’: 
Survey 

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

67
67



Exhibit ‘D’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

Development Standards. 
 

1. Permitted Uses. Unless specifically provided by this Planned Development ordinance, 
only those uses permitted within the Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District, as stipulated by 
the Permissible Use Charts contained in Article IV, Permissible Uses, of the Unified 
Development Code (UDC), are allowed on the Subject Property. 
 

2. Lot Composition and Layout. The lot layout and composition shall generally conform to 
the Concept Plan depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ and stated in Table 1, which is as follows: 
 
Table 1: Lot Composition 

     

Lot Type Minimum Lot Size 
(FT) 

Minimum Lot Size 
(SF) 

Maximum Dwelling 
Units (#) Dwelling Units (%) 

A 70’ x 125’ 8,750 SF 12 11.01% 
B 80’ x 125’ 10,000 SF 79 72.48% 

C (1) 100’ x 125’  12,500 SF 18 16.51% 
Maximum Permitted Units: 109  

 
General Notes: 
1:  All properties adjacent to the western property line shall be a Type ‘C’ lot (i.e. 100’ x 125’). 
 

3. Density and Dimensional Requirements. Unless specifically provided by this Planned 
Development ordinance, the development standards stipulated by the Single Family 8.4 
(SF-8.4) District, as specified by Article V, District Development Standards, of the Unified 
Development Code are applicable to all development on the Subject Property.  The 
maximum permissible density for the Subject Property shall not exceed 2.446 dwelling 
units per gross acre of land; however, in no case should the proposed development 
exceed 109 units.  All lots shall conform to the standards depicted in Table 2, which is as 
follows: 
 
Table 2: Lot Dimensional Requirements 

Lot Type (see Concept Plan) ► A B C 
Minimum Lot Width (1) 70’ 80’ 100’ 
Minimum Lot Depth 125’ 125’ 125’ 
Minimum Lot Area 8,750 SF 10,000 SF 12,500 SF 
Minimum Front Yard Setback (2) & (5) 20’ 20’ 20’ 
Minimum Side Yard Setback 5’ 5’ 5’ 
Minimum Side Yard Setback (Adjacent to a Street) (2) & (5) 10’ 10’ 10’ 
Minimum Length of Driveway Pavement 25’ 25’ 25’ 
Maximum Height (3) 30’ 30’ 30’ 
Minimum Rear Yard Setback (4) 20’ 20’ 20’ 
Minimum Area/Dwelling Unit (SF) 2,700 SF 2,700 SF 3,200 SF 
Maximum Lot Coverage 65% 65% 65% 
Permitted Encroachment into Required Setbacks (5) Allowed Allowed Allowed 

 

General Notes: 
1:  The minimum lot width shall be measured at the Front Yard Building Setback. 
2:  The location of the Front Yard Building Setback as measured from the front property line. 
3:  The Maximum Height shall be measured to the eave or top plate (whichever is greater) of the single 

family home. 
4: As measured from the rear yard property line. 
5: Sunrooms, porches, stoops, bay windows, balconies, masonry clad chimneys, eaves and similar 

architectural features may encroach beyond the Front Yard Building Setback by up to ten (10) feet for 
any property; however, the encroachment shall not exceed five (5) feet on Side Yard Setbacks (Adjacent 
to a Street) and shall not encroach into public right-of-way [a Sunroom is an enclosed room no more than 
15-feet in width that has glass on at least 50% of each of the encroaching faces]  

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

68
68



Exhibit ‘D’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 5 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

4. Building Standards. All development shall adhere to the following building standards: 
 
(a) Masonry Requirement. The minimum masonry requirement for the exterior façades 

of all buildings shall be 90%.  For the purposes of this ordinance, the masonry 
requirement shall be limited to full width brick, natural stone, and cast stone.  
Cementaceous fiberboard horizontal lap-siding (e.g. HardiBoard or Hardy Plank) 
and, stucco (i.e. three [3] part stucco or a comparable -- to be determined by staff) 
may be used for up to 50% of the masonry requirement; however, stucco (i.e. three 
[3] part stucco or a comparable -- to be determined by staff) shall be permitted 
through a Specific Use Permit (SUP) only. 

 
(b) Roof Pitch. A minimum of an 8:12 roof pitch is required on all structures with the 

exception of sunrooms and porches, which shall have a minimum of a 4:12 roof 
pitch.  
 

(c) Garage Orientation. Garages shall be oriented in a traditional swing (or j-swing) or in 
a front entry configuration; however garages oriented toward the street in a front 
entry configuration must be situated a minimum of 20-feet behind the front building 
façade of the primary structure.  In this case the front façade of the primary structure 
does not include a permitted encroachment (e.g. a porch, sunroom, etcetera) 
allowed in Table 2 above.  All garage configurations that are not front entry shall 
meet the requirements of Article VI, Parking and Loading, of the Unified 
Development Code.    

 
5. Anti-Monotony Restrictions. The development shall adhere to the Anti-Monotony Matrix 

depicted in Table 3 below (for spacing requirements see the illustration below). 
 

Table 3 : Anti-Monotony Matrix 
Lot Type Minimum Lot Size Elevation Features 

A 70’ x 125’ (1), (2), (3), (4) 
B 80’ x 125’ (1), (2), (3), (4) 
C 100’ x 125’ (1), (2), (3), (4) 

 
(1) Identical brick blends or paint colors may not occur on adjacent (side-by-side) 

properties along any block face without at least five (5) intervening homes of differing 
materials on the same side of the street beginning with the adjacent property and six 
(6) intervening homes of differing materials on the opposite side of the street. 

(2) Front building elevations shall not repeat along any block face without at least five (5) 
intervening homes of differing appearance on the same side of the street and six (6) 
intervening homes of differing appearance on the opposite side of the street.  The 
rear elevation of homes backing to open spaces or on John King Boulevard shall not 
repeat without at least five (5) intervening homes of differing appearance. Homes are 
considered to have a differing appearance if any of the following two (2) items 
deviate: 
 
(a) Number of Stories 
(b) Permitted Encroachment Type and Layout 
(c) Roof Type and Layout 
(d) Articulation of the Front Façade  
  

(3) Permitted encroachments (i.e. porch and sunroom) elevations shall not repeat or be 
the same along any block face without at least five (5) intervening homes of sufficient 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

69
69



Exhibit ‘D’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 6 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

dissimilarity on the same side of the street beginning with the home adjacent to the 
subject property and six (6) intervening homes beginning with the home on the 
opposite side of the street. 

(4) Each phase of the subdivision will allow for a maximum of four (4) compatible roof 
colors, and all roof shingles shall be an architectural or dimensional shingle (3-Tab 
Roofing Shingles are prohibited). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6. Fencing Standards. All individual residential fencing and walls shall be architecturally 

compatible with the design, materials and colors of the primary structure on the same lot, 
and meet the following standards: 
 
(a) Wood Fences.  All wood fences shall be constructed of a standard fencing material 

(minimum of ½” thickness or better; spruce fencing will not be allowed), and use 
fasteners that are hot dipped galvanized or stainless steel.  Wood fences facing onto 
a street shall be painted and/or stained and sealed with all pickets being placed on 
the public side facing the street.  All wood fences shall be smooth-finished, free of 
burs and splinters, and be a maximum of six (6) feet in height. 

(b) Wrought Iron/Tubular Steel. Lots located along the perimeter of roadways, abutting 
open spaces, greenbelts and parks shall be required to install a wrought iron or 
tubular steel fence.  Wrought iron/tubular steel fences can be a maximum of six (6) 
feet in height. 

Illustration 1: Properties line up on the opposite side of the street.  Where RED is the subject property. 

Illustration 2: Properties do not line up on opposite side of the street. Where RED is the subject property. 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

70
70



Exhibit ‘D’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 7 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

(c) Corner Lots. Corner lots fences (i.e. adjacent to the street) shall provide masonry 
columns at 45-feet off center spacing that begins at the rear of the property line.  A 
maximum of six (6) foot solid board-on-board panel fence constructed utilizing cedar 
fencing shall be allowed between the masonry columns along the side and/or rear lot 
adjacent to a street.  In addition, the fencing shall be setback from the side property 
line adjacent to a street a minimum of five (5) feet.  The property owner shall be 
required to maintain both sides of the fence. 

(d) Solid Fences (including Wood Fences). All solid fences shall incorporate a 
decorative top rail or cap detailing into the design of the fence. 

 
7. Landscape and Hardscape Standards.  

 
(1) Landscape. Landscaping shall be reviewed and approved with the PD Site Plan.  All 

Canopy/Shade Trees planted within this development shall be a minimum of four (4) 
caliper inches in size and all Accent/Ornamental/Under-Story Trees shall be a 
minimum of four (4) feet in total height. The following tree species are approved for 
planting within this subdivision: 
 
(a) Canopy/Shade Trees. Bald Cyprus, Cedar Elm, Texas Red Oak, Homestead 

Elm, Lace Bark Elm, Alle Elm, Chinese Pistachio, Shumard Oak, Sycamore, and 
Burr Oak. 
 

(b) Accent/Ornamental/Under-Story Trees. Texas Redbud, Eve’s Necklace, Mexican 
Plum, Downy Hawthorn, Crepe Myrtle, Texas Mountain Laurel, Vitex, and Desert 
Willow. 

 
(2) Landscape Buffers. All landscape buffers and plantings located within the buffers 

shall be maintained by the Homeowner’s Association (HOA). 
 

(a) Landscape Buffer and Sidewalks (John King Boulevard). A minimum of a 50-foot 
landscape buffer shall be provided along the frontage of John King Boulevard 
(outside of and beyond any required right-of-way dedication), and shall 
incorporate ground cover, a built-up berm and/or shrubbery or a combination 
thereof along the entire length of the frontage.  Berms and/or shrubbery shall 
have a minimum height of 30-inches and a maximum height of 48-inches.  In 
addition, three (3) canopy trees and four (4) accent trees shall be planted per 
100-feet of linear frontage.  The developer shall also be responsible for the 
construction of a ten (10) foot sidewalk situated within the 50-foot landscape 
buffer adjacent to John King Boulevard. 
 

(3) Streetscape Landscaping.  Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy (CO), 
all residential, single family lots situated within the proposed subdivision shall be 
landscaped with canopy trees from the list stipulated by Section 7(1) of this 
ordinance in the following sizes and proportions: 
 
(i) Two (2), three (3) inch trees measured six (6) inches above the root ball shall be 

planted in the front yard of an interior lot. 
(ii) Two (2), three (3) inch trees measured six (6) inches above the root ball shall be 

planted in the front yard of a corner lot and two (2), three (3) inch caliper trees 
shall be planted in the side yard facing the street. 
 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

71
71



Exhibit ‘D’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 8 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

Note: For the purposes of this section only [i.e. Section 7(3)], the term “front yard” 
includes the area within the dedicated right-of-way for a parkway immediately 
adjoining the front yard of the lot. 
 

(4) Irrigation Requirements. Irrigation shall be installed for all required landscaping 
located within common areas, landscape buffers and/or open space.  Irrigation 
installed in these areas shall be designed by a Texas licensed irrigator or landscape 
architect and shall be maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. 
 

(5) Hardscape. Hardscape plans indicating the location of all sidewalks and trails shall 
be reviewed and approved with the PD Site Plan. 
 

8. Street. All streets (excluding drives, fire lanes and private parking areas) shall be built 
according to City street standards. 
 

9. Lighting. Light poles shall not exceed 20-feet in total height (i.e. base and lighting 
standard).  All fixtures shall be directed downward and be positioned to contain all light 
within the development area. 
 

10. Sidewalks. At a maximum, all sidewalks adjacent to a street shall begin two (2) feet 
behind the right-of-way line and be five (5) feet in overall width. 
 

11. Buried Utilities. New distribution power-lines required to serve the Subject Property shall 
be placed underground, whether such lines are located internally or along the perimeter 
of the Subject Property, unless otherwise authorized by the City Council. New 
transmission power-lines, or distribution lines of a size not typically or cost effectively 
placed underground (3-phase lines), or additional lines that are added to existing poles, 
may be above ground, if located along the perimeter of the Subject Property. The 
Developer shall not be required to re-locate existing overhead power-lines along the 
perimeter of the Subject Property. Temporary power-lines constructed across 
undeveloped portions of the Subject Property to facilitate development phasing and 
looping may be allowed above ground, but  shall not be considered existing lines at the 
time the area is developed, and if they are to become permanent facilities, such lines 
shall be placed underground pursuant to this paragraph.  Franchise utilities shall be 
placed within a ten (10) foot public utility easement behind the sidewalk, between the 
home and the property line. 
 

12. Open Space. The development shall consist of a minimum of 12.59% open space (or 
5.61-acres), and generally conform to the Concept Plan contained in Exhibit ‘B’ of this 
ordinance.  All open space areas shall be maintained by the Homeowner’s Association 
(HOA). 
 

13. Corner Enhancement Concept.  The developer shall be responsible for the construction 
of a Corner Enhancement that generally conforms to the concept design as depicted in 
Figure 1 & Figure 2 (below).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

72
72



Exhibit ‘D’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 9 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

Figure 1: Corner Enhancement Concept (Aerial View) 
 

 
 
 
 
Figure 2: Corner Enhancement Concept (Street View) 
 

 
 
 

14. Neighborhood Signage. Permanent subdivision identification signage shall be permitted 
at all major entry points for the proposed subdivision.  Final design and location of any 
entry features shall be reviewed and approved with the PD Site Plan. 
 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

73
73



Exhibit ‘D’: 
Development Standards  

Z2015-035: North Saddle Star Estates Page 10 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; PD-XX 

15. Drainage Standards. The development shall comply with existing drainage standards 
including the permissible spread of water in the streets and permissible gutter flow 
through intersections as outlined in the City of Rockwall’s Standards of Design and 
Construction (approved in August 2003 and updated in October 2007).  The proposed 
drainage areas, flow patterns, and storm drain system that will be constructed shall be 
based on the City’s drainage criteria and be identified on a Conceptual Drainage Plan, 
which shall be submitted with the Civil Plans at the time of Engineering submittal. The 
Conceptual Drainage Plan shall be reviewed and approved by the Engineering 
Department in compliance with engineering standards. 
 

16. Homeowner’s Association (HOA). A Homeowner’s Association shall be created to 
enforce the restrictions established in accordance with the requirements of Section 38-
15 of the Subdivision Regulations contained within the Municipal Code of Ordinances of 
the City of Rockwall.  The HOA shall also maintain all neighborhood parks, trails, open 
space and common areas, irrigation, landscaping, screening fences associated with this 
development. 
 

17. Variances. The variance procedures and standards for approval that are set forth in the 
Unified Development Code shall apply to any application for variances to this ordinance. 

D
R

A
FT

 
O

R
D

IN
A

N
C

E
 

01
.0

4.
20

16

74
74



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

75
75



76
76



AGENDA

• Purpose
• Time, Date and Location
• Process
• Project Images
• Historical Data
• Conclusion 

77
77



Purpose / Date, Time, and Location

• The purpose of my project was to locate the military veterans that are 
buried in the cemetery so that the city could have a record of them. 

• Date: June 13, 2015
• Time: 8:30 A.M.
• Location: Rockwall Memorial Cemetery

78
78



Project Execution 

• I divided the cemetery into sections based on the existing naming 
convention and assigned scouts to specific sections.  I then gave each 
group of scouts a stack of survey flags to be placed at the headstones 
of military veterans.

• A second group of scouts would then go to the marked graves and 
write down all of the information that is on the headstones.

• Lastly I walked behind them to make sure no one was missed.

79
79



80
80



81
81



HISTORICAL DATA

VETERANS BY BRANCH

US ARMY US NAVY / USNR US AIRFORCE US MARINE CORPS / USMCR US COAST GUARD CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERICA ARMY AIR FORCE ARMY AIR CORPS OTHERS / UNK

79 23 / 6 10 8 / 1 4 6 5 3 34 / 1

VETERANS BY CAMPAIGN (S)

WW I WW II KOREA VIETNAM SPANISH AMERICAN CIVIL WAR MULTIPLE UNKNOWN 2 / 3 CAMPAIGNS

24 104 16 10 2 6 6 26

VETERANS BY RANK

OFFICERS ENLISTED UNKOWN

14 141 25

VETERANS BY GENGER

MALE FEMALE

174 6

FIRST VETERAN BURIED IN CEMETERY

LAST FIRST MIDDLE RANK BRANCH OF SERVICE CAMPAIGN BIRTH  DEATH

FUTRELL L SHADRACK PVT FARRIS' BAT MO LT ARTY CSA CIVIL WAR 12/24/1831 09/17/1096

YOUNGEST VETERAN BURIED IN CEMETERY

LAST FIRST MIDDLE RANK BRANCH OF SERVICE CAMPAIGN BIRTH  DEATH

CARR WALTER ESTELL TXARM US NAVY WW II 8/19/1923 10/12/1944

82
82



Conclusion

• I would first like to thank the City of Rockwall for allowing me the 
opportunity to conduct me Eagle Scout Service Project.

• I feel this project benefited me by helping me strengthen my 
communication skills.

• I feel this project benefited the City of Rockwall by providing a data 
base of all of the veterans buried in the cemetery and what military 
services are represented in order for others to have access to the 
information.

83
83



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

84
84



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
 
FROM: Rick Crowley, City Manager 
 
DATE: December 31, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: Cost of Treated Water from NTMWD 
  
 
Draft Resolution for consideration will be provided under separate cover.  

85
85



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

86
86



Z2015-031: Car Wash La Jolla Pointe Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-02;  S-141 

CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-02 
SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. S-141 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, AMENDING THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE [ORDINANCE 
NO. 04-38] OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AS PREVIOUSLY 
AMENDED, SO AS TO GRANT A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT (SUP) FOR A 
CAR WASH WITHIN THE SCENIC OVERLAY (SOV) DISTRICT, FOR A 
0.688-ACRE PARCEL OF LAND IDENTIFIED AS LOT 1, BLOCK D, LA 
JOLLA POINTE ADDITION, PHASE 2, CITY OF ROCKWALL, ROCKWALL 
COUNTY, TEXAS; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL CONDITIONS; PROVIDING 
FOR A PENALTY OR FINE NOT TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING 
FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, a request has been made by John and Lenny James on behalf of the owner 
Rockway Partners, LLP for the approval of a Specific Use Permit (SUP) to allow a car wash on a 
0.688-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block D, La Jolla Pointe Addition, Phase 2, City of 
Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District, situated within the Scenic 
Overlay (SOV) District, and more specifically described in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance, which herein 
after shall be referred to as the Subject Property and incorporated by reference herein; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Rockwall and the 
governing body of the City of Rockwall, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the 
ordinances of the City of Rockwall, have given the requisite notices by publication and otherwise, 
and have held public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally, 
and to all persons interested in and situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof, the 
governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion has concluded that the Unified 
Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] of the City of Rockwall should be amended as follows: 

NOW AND THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 

 SECTION 1. That the Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] of the City of 
Rockwall, as heretofore amended, be and the same is hereby amended so as to grant a Specific 
Use Permit (SUP) allowing for a car wash within the Scenic Overlay (SOV) District as stipulated by 
Section 6.8, Scenic Overlay (SOV) District, of Article V, District Development Standards, of the 
Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] on the Subject Property; and 

 SECTION 2. That the Subject Property shall be developed and/or used only in the manner 
and for the purposes described in this Specific Use Permit (SUP) ordinance, and as stipulated by 
Section 6.8, Scenic Overlay (SOV) District, Section 4.1, General Commercial District Standards, 
and Section 4.5, Commercial (C) District, of Article V, District Development Standards, of the 
Unified Development Code [Ordinance No. 04-38] as heretofore amended, as amended herein by 
granting of this zoning change, and as may be amended in the future, and shall be subject to the 
additional following conditions and compliance standards: 

87

12/21 motion to approve passed by a vote of 6 in favor with 1 against (Pruitt).

87



Z2015-031: Car Wash La Jolla Pointe Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-02;  S-141 

2.1 Operational Conditions 
 

The following conditions pertain to the operation of a car wash on the Subject Property, and 
conformance to these operational conditions are required for continued operations: 
 
1) The development of this property shall generally conform to the Concept Plan depicted in 

Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance; and, 
 

2) The car wash shall be setback a minimum of 50-feet from Ridge Road. 
 
 SECTION 3.  That the official zoning map of the City of Rockwall be corrected to reflect the 
changes described herein. 
 
 SECTION 4.  That all ordinances of the City of Rockwall in conflict with the provisions of 
this ordinance be, and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of that conflict. 
 
 SECTION 5. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 
ordinance shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by a 
penalty of fine not to exceed the sum of TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($2,000.00) for each offence 
and each and every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate 
offense. 
 
 SECTION 6. If any section of provision of this ordinance or the application of that section 
or provision to any person, firm, cooperation, situation or circumstance is for any reason judged 
invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the 
application of any other section or provision to any other person, firm, corporation, situation or 
circumstance, and the City Council declares that it would have to adopted the valid portions and 
applications of the ordinance without the invalid parts and to this end the provisions of this 
ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 7. That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 
and the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides. 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, THIS THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 
 
  Jim Pruitt, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:  
       1st Reading: 12-21-2015 
 
Kristy Cole, City Secretary     2nd Reading: 01-04-2016 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 
 
 

88
88



Exhibit ‘A’: Location Map & Legal Description 

Z2015-031: Car Wash La Jolla Pointe Page 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-02;  S-141 

89
89



Exhibit ‘B’: Concept Plan 

Z2015-031: Car Wash La Jolla Pointe Page 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-02;  S-141 

90
90



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

91
91



Amendments to Section 38-19; Code of Ordinances Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-03; 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-03 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, AMENDING SECTION 38-19, STREET IMPROVEMENTS AND 
OVERSIZING, OF CHAPTER 38, SUBDIVISIONS OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES AS SET FORTH HEREIN; PROVIDING FOR REPEALING, 
SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSES; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Rockwall, Texas, a Home Rule City, by State Law and the City’s 
Charter is permitted to establish ordinances to protect the health, safety and general welfare of its 
residents; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Rockwall, Texas has directed staff to increase the 
size of streets adjacent to schools and parks to allow for proper traffic circulation during peak usage 
hours; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 

Section 1.      That the Section 38-19(b), Street Improvements and Oversizing, of Article I, In 
General, of Chapter 38, Subdivisions, of the Code of Ordinances be hereby amended to henceforth 
read in its entirety as follows: 

(b) All new roads within proposed subdivisions shall, at a minimum, be built to a width and design 
which will adequately serve that subdivision. In addition, when required by the city in the interest of 
the community, the developer may be required to build larger streets to the width shown on the 
thoroughfare plan. If more than 48-feet (back of curb to back of curb) is constructed, the city will 
reimburse the developer for the excess width when funds become available, unless the additional 
width was required by the city engineer or traffic planner to adequately serve the needs of that 
subdivision. In cases were a street is adjacent to a school or public park, the city engineer or 
planner may require a 41-foot street (back of curb to back of curb) to facilitate proper traffic 
circulation.  Streets which dead-end at power lines, railroads, or similar rights-of-way, which are 
intended for future extension across these rights-of-way, shall be constructed in rights-of-way for 
half the distance across the rights-of-way. Where streets are adjacent to undeveloped land and the 
property line is normally the centerline of the street, the developer shall provide right-of-way of 
sufficient width and shall construct paving a minimum width of 24 feet, if deemed necessary by the 
city engineer or traffic planner. If the city, in the interest of the community, requires the subdivider 
to construct more than 24 feet, the city will reimburse the cost of the excess width to the developer 
who installed the paving, at the actual cost of construction, with no reimbursement for additional 
right-of-way which required to construct the additional paving in excess of 24 feet as funds are 
available. No reimbursement will be made, however, when the city engineer or traffic planner 
determines that the excess width is required to serve that subdivision. When, in the city council's 
judgment, it is not feasible to construct the street and/or railroad crossing at the time of 
development of the subdivision, escrow for the development of the subdivision, escrow for the 
developer's portion of the cost may be provided in accordance with this section. In the event the 
street and/or railroad crossing has been constructed or is being constructed by others, the 
developer shall pay his pro rata share of the improvements. Escrow or pro rata shall be payable 
prior to construction of streets and utilities. 

92

12/21 motion to approve passed by a vote of 4 in favor, 2 against (Milder and White), and
1 absent (Townsend).

92



Amendments to Section 38-19; Code of Ordinances Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-03; 

Section 2.      That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict; 

Section 3. That the Code of the City of Rockwall, Texas, as amended, shall remain in full 
force and effect, save and except as amended by this ordinance; 

Section 4.   That should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word of this 
ordinance be declared unconstitutional or invalid for any purpose by a court of competent jurisdiction, 
the remainder of this ordinance shall not be affected thereby, and to this end the provisions of this 
ordinance are declared to be severable; 

Section 5. That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and 
the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, THIS 

THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

Jim Pruitt, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

Kristy Cole, City Secretary 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

1st Reading:  12-21-2015 

2nd Reading: 01-04-2016 

93
93



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

94
94



1

Cole, Kristy

Subject: FW: Council Agenda Item Request

From: Crowley, Rick  
Sent: Tuesday, December 22, 2015 12:08 PM 
To: Scott Milder 
Cc: Pruitt, Jim; Cole, Kristy 
Subject: Re: Council Agenda Item Request 

Sent from my iPhone 

On Dec 22, 2015, at 10:29 AM, "Scott Milder" <smilder@fotps.org> wrote: 

Mr. Crowley, 

Please place item on the agenda for discussion and possible action on an amendment to the second 
reading of MISD2015‐003 to collect data on alternative solutions for the roadway designation of Goliad 
from downtown to East Fork, to include but not limited to considering the possibility of two through 
lanes, one north and one south, divided by a dedicated turn lane. This solution would be much more 
agreeable to the property owners along that corridor, would keep traffic moving along at a reduced 
speed, and would better preserve the small‐town approach leading into and out of downtown Rockwall 
on the north side.  

Thank you, 

Scott Milder 
214‐497‐6411 cell 

95
95



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Rick Crowley, City Manager 

DATE: December 30, 2015 

SUBJECT:  2015 Thoroughfare Plan Update 

As a supplement to the packet information from the Planning Department and the 
Thoroughfare Plan recommendations from the Planning and Zoning Commission, several things 
related to the Thoroughfare Plan amendment should be pointed out: 

SH205/North Goliad/John King Blvd. Route 
The adoption of these amendments would replace the six-lane divided roadway section for 
SH205/North Goliad (north of Downtown Rockwall) in the current Thoroughfare Plan with a 
four-lane divided section.  The amendments also include a six-lane roadway section for John 
King Blvd.  which would serve as the future route for SH205.  The use of John King Blvd as the 
ultimate route for SH205 is consistent with the position that the Council has adopted.   The 
City’s position has been provided to TxDoT as advance planning for that roadway (from Lavon 
to Terrell) which is underway at this time and with the recommendations that the City has 
been made to the County Consortium as revisions to the Rockwall County Thoroughfare Plan 
have been considered.   

The Consortium retained the North Central Texas Council of Governments (NCTCOG) to 
perform traffic analysis modeling as the update to the County Thoroughfare Plan has been 
developed.  NCTCOG projections and recommendations have indicated that the John King 
Route for SH205 works with the traffic projections and modeling that has been done to date – 
with SH205 being reduced from a six-lane section to a four-lane section.   This was HUGE in 
terms of lending credibility to the City’s recommendation to designate the John King Blvd. 
Route and providing justification for reducing North Goliad to less than six lanes.  The County 
Thoroughfare Plan, as is currently being considered by the County, does include the reduction 
on SH205 from six lanes to four and does include the ultimate six lane route along John King 
Blvd.  as the ultimate route for SH205.     

96
96



Councilmember Milder has requested an item on the agenda which, if approved, would likely 
commission a City study of further reducing the required width of North Goliad from the four-
lane section to a two-lane section with either a continuous turn lane or dedicated turn lanes. 
Such a study, in my view, would be necessary if the City is to provide evidence to the State and 
the County that the four-lane section (which the NCTCOG study indicated was needed) can be 
reduced further and still handle the traffic that will occur on that section of roadway.  I do not 
know if the study, if commissioned by the Council, will show that the further reduced section 
(to two lanes with continuous or dedicated turn lanes) will handle the traffic volume that will be 
on the roadway or not.    

Such a study would, however, be valuable to the City to provide information to the City as to 
whether a further reduced section will or will not handle the traffic volumes.   Factual data 
would be needed to convince TxDoT that the further reduction in North Goliad width is 
warranted, and the City will want assurance that a reduced roadway section will handle the 
future traffic volumes as well.   

Pushing for such a reduction without that factual data support might result, in my view,  in the 
John King Route for SH205 not being as seriously considered in the current TxDoT  planning 
efforts for that roadway.  It might also lead them to taking a position that the TxDoT technically 
preferred route would be a six-lane section on North Goliad or a one-way couplet using Goliad 
and Alamo Streets. 

With all of that being said, the City Council may want to consider adoption of the Thoroughfare 
Plan amendments which are currently being considered on second reading.  Doing so would at 
least solidify local planning to eliminate the six-lane section on North Goliad in favor of the 
proposed four-lane section.  We know that a two-lane section (with continuous or dedicated 
turn lanes) would be less intrusive to existing properties and business along North Goliad.  That 
being the case, the Council may want to consider commissioning the study proposed by 
Councilmember Milder to determine if that width reduction could  adequately handle the 
traffic projected for North Goliad in the future.  If the study indicates that it will, the City would 
then have evidence of that to present to TxDoT and others.  This, then, might be the basis for 
an additional Thoroughfare Plan amendment in the future.  

FM552 and FM3549        
The Council may recall that both FM3549 (Stodghill Rd.) and FM552 were previously slated in all 
Thoroughfare Plan documents to be six-lane roadways. 

In the case of FM3549, the right-of-way needed to expand the roadway to a six-lane roadway 
would have required the relocation of the large NTMWD reuse water line located adjacent to 
the existing right-of-way (in separate NTMWD right-of-way), and this would have also required 
the acquisition of new NTMWD right-of-way in which that line would have been relocated.  The 
extreme high cost of this relocation caused the question of whether a reduction to a four-lane 
section should be considered as a part of the NCTCOG traffic modeling work.  The NCTCOG 
study determined that the four-lane section on FM3549 would adequately handle the projected 

97
97



traffic volumes, and, therefore, the amendments being considered by the City with the current 
City Thoroughfare Plan update reflect FM3549 as a four-lane section.  TxDoT has agreed with 
this change.  

In the case of FM552, as indicated in both City and County thoroughfare planning documents, 
the advance planning work performed by the Consortium for that roadway was initially done to 
reflect a future six-lane roadway.   When the planning documents progressed to the point 
requisite for holding a TxDoT public meeting on the project, that meeting was held by TxDoT. 
Overwhelming citizen and property owner input strongly questioned the ultimate need for a 
six-lane roadway.  This public input resulted in the inclusion of FM552 in the NCTCOG traffic 
modeling study to determine if a four-lane section would handle the projected traffic volumes 
on the roadway.  The NCTCOG study concluded that a four-lane section would handle the 
projected traffic volumes.  As a result, the Consortium has commissioned revisions to the 
advance planning documents and the FM552 is included in the proposed thoroughfare plan 
update as a four-lane roadway.  TxDoT has agreed with this change.  

FM549 
FM549 (south of SH276) is and has been previously shown in adopted local thoroughfare 
planning documents as a future six-lane roadway.  Since advance planning was begun well 
before the County Thoroughfare update project, the advance planning work has been done in 
accordance with those adopted plans – six lanes.  When the advance planning documents 
reached the requisite stage of completion for TxDoT to hold a public meeting on the project, a 
public meeting on the project as a six-lane roadway was held.  This was last month.  NCTCOG 
traffic modeling study however, has indicated that the projected traffic volumes warrant a four-
lane section.  TxDoT has not yet compiled and distributed the public meeting input that was 
received.  

The proposed update to the City Thoroughfare plan includes FM549 as a four-lane roadway as 
indicated by the traffic modeling study and the proposed County Thoroughfare Plan Update. 
TxDoT has preliminarily indicated to me that they have stronger reservation about reducing the 
width of the roadway to four lanes on FM549 than they had for FM3549 and FM552. 

Adoption (if the Council is so inclined) of the proposed City Thoroughfare Plan Update as 
proposed should be done recognizing that there will be a future resolution of the inconsistency 
between the advance planning documents and the local thoroughfare planning documents. 
The inclusion of the four-lane section in the City Thoroughfare Plan update is supported by the 
NCTCOG traffic modeling study and is consistent with the proposed update to the County 
Thoroughfare Plan.        

98
98



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

99
99



MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Rick Crowley, City Manager 

DATE: December 30, 2015 

SUBJECT:  2015 Thoroughfare Plan Update 

As a supplement to the packet information from the Planning Department and the 
Thoroughfare Plan recommendations from the Planning and Zoning Commission, several things 
related to the Thoroughfare Plan amendment should be pointed out: 

SH205/North Goliad/John King Blvd. Route 
The adoption of these amendments would replace the six-lane divided roadway section for 
SH205/North Goliad (north of Downtown Rockwall) in the current Thoroughfare Plan with a 
four-lane divided section.  The amendments also include a six-lane roadway section for John 
King Blvd.  which would serve as the future route for SH205.  The use of John King Blvd as the 
ultimate route for SH205 is consistent with the position that the Council has adopted.   The 
City’s position has been provided to TxDoT as advance planning for that roadway (from Lavon 
to Terrell) which is underway at this time and with the recommendations that the City has 
been made to the County Consortium as revisions to the Rockwall County Thoroughfare Plan 
have been considered.   

The Consortium retained the North Central Texas Council of Governments (NCTCOG) to 
perform traffic analysis modeling as the update to the County Thoroughfare Plan has been 
developed.  NCTCOG projections and recommendations have indicated that the John King 
Route for SH205 works with the traffic projections and modeling that has been done to date – 
with SH205 being reduced from a six-lane section to a four-lane section.   This was HUGE in 
terms of lending credibility to the City’s recommendation to designate the John King Blvd. 
Route and providing justification for reducing North Goliad to less than six lanes.  The County 
Thoroughfare Plan, as is currently being considered by the County, does include the reduction 
on SH205 from six lanes to four and does include the ultimate six lane route along John King 
Blvd.  as the ultimate route for SH205.     

100

Note: this is a duplicate memo (also included w/ previous agenda item)

100



Councilmember Milder has requested an item on the agenda which, if approved, would likely 
commission a City study of further reducing the required width of North Goliad from the four-
lane section to a two-lane section with either a continuous turn lane or dedicated turn lanes.  
Such a study, in my view, would be necessary if the City is to provide evidence to the State and 
the County that the four-lane section (which the NCTCOG study indicated was needed) can be 
reduced further and still handle the traffic that will occur on that section of roadway.  I do not 
know if the study, if commissioned by the Council, will show that the further reduced section 
(to two lanes with continuous or dedicated turn lanes) will handle the traffic volume that will be 
on the roadway or not.    
 
Such a study would, however, be valuable to the City to provide information to the City as to 
whether a further reduced section will or will not handle the traffic volumes.   Factual data 
would be needed to convince TxDoT that the further reduction in North Goliad width is 
warranted, and the City will want assurance that a reduced roadway section will handle the 
future traffic volumes as well.   
 
Pushing for such a reduction without that factual data support might result, in my view,  in the 
John King Route for SH205 not being as seriously considered in the current TxDoT  planning 
efforts for that roadway.  It might also lead them to taking a position that the TxDoT technically 
preferred route would be a six-lane section on North Goliad or a one-way couplet using Goliad 
and Alamo Streets. 
 
With all of that being said, the City Council may want to consider adoption of the Thoroughfare 
Plan amendments which are currently being considered on second reading.  Doing so would at 
least solidify local planning to eliminate the six-lane section on North Goliad in favor of the 
proposed four-lane section.  We know that a two-lane section (with continuous or dedicated 
turn lanes) would be less intrusive to existing properties and business along North Goliad.  That 
being the case, the Council may want to consider commissioning the study proposed by 
Councilmember Milder to determine if that width reduction could  adequately handle the 
traffic projected for North Goliad in the future.  If the study indicates that it will, the City would 
then have evidence of that to present to TxDoT and others.  This, then, might be the basis for 
an additional Thoroughfare Plan amendment in the future.  
 
FM552 and FM3549                    
The Council may recall that both FM3549 (Stodghill Rd.) and FM552 were previously slated in all 
Thoroughfare Plan documents to be six-lane roadways. 
   
In the case of FM3549, the right-of-way needed to expand the roadway to a six-lane roadway 
would have required the relocation of the large NTMWD reuse water line located adjacent to 
the existing right-of-way (in separate NTMWD right-of-way), and this would have also required 
the acquisition of new NTMWD right-of-way in which that line would have been relocated.  The 
extreme high cost of this relocation caused the question of whether a reduction to a four-lane 
section should be considered as a part of the NCTCOG traffic modeling work.  The NCTCOG 
study determined that the four-lane section on FM3549 would adequately handle the projected 

101
101



traffic volumes, and, therefore, the amendments being considered by the City with the current 
City Thoroughfare Plan update reflect FM3549 as a four-lane section.  TxDoT has agreed with 
this change.  

In the case of FM552, as indicated in both City and County thoroughfare planning documents, 
the advance planning work performed by the Consortium for that roadway was initially done to 
reflect a future six-lane roadway.   When the planning documents progressed to the point 
requisite for holding a TxDoT public meeting on the project, that meeting was held by TxDoT. 
Overwhelming citizen and property owner input strongly questioned the ultimate need for a 
six-lane roadway.  This public input resulted in the inclusion of FM552 in the NCTCOG traffic 
modeling study to determine if a four-lane section would handle the projected traffic volumes 
on the roadway.  The NCTCOG study concluded that a four-lane section would handle the 
projected traffic volumes.  As a result, the Consortium has commissioned revisions to the 
advance planning documents and the FM552 is included in the proposed thoroughfare plan 
update as a four-lane roadway.  TxDoT has agreed with this change.  

FM549 
FM549 (south of SH276) is and has been previously shown in adopted local thoroughfare 
planning documents as a future six-lane roadway.  Since advance planning was begun well 
before the County Thoroughfare update project, the advance planning work has been done in 
accordance with those adopted plans – six lanes.  When the advance planning documents 
reached the requisite stage of completion for TxDoT to hold a public meeting on the project, a 
public meeting on the project as a six-lane roadway was held.  This was last month.  NCTCOG 
traffic modeling study however, has indicated that the projected traffic volumes warrant a four-
lane section.  TxDoT has not yet compiled and distributed the public meeting input that was 
received.  

The proposed update to the City Thoroughfare plan includes FM549 as a four-lane roadway as 
indicated by the traffic modeling study and the proposed County Thoroughfare Plan Update. 
TxDoT has preliminarily indicated to me that they have stronger reservation about reducing the 
width of the roadway to four lanes on FM549 than they had for FM3549 and FM552. 

Adoption (if the Council is so inclined) of the proposed City Thoroughfare Plan Update as 
proposed should be done recognizing that there will be a future resolution of the inconsistency 
between the advance planning documents and the local thoroughfare planning documents. 
The inclusion of the four-lane section in the City Thoroughfare Plan update is supported by the 
NCTCOG traffic modeling study and is consistent with the proposed update to the County 
Thoroughfare Plan.        

102
102



MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-04 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, ADOPTING REVISIONS TO THE MASTER 
THOROUGHFARE PLAN CONTAINED WITHIN THE 
TRANSPORTATION SECTION, ADD A STREET CROSS SECTION FOR 
A M4U-M (MINOR ARTERIAL, FOUR [4] LANE, UNDIVIDED ROADWAY, 
MODIFIED), AND MODIFY EXISTING STREET CROSS SECTIONS IN 
APPENDIX ‘D’, THOROUGHFARE CROSS SECTIONS, OF THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY’S HOME 
RULE CHARTER. 

WHEREAS, the Home Rule Charter of the City of Rockwall, Texas, states that the 
Comprehensive Plan will contain recommendations for the growth, development and beautification 
of the City and its Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Rockwall has previously authorized a study to 
update the Comprehensive Plan, also referred to as the Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the citizens of the City of Rockwall were involved in the development of the 
Comprehensive Plan through participation in committee and public meetings; and 

WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan shall serve as a guide to all future Council action 
concerning land use and development regulations and expenditures for capital improvements; and 

WHEREAS, Section 213.003, Adoption or Amendment of Comprehensive Plan, of Chapter 
213, Municipal Comprehensive Plans, of the Texas Local Government Code states that the 
adoption of or amendment to a Comprehensive Plan requires a hearing at which the public is given 
the opportunity to give testimony and present written evidence and as required by the Home Rule 
Charter of the City of Rockwall a public hearing has been held on the proposed revisions to the 
Comprehensive Plan, and the governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion, has 
concluded that the Comprehensive Plan should be amended as follows: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 

Section 1. That the Master Thoroughfare Plan contained within the Transportation 
section of the City’s Comprehensive Plan be amended as depicted in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance; 
and  

Section 2. That Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan be amended to include a street cross section for a M4U-M (minor arterial, four 
[4] lane, undivided roadway, modified) as depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance; and 

Section 3. That Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan be amended as depicted in Exhibit ‘C’ of this ordinance; and 

Section 4.   That the Comprehensive Plan shall be used by the City Staff in the planning 
and as a guide for the future development of the City of Rockwall; and 

Section 5.   That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 

103

12/21 motion to approve passed by a vote of 6 in favor with 1 against (Milder).

103



MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

and the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 

THIS THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 
 
 

      
 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

    
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

    
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 
 

1st Reading:  12-21-2015 
 
2nd Reading: 01-04-2016 

104
104



Exhibit ‘A’ 
Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

105
105



Exhibit ‘A’ 
Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

106
106



Exhibit ‘B’ 
M4U-M Cross Section 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 5 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

107
107



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 6 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

108
108



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 7 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

 
 

109
109



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 8 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

110
110



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 9 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

 

111
111



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 10 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

 

112
112



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 11 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

 

113
113



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 12 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

 

114
114



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 13 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

 

115
115



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 14 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-04; 

 

 

116
116



 
 

MIS2015-003: Amend. to the Master Thoroughfare Plan Page | 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 

 
CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 
MEMORANDUM   

 
   

 

TO: Mayor and City Council 
  
CC: Rick Crowley, City Manager 
 Brad Griggs, Assistant City Manager 
 
FROM:  Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning 
  
DATE: December 21, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: MIS2015-003; Amendment to Master Thoroughfare Plan  
 

 
In May 2014, Rockwall County initiated a review of the County Master Thoroughfare Plan with the 
assistance of city staff.  Recently, the County has completed this review and requested staff codify the 
proposed changes into the City’s Master Thoroughfare Plan prior to the County’s adoption of the County 
Thoroughfare Plan.  In addition, City staff has also been assisting the North Central Texas Council of 
Governments (NCTCOG) with the 2014 Amendment to the Mobility 2035 & 2040 studies.  Through both 
these programs and through a review of the City’s current Master Thoroughfare Plan, staff has identified 
several additional adjustments to local roadways that should be adopted to account for current and future 
development.  These changes have been outlined in the revised Master Thoroughfare Plan attached to 
this memorandum. 
 
In addition, staff is proposing that a new roadway cross section be adopted for the area between East 
Fork Drive and the SH-205 couplet in the downtown area.  This new roadway cross section is identified 
as a M4U-M (minor arterial, four [4] lane, undivided roadway, modified), which will consist of 85-feet of 
right-of-way (i.e. four [4], 12-foot travel lanes; one [1], 16-foot reversible lane; two [2], 10½-foot parkways; 
and, two [2], one [1] foot curbs).  Staff has also taken this amendment as an opportunity to address 
various changes and updates within Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, of the Comprehensive 
Plan. 
 
According to Section 213.003 of the Texas Local Government Code, “(a) comprehensive plan may be 
adopted or amended by ordinance following: 
 
1) A hearing at which the public is given the opportunity to give testimony and present written evidence; 

and 
 

2) Review by the municipality’s planning commission or department, if one exists.” 
 
Additionally, Section 9.03 of the City’s Home Rule Charter states that “(r)ecommended changes to the 
Master Plan shall be submitted to the City Manager after the Planning and Zoning Commission holds at 
least one [1] public hearing on the proposed change.”  Furthermore, Section 9.04 states that the “City 
Manager shall submit the proposed changes to the Council, together with any recommendations.  The 
Council, after a public hearing, shall adopt or reject such proposed revision or any part thereof as 
submitted within sixty (60) days following its submission by the City Manager.  If the proposed revision or 
part thereof should be rejected by the Council, the Planning and Zoning Commission may make 
modifications and again forward it to the City Manager for submission to the Council.”  On December 8, 
2015, the Planning and Zoning Commission approved a motion to recommend approval of the proposed 
Comprehensive Plan Amendment by a vote of 7-0. 
 
The City Council will be required to hold a public hearing prior to taking action on this case.  Staff will be 
available to answer any additional questions. 

117
117



118
118



OU
TE

R L
OO

P (
PR

OP
OS

ED
)

OUTER LOOP (PROPOSED)

OUTER LOOP (PROPOSED)

Rowlett

Mobile City

HORIZON

McLendon-Chisholm

Dallas

Heath

Heath

Royse
City

Fate

E RUSK ST

SH 276

WINDHAM DR

VILLAGEDR

PA
RK

PL
AC

E
BL

VD
WILLIAMS ST

S F
AN

NI
N 

ST

HORIZON RD

DO
WE

LL
RD

ASHB OURNED R

PR
OM

EN
AD

E
PL

CARUTH LN

FAIRCREST DR

STEGERTOWNE DR

W RUSK ST

JUSTIN RD

N 
CL

AR
K 

ST

COUNTY LINE RD

TANNERSON DR

TUBBS RD

RIDGEROAD WEST

WATERWAY

AIRPORT RD

RA
NC

H T
RA

IL
RD

RE
NF

RO

ST

S
LAKESHO RE

D R

RIDGE
RD

S CLARK ST

CHAMPIONS DR

FM 552

S F
AN

NI
N ST

E QUAIL RUN RD

TRAILVIE W DR

FM 549

LA
KEVIEW
DR

SUM MIT RIDGEDR

MIMS RD

WHITE HILL
DR

RALPH HALL PKWY

DALTON RD

E QUAI L RU
N

RD

FM 550

TU
BB

S RD

EAST FORK DR

SJOHN KING
BLV D

IN
DU

S T
RIA

L
BL

VD
W RUSK ST

TO
WN

SE
ND

DR

ARISTARD

SOUTHW ESTERN
D R

FM
 11

41

LA

GUNA

DR

RO
CK

WA
LL

PK
WY

DA
TA

 D
R

DA

MAS

CUS
RD

S GOLIAD ST

BORDEAUX DR

RO
CH

EL
L R

D

MAR KET

CENTER DR

GREEN CIR

PEC ANVALLY DR

KYLE DRGREENCREST

BLVD

E SH 66

SECURITY DR

FM
 11

41

FM 549

TECHNOLOGYWAY

RO
CH

EL
L 

RD

FM 549

HA
YS

 RD

WHITE RD

FM 1141

N JOHN
KING

BLV D

SIDS RD

E QUAIL RUN RD

OLD SH 276

FM 549

BREEZY HILL 2

S TOWNSEND DR

FM 1139

LAKES SOMERSET DR

NORTH COUNTRY LN

CULLINS RD

BREEZY HILL 1

BL
AC

KL
AN

D 
DR

SPRINGER RD

SH 276

CORNELIUS RD

FM
 55

1

DISCOVERY BLVD

E SH 66

JUSTIN RD

OU
TE

R 
LO

OP

JO
HN

KIN
G

BL
VD

FM
 54

8

FM
 55

0

SMITH RD

FM 54
9

FM 740

BE
N P

AY
NE

 R
D

SH 205

FM 2755

OUTER LOOP

FM 550

SH 66

RID
GERD

S GOLIAD ST

SH
OR

ES
BL

VD

N LAKESHORE DR

N

LAKESHORE DR

YACHT CL

UBDR

YACHT CLUB DR

N
FA

NN
IN

ST

MEM ORIAL DR

HIGHLAND DR

TU
BB

S
RD

PA
NH

AN
DL

E DR

TOWNSEND RD

ANNA CADE RD

AN
NA

CA
DE

RD

HUN T

LN

SU
MMER LEE DR

S F
M 

54
9

S FM 549

AL
AM

O 
RD

JEFF
BOYD DR

N FM
3549

N 
FM

 35
49

CO
RP

OR
AT

E C
RO

SS
IN

G

ST
AB

LE
GL

EN
 D

R

ME
M

ORIAL
DR

RE
NE

E D
R

RO
CH

EL
L 

RD
RO

CH
EL

L 
RD

SMITH RD

SMITH RD

GR
EE

N 
CI

R

HIGHLANDS BLVD

DISCOVERY BLVD

POETRY RD

OLD FM 55
0

FM
 54

8

OU
TE

R 
LO

OP

OUTER LOOP

FM
 55

1

FM 551

"740

"3097

"552

"740

"550

"551

"552

"1138

"1141
"2453

"35

"550

"549

"1139

"549

"550

"3549

"3549

Æÿ66

Æÿ66

Æÿ205

Æÿ205

Æÿ276

Æÿ205

Æÿ276

Æÿ66

Æÿ276

§̈¦30

§̈¦30

§̈¦30

City of Rockwall Thoroughfare PlanCity of Rockwall Thoroughfare Plan

"552FM 552

N JOHN KING BLVD

BREEZY HILL 1

BREEZY HILL 2

AN
NA

 C
AD

E R
D

AN
NA

 C
AD

E R
D

ANNA CADE RD

b
INSET

µ

TYPICAL CROSS SECTIONS

P6D

Minor Collector

M4D

M4U

TxDOT 6D

B-B

25' B-B

B-B

B-B

M4U-M

² 0 0.55 1.10.275
Miles

The City of Rockwall GIS maps are continually under development and
therefore subject to change without notice. While we endeavor to provide
timely and accurate information, we make no guarantees.
The City of Rockwall makes no warranty, express or implied, including 
warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose.
Use of the information is the sole responsibility of the user.

Planning Boundary

MAP LEGEND

Ponds

I.H. 30

Outer Loop

Open Space

P6D

P3U

Minor Collector

TxDOT 6D

SH 66 Corridor

M4D

M4U

ROADWAY CLASS

For more information please visit
 

or call (972) 771-7745
http://www.rockwall.com/Planning/

M4U-M

119
119



120
120



N 
FA

NN
IN

 ST

OLIVE ST

HEATH ST

WILLIAMS ST

MARGARET ST

CORNELIA ST

LILLIAN ST

EAST FORK DR

KE
RN

OD
LE

ST

HARRIS DR

LIVE OAK ST

JACKSON ST

N 
WE

ST 
ST

WILD
WOOD TER

RACE

DARRIN DR

CODY PL

JACOB CROSSING

N 
AL

AM
O 

RD

N 
GO

LIA
D 

ST

HOLLI L N

ELM
DR

WILDWOOD LN

CH
AD

 W
AY

KA
Y

DR

31
2

602

31
7

30
8

31
031
2

911

901

990

301

31
0312

20
4

303

999

30
6

10
10

10
08

100
6

1004

10
02

1009

1011

22
4

22
222
0

511

19
3

311

975

704

702 701

603

31
6

504

50
6

319
304

302

30
430
8

509

507

505

503

925

208

915

917

90
9

306

913

19
7

20
6

952

216

214

212

21020
8

20
6

30
2

901

909

911

910

603

1001

923

921

31
832
0322

30
9 30
7

305 303

301

402

21
1

21
3

505

21
2

209

20
1

19
6 20
4

1027

1025

1023

703

703

705

30
2

601

605

909

310

308

401
395

1266

1260

608

606

604

505

20
920
7

501

1001

1003

1005

1030

1028

1031

1029

404

502

95
5

19
5

998

20
2

19
8

20
0

202

20
7

997

905

907

401

1005

805

21
0

80
3

80
7

903

994

20
8

20
520
3

19
9

303

20
3

19
9

218

22
1

11
7 20311
9

948

810

604

606
607

705

703

10
71 10
65

10
59

204

506

602

805

807

1025

406

964

968

974

978

21
7

1079

1001

1003

31
0

30
5

707

803

805

807

815

905
96
0

956

1015

501
302

21
9

1009

22
1

20
6

21
0

21
4

21
1

213

1024

1026

1007

204

20
6

906

20
8

986

982

21921
5

21
1

900

902

904
906 908

19
4

506

508

501

908 907

601

30
1

811

808

80380
6

801

19
8

20
2

1000

99
8

993

99
5

21
5

1003

903

919

10
53 10
45

21
9217

60
1

809

802

11
5

20
7

20
3

19
9

502

951

50
3

40
5

501

401

20
0

19
6

19
2

906

505

507508

917

919922

923

908

91
8

92
4

40540
6

502 501

501.5

504

905

60
2

503

506

604

706

907

902

302

11
3

304

904

506

201

802

804

806

602

604

702

704

81
2

92
5

307

305301

708

503

405

808

810

812

302

60
4

202

301

303

705

802

803

710

70
3

60
3

801

401

306

308

302

30
6

30
4

30
6

40
2

30
8

303

912

94
7

94
4

906

908

808

805

811

807

809810

10211033

20
1

915

91
2

909910

911

406

10
5

404

502

504

¯
NORTH GOLIAD ST

ROW EXHIBIT
City of
Rockwall 1 inch  = 200 feet

Legend
85 ft Buffer

The data represented on th is map was obtained with  th e best meth ods
available. Data is supplied from various sources and accuracy may be out
of th e City of Rockwall’s control. Th e verification of accuracy and / or
content lies entirely with  th e end user. Th e City of Rockwall does not
guarantee th e accuracy of contained information. All Information is provided
‘As Is’ with  no warranty being made, eith er expressed or implied.Date: 11/20/2015

0 100 20050 Feet

High ligh ted Buildings
are with in 10 ft of buffer
but do not intersect it.

121
121



122
122



123
123



124
124



125
125



126
126



127
127



128
128



129
129



130
130



MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, ADOPTING REVISIONS TO THE MASTER 
THOROUGHFARE PLAN CONTAINED WITHIN THE TRANSPORTATION 
SECTION, ADD A STREET CROSS SECTION FOR A M4U-M (MINOR 
ARTERIAL, FOUR [4] LANE, UNDIVIDED ROADWAY, MODIFIED), AND 
MODIFY EXISTING STREET CROSS SECTIONS IN APPENDIX ‘D’, 
THOROUGHFARE CROSS SECTIONS, OF THE COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY’S HOME RULE CHARTER. 

WHEREAS, the Home Rule Charter of the City of Rockwall, Texas, states that the Comprehensive 
Plan will contain recommendations for the growth, development and beautification of the City and its 
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Rockwall has previously authorized a study to update the 
Comprehensive Plan, also referred to as the Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, the citizens of the City of Rockwall were involved in the development of the 
Comprehensive Plan through participation in committee and public meetings; and 

WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan shall serve as a guide to all future Council action concerning 
land use and development regulations and expenditures for capital improvements; and 

WHEREAS, Section 213.003, Adoption or Amendment of Comprehensive Plan, of Chapter 213, 
Municipal Comprehensive Plans, of the Texas Local Government Code states that the adoption of 
or amendment to a Comprehensive Plan requires a hearing at which the public is given the 
opportunity to give testimony and present written evidence and as required by the Home Rule 
Charter of the City of Rockwall a public hearing has been held on the proposed revisions to the 
Comprehensive Plan, and the governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion, has 
concluded that the Comprehensive Plan should be amended as follows: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS: 

Section 1. That the Master Thoroughfare Plan contained within the Transportation section of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan be amended as depicted in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance; and  

Section 2. That Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, of the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
be amended to include a street cross section for a M4U-M (minor arterial, four [4] lane, undivided 
roadway, modified) as depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance; and 

Section 3. That Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, of the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
be amended as depicted in Exhibit ‘C’ of this ordinance; and 

Section 4.   That the Comprehensive Plan shall be used by the City Staff in the planning and as a 
guide for the future development of the City of Rockwall; and 

Section 5.   That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and the 
publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides. 

131

1st reading (draft) ord. from 12/21

131



MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 
THIS THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

 
 

      
 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

    
Kristy Ashberry, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

    
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 
 

1st Reading:  December 21, 2015 
 
2nd Reading: January 4, 2016 

132
132



Exhibit ‘A’ 
Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

133
133



Exhibit ‘A’ 
Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

134
134



Exhibit ‘B’ 
M4U-M Cross Section 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 5 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

135
135



136
136



137
137



138
138



139
139



140
140



141
141



142
142



143
143



144
144



MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 1 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 CITY OF ROCKWALL 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-XX 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, ADOPTING REVISIONS TO THE MASTER 
THOROUGHFARE PLAN CONTAINED WITHIN THE TRANSPORTATION 
SECTION, ADD A STREET CROSS SECTION FOR A M4U-M (MINOR 
ARTERIAL, FOUR [4] LANE, UNDIVIDED ROADWAY, MODIFIED), AND 
MODIFY EXISTING STREET CROSS SECTIONS IN APPENDIX ‘D’, 
THOROUGHFARE CROSS SECTIONS, OF THE COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY’S HOME RULE CHARTER. 

 
WHEREAS, the Home Rule Charter of the City of Rockwall, Texas, states that the Comprehensive 
Plan will contain recommendations for the growth, development and beautification of the City and its 
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ); and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Rockwall has previously authorized a study to update the 
Comprehensive Plan, also referred to as the Comprehensive Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the citizens of the City of Rockwall were involved in the development of the 
Comprehensive Plan through participation in committee and public meetings; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan shall serve as a guide to all future Council action concerning 
land use and development regulations and expenditures for capital improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 213.003, Adoption or Amendment of Comprehensive Plan, of Chapter 213, 
Municipal Comprehensive Plans, of the Texas Local Government Code states that the adoption of 
or amendment to a Comprehensive Plan requires a hearing at which the public is given the 
opportunity to give testimony and present written evidence and as required by the Home Rule 
Charter of the City of Rockwall a public hearing has been held on the proposed revisions to the 
Comprehensive Plan, and the governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion, has 
concluded that the Comprehensive Plan should be amended as follows: 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS: 
 
Section 1. That the Master Thoroughfare Plan contained within the Transportation section of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan be amended as depicted in Exhibit ‘A’ of this ordinance; and  
 
Section 2. That Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, of the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
be amended to include a street cross section for a M4U-M (minor arterial, four [4] lane, undivided 
roadway, modified) as depicted in Exhibit ‘B’ of this ordinance; and 
 
Section 3. That Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, of the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
be amended as depicted in Exhibit ‘C’ of this ordinance; and 
 
Section 4.   That the Comprehensive Plan shall be used by the City Staff in the planning and as a 
guide for the future development of the City of Rockwall; and 
 
Section 5.   That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage and the 
publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such cases provides. 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

145
145



MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 2 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, 
THIS THE 4TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2016. 

 
 

      
 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

    
Kristy Ashberry, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 

    
Frank J. Garza, City Attorney 

 
 
 

1st Reading:  December 21, 2015 
 
2nd Reading: January 4, 2016 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

146
146



Exhibit ‘A’ 
Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 3 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

147
147



Exhibit ‘A’ 
Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 4 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

148
148



Exhibit ‘B’ 
M4U-M Cross Section 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 5 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

149
149



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 6 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 
D

R
A

FT
  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

150
150



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 7 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

 
 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

151
151



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 8 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 
D

R
A

FT
  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

152
152



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 9 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

153
153



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 10 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

154
154



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 11 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

155
155



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 12 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

156
156



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 13 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

157
157



Exhibit ‘C’ 
Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections 

 

MIS2015-003: Master Thoroughfare Plan Amendment Page 14 City of Rockwall, Texas 
Ordinance No. 16-XX; 

 

 

D
R

A
FT

  

O
R

D
IN

A
N

C
E 

12
.2

1.
20

15
 

158
158



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

159
159



 
CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 
MEMORANDUM   

 
   

 

TO: Mayor and City Council 
  
CC: Rick Crowley, City Manager 
 Brad Griggs, Assistant City Manager 
 
FROM:  Ryan Miller, Director of Planning and Zoning 
  
DATE: January 4, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Structure Preservation Tax Exemption (602 Williams Street) 
              
 
Ordinance No. 03-28 was drafted in 2003 with the intent of providing an incentive program for 
redevelopment within the “Old Town” Rockwall (OTR) Historic District, Southside Residential 
Neighborhood Overlay (SRO) District and designated Landmark properties.  In accordance with 
this ordinance the applicant, Price Pointer, is requesting to have the assessed value for ad 
valorem taxation “frozen” for a period of five (5) years on the subject property at 602 Williams 
Street for the purpose of upgrading the electrical system in the existing single-family home.  
Specifically, the applicant has submitted a quote indicating that an investment of $5,700.00 will 
be made for the purpose of installing a new electrical panel and making various wiring 
improvements to the existing electrical system.  The applicant has also provided staff with a 
copy of the home inspection report that was performed at the time the property was purchased.  
A copy of the quote and inspection report has been provided in the attached packet.   
 
According to Ordinance No. 03-28 a tax abatement of five (5) years can be approved, “…if the 
amount of the increment project is $5,000.00 of greater.”  In this case, the current taxable value 
of the subject property is $578,870.00.  If the City Council chooses to approve the applicants’ 
request then the effective tax rate for the subject property would be fixed at this amount for a 
period of five (5) years.  The applicant has provided all required supporting information 
stipulated by the ordinance including a legal description, proof of title, an owner’s affidavit, and a 
tax certificate verifying that all current taxes have been paid.  Should the request be approved 
the applicant would be required to submit a sworn statement of completion, at the conclusion of 
the proposed work, acknowledging that the electrical system has been upgraded in compliance 
with the quote submitted to staff.  Additionally, the applicant shall be required to provide staff 
with documentation verifying the total cost of all electrical improvements.  All information will be 
verified prior to staff notifying the Rockwall County Central Appraisal District’s (RCAD’s) Chief 
Appraiser of the applicable ad valorem tax exemption. 
 
Should the City Council have any questions concerning the scope of work the applicant will be 
present at the meeting.  Staff will also be available to answer any technical questions 
concerning the request. 

160
160



CLA
RK

RUSK

WILLIAMS

LILLIAN

NA
SH

KAUFMAN

PA
RK

S

AU
STI

N

TYL
ER

CORNELIA

INTERURBAN

SA
N A

NT
ON

IO

MARGARET

SQUABBLE CREEK

NA
SH

SF-7

GR

The City of Rockwall GIS maps are continually under development
and therefore subject to change without notice. While we endeavor 

to provide timely and accurate information, we make no
guarantees. The City of Rockwall makes no warranty, express

or implied, including warranties of merchantability and fitness for a
particular purpose. Use of the information is the sole responsibility of

the user.

City of Rockwall

0 110 220 330 44055
Feet

Planning & Zoning Department
385 S. Goliad Street
Rockwall, Texas 75032
(P): (972) 771-7745
(W): www.rockwall.com I161

161



162
162



163
163



164
164



165
165



12/30/2015 Property Search and Tax Payment

http://esearch.rockwallcad.com/Property/View/14396 1/6

Property Search and Tax Payment

 Map

Property ID: 14396 For Year 2015

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geog…

 Property Details

Account

Property ID: 14396

Legal Description: B F BOYDSTON, BLOCK E 1/2 121, LOT A, ACRES .907

Geographic ID: 3140-0121-0000-A0-0R

Agent  Code:

Type: Real

Location

Address: 602 WILLIAMS ST

Map ID: 2-3

Neighborhood CD: N3600

Owner

Owner ID: 1053270

Name: TEINERT JAY G & JULIE A

Mailing Address: 602 WILLIAMS ST
ROCKWALL, TX 75087-2611

% Ownership: 100.0%

Exemptions: HS - Homestead
For privacy reasons not all exemptions are shown online.

166
166



12/30/2015 Property Search and Tax Payment

http://esearch.rockwallcad.com/Property/View/14396 2/6

 Property Taxing Jurisdiction
Entity Description Tax Rate Market  Value Taxable Value Estimated Tax Freeze Ceiling

CAD ROCKWALL CAD 0.000000 $578,870 $578,870 $0.00

CRW CITY OF ROCKWALL 0.485300 $578,870 $578,870 $2,809.26

GRW ROCKWALL COUNTY 0.395900 $578,870 $578,870 $2,291.75

SRW ROCKWALL ISD 1.440000 $578,870 $553,870 $7,975.73

Total Tax Rate:  2.321200 Estimated Taxes With Exemptions:  $13,076.73 Estimated Taxes Without  Exemptions:
$13,436.73

 Property Values
Improvement  Homesite Value: $533,430

Improvement  Non-Homesite Value: $440

Land Homesite Value: $45,000

Land Non-Homesite Value: $0

Agricultural Market  Valuation: $0

 

Market  Value: $578,870

Ag Use Value: $0

 

Appraised Value: $578,870

HS Cap: $0

 

Assessed Value: $578,870

DISCLAIMER:  Information provided for research purposes only. Legal descriptions and acreage amounts are for appraisal district
use only and should be verified prior to using for legal purpose and or documents. Please contact the Appraisal District to verify all
information for accuracy.

167
167



12/30/2015 Property Search and Tax Payment

http://esearch.rockwallcad.com/Property/View/14396 3/6

 Property Improvement  Building

Type:  RESIDENTIAL State Code:  A1 Living Area:  4,623.00sqft Value:  $381,230

Type Description Class CD Year Built SQFT

MA MAIN AREA VM3P 1935 2,955.00

MA MAIN AREA VM3P 1935 1,668.00

PA PATIO - 20% (REGULAR) VM3P 1935 360.00

PA PATIO - 20% (REGULAR) VM3P 1935 120.00

Type:  RESIDENTIAL State Code:  A1 Living Area:  1,049.00sqft Value:  $152,200

Type Description Class CD Exterior Wall Year Built SQFT

MA MAIN AREA VW4P 36 1995 506.00

MA MAIN AREA VW4P 36 1995 253.00

MA MAIN AREA VW4P 36 1995 290.00

AG ATTACHED GARAGE VW4P 1995 1,360.00

BA BALCONY VW4P 1995 110.00

CP COVERED PORCH VW4P 1995 30.00

Type:  MISC IMP State Code:  A1 Living Area:  0.00sqft Value:  $440

Type Description Class CD Year Built SQFT

ST STORAGE * 1995 0.00

 Property Land
Type Description Acres Sqft Eff  Front Eff  Depth Market  Value Prod. Value

A1 RES SFR NON WF 0.91 39,880.00 180.20 221.31 $45,000 $0

168
168



12/30/2015 Property Search and Tax Payment

http://esearch.rockwallcad.com/Property/View/14396 4/6

 Property Roll Value History
Year Improvements Land Market Ag Valuation Appraised HS Cap Assessed

2016 N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A

2015 $533,870 $45,000 $0 $578,870 $0 $578,870

2014 $539,380 $45,000 $0 $584,380 $0 $584,380

2013 $559,160 $45,000 $0 $604,160 $0 $604,160

2012 $565,020 $45,000 $0 $610,020 $0 $610,020

2011 $581,620 $45,000 $0 $626,620 $0 $626,620

2010 $420,330 $45,000 $0 $465,330 $0 $465,330

2009 $408,460 $45,000 $0 $453,460 $0 $453,460

2008 $415,930 $45,000 $0 $460,930 $23,471 $437,459

2007 $355,690 $42,000 $0 $397,690 $0 $397,690

 Property Deed History
Deed Date Type Description Grantor Grantee Volume Page Number

12/10/2015 WD WARRANTY
DEED

TEINERT JAY G & JULIE
A

POINTER PRICE AND
TAYLOR

2015 0000019834

12/10/2010 WD WARRANTY
DEED

SMITH PEGGY JEAN
PANNELL

TEINERT JAY G & JULIE
A

6312 290 443291

7/21/2009 EXDE EXECUTOR'S
DEED

SMITH GLEN A SMITH PEGGY JEAN
PANNELL

5857 90 2009-
00419598

11/22/1993 WD WARRANTY
DEED

TATUM MARIE BREWER SMITH GLEN A 847 36 0

11/16/1992 WD WARRANTY
DEED

SPEIGHTS R J TATUM MARIE BREWER 740 197 0

OT SPEIGHTS R J 0

169
169



12/30/2015 Property Search and Tax Payment

http://esearch.rockwallcad.com/Property/View/14396 5/6

 Estimated Tax Due

NOTE:  Indicated amount due may not reflect delinquent tax due beyond a 5 year history. Partial payments or contract
payments may not be reflected. Quarterly payments according to Section 31.031 of the Texas Property Tax Code are not
considered delinquent. For the most current tax due amount please contact the Appraisal District.

Year Taxing
Jurisdict ion

Taxable
Value

Base Tax Base Taxes
Paid

Base Tax
Due

Discount/Penalty &
Interest

Attorney
Fees

Amount
Due

2016 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A

2016 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A

2016 ROCKWALL ISD N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A

2016 Total: N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A N\A

2015 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$578,870 $2,809.25 $2,809.25 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2015 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$578,870 $2,291.74 $2,291.74 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2015 ROCKWALL ISD $553,870 $7,975.73 $7,975.73 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2015 Total: $13,076.72 $13,076.72 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2014 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$584,380 $2,895.61 $2,895.61 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2014 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$584,380 $2,313.56 $2,313.56 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2014 ROCKWALL ISD $569,380 $8,199.07 $8,199.07 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2014 Total: $13,408.24 $13,408.24 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2013 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$604,160 $3,035.90 $3,035.90 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2013 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$604,160 $2,391.87 $2,391.87 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2013 ROCKWALL ISD $589,160 $8,601.73 $8,601.73 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2013 Total: $14,029.50 $14,029.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2012 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$610,020 $3,065.35 $3,065.35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2012 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$610,020 $2,357.12 $2,357.12 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2012 ROCKWALL ISD $595,020 $8,746.80 $8,746.80 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2012 Total: $14,169.27 $14,169.27 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2011 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$626,620 $3,152.53 $3,152.53 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2011 ROCKWALL $626,620 $2,421.26 $2,421.26 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

170
170



12/30/2015 Property Search and Tax Payment

http://esearch.rockwallcad.com/Property/View/14396 6/6

COUNTY

2011 ROCKWALL ISD $611,620 $8,990.82 $8,990.82 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2011 Total: $14,564.61 $14,564.61 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2010 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$465,330 $2,341.07 $2,341.07 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2010 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$465,330 $1,798.04 $1,798.04 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2010 ROCKWALL ISD $450,330 $6,619.85 $6,619.85 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2010 Total: $10,758.96 $10,758.96 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2009 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$393,460 $1,115.52 $1,115.52 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2009 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$418,460 $1,107.37 $1,107.37 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2009 ROCKWALL ISD $408,460 $4,494.68 $4,494.68 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2009 Total: $6,717.57 $6,717.57 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2008 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$377,459 $1,115.52 $1,115.52 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2008 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$402,459 $1,107.37 $1,107.37 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2008 ROCKWALL ISD $392,459 $4,494.68 $4,494.68 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2008 Total: $6,717.57 $6,717.57 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2007 CITY OF
ROCKWALL

$337,690 $1,115.52 $1,115.52 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2007 ROCKWALL
COUNTY

$362,690 $1,107.37 $1,107.37 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2007 ROCKWALL ISD $352,690 $4,494.68 $4,494.68 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

2007 Total: $6,717.57 $6,717.57 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

DISCLAIMER:  Information provided for research purposes only. Legal descriptions and acreage amounts are for appraisal district use only and should be verified prior to using for legal
purpose and or documents. Please contact the Appraisal District to verify all information for accuracy.

171
171



172
172



173
173



174
174



175
175



176
176



177
177



178
178



179
179



180
180



181
181



182
182



183
183



184
184



185
185



186
186



187
187



188
188



189
189



190
190



191
191



192
192



193
193



194
194



195
195



196
196



197
197



198
198



199
199



200
200



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

201
201



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
  
 
TO: Rick Crowley, City Manager  
  
FROM: Timothy M. Tumulty, Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
DATE: December 28, 2015 
  
SUBJECT: Damascus Road Pro-Rata Facility Agreement Extension 
  
 

Our Lady of the Lake Catholic Church widened Damascus Road back in 2010 to improve access 
to the Church and Heritage Christian Academy. The City Subdivision Ordinance required that adjacent 
properties along an unimproved road construct the road to City Standards at the time of development. 
These improvements would have been the responsibility of the Heritage Christian Academy and the 
undeveloped property owner along Damascus Road. The City approved a Pro-Rata Facility Agreement 
with the church on October 4, 2010 to address the future reimbursement. 

The original agreement was for a term of five-years. This agreement would have expired on 
October4, 2015; however, the agreement was extended 90 days to allow staff time to execute a 
Proportionality Study for Damascus Road. Staff hired Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. to perform this 
study. They are nearing completion of the study. Since this study started, staff received word the church 
and school are trying to work an agreement that might resolve this matter. The church has requested 
another 90 day extension to allow this process to be completed. Staff request City Council consideration 
to approve this additional delay of 90 days.  

If you have any questions, please advise.    
     
 
 
TMT:em 
 
Attachment 
 
Cc:  
 Mary Smith, Assistant City Manager 
 Amy Williams, Assistant City Engineer  
 Jeremy White, Civil Engineer 

File 

202
202



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

203
203



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

  
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council Members 
 
FROM: Kristy Ashberry, City Secretary / Assistant to the City Manager 
 
DATE: December 30, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: Joint Elections Contract 
  
 
The County Elections Administrator, Christopher Lynch, has provided me with the 
attached “Contract for Election Services” concerning the May 7, 2016 General Election.  
This is a joint agreement between the City of Rockwall, the Elections Administrator of 
Rockwall County, and the Rockwall Independent School District (RISD).  This contract 
is the same contract that was reviewed last January (2015) by City Attorney, Frank 
Garza, and ultimately approved by the Rockwall City Council with the only difference 
being the dates (2016 instead of 2015). 
 
Should the City of Rockwall end up cancelling its election due to uncontested city 
council member races, then the only expense the City of Rockwall will incur under this 
contract is a $75.00 “non-refundable contract preparation” fee. 
 
With regards to the election in general, please know that the State’s 2016 General 
Election Calendar outlines the dates of “January 25 - February 9” as the ‘recommended 
period for calling election and posting notice of election on bulletin board.’  Therefore, I 
will prepare an ‘election order’ (resolution) for the Council to adopt at its Monday, 
February 1st meeting in order to call the election. 
 
Staff is available to answer any questions the Council may have concerning this 
contract. 

204
204



May 7, 2016 
 

General Election 
 

Contract for Election Services 
 

Elections Administrator of 
Rockwall County 

and 
City of Rockwall 

and 
Rockwall Independent School 

District 
 

  
205

205



 
 

May 7, 2016 
 

General Election 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 
I  .......................................  Principal Duties and Services of the Elections Administrator 
II  ....................................... Principal Duties and Services of the City and School District 
III……………………………Cost of Services 
IV …………………………..General Provisions 
 
 
 
Appendix 
 
Appendix A ………………………………Early Voting Schedule and Polling Locations 
Appendix B ………………………………Election Day Schedule and Polling Locations 
Appendix C ………………………………Cost ofServices 
Appendix D………………………………Joint Election Agreement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 ii 
 
 

 

206
206



 
STATE OF TEXAS                  
COUNTY OF ROCKWALL     
CITY OF ROCKWALL 
ROCKWALL INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT    
  

CONTRACT FOR ELECTION SERVICES 
 
BY THE TERMS OF THIS CONTRACT made and entered into by and between 

the CITY OF ROCKWALL (the “City”), the ROCKWALL INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
DISTRICT (the “School District”) and the ELECTIONS ADMINISTRATOR OF 
ROCKWALL COUNTY (the "EA”), pursuant to the authority in Subchapter D, Section 
31.092, of Chapter 31, of the Texas Election Code, agree to the following particulars in 
regard to coordination, supervision and running of the City’s General Election and the 
School District’s General Election to be held on May 7, 2016. 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into in consideration of the mutual covenants and 

promises hereinafter set out.  IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 
 

I. PRINCIPAL DUTIES AND SERVICES OF THE EA.  The EA shall be responsible 
for performing the following duties and shall furnish the following services and 
equipment: 
 

A. The EA shall arrange for appointment, notification (including writ of 
election), training and compensation of all presiding judges, alternate 
judges, the judge of the Tabulation Room and judge of the Early Voting 
Balloting Board. 

 
1. The EA shall be responsible for notification of each Election day and 

Early Voting presiding judge and alternate judge of his or her 
appointment.  The EA recommends providing up to six (4) election 
workers including alternate judges, clerks and interpreters.  The 
presiding election judge of each polling place, however, will use 
his/her discretion to determine the working hours of the election 
workers during normal and peak voting hours.  The EA will determine 
the number of clerks to work in the Tabulation Room and the number 
of clerks to work on the Balloting Board.      
  

2. Election judges (including Presiding and Alternate) shall attend the 
EA's school of instruction (Elections Seminar) to be held on a date 
determined by the EA.  The Elections Seminar shall provide training 
in standard procedures as set forth by the Secretary of State and will 
also include training on the ES&S Model 100 Precinct Ballot 
Scanners, the ES&S Ivotronic ADA voting machines and the ADA 
headphones. 

 
3. Election judges shall be responsible for picking up from and returning 

election supplies to the Rockwall County Election Administrator’s 
office located at 915 Whitmore Dr. Suite D, Rockwall, Texas.  
Compensation for this pickup and delivery of supplies will be $25.00. 

 
4. The EA shall compensate each election judge, alternate judge, clerk 

and interpreter. Each election judge and interpreter shall receive 
$12.00 per hour for services rendered. Each alternate judge and clerk 
shall receive $10.00 per hour for services rendered.  The expenses 
shall be shared equally pursuant to the Joint Election Agreement as  

 

 1 
 
 

 

207
207



 
shown in Appendix D attached and incorporated by reference into this 
contract. 

 
B. The EA shall procure, prepare, and distribute voting machines, election 

kits and election supplies. 
 

1. The EA shall secure election kits which include the legal 
documentation required to hold an election and all supplies 
including locks, pens, magic markers, etc.   

 
2. The EA shall secure all tables, chairs, and legal documentation 

required to run the Tabulation Room. 
 
3. The EA shall provide all lists of registered voters required for use 

on election day and for the early voting period required by law.  
The Election Day List of registered voters shall be arranged in 
alphabetical order by polling place. 

 
4. The EA shall procure and arrange for the distribution of all 

election equipment and supplies required to hold an election. 
Equipment includes the rental of ES&S Model 100 Precinct Ballot 
Scanners, ES&S Ivotronic ADA voting machines, ADA 
headphones, transfer cases, voting signs and supply bags.      

 
C. The EA shall be appointed as the Early Voting Clerk by the City and 

School District. 
 

1. The EA shall supervise and conduct early voting by mail and in 
person and shall secure personnel to serve as Early Voting 
Deputies. 

 
2. Early Voting by personal appearance for the City’s General  

Election and School District’s General Election held on May 
7, 2016  shall be conducted during the time period and at the 
locations listed in Appendix A, attached and incorporated by 
reference into this contract.  

 
3. All applications for an Early Voting mail ballot shall be received 

and processed by the Rockwall County Elections Administrator’s 
office located at 915 Whitmore Dr. Suite D, Rockwall, Texas 
75087. 

 
(a) Applications for mail ballots erroneously mailed to the City 

or School District shall immediately be faxed to the EA for 
timely processing. The original application shall then be 
forwarded  to the EA  for proper retention. 

 
(b) All Federal Post Card Applicants (FPCA) will be sent a 

mail ballot.  No postage is required. 
 

4. All Early Voting ballots (those cast by mail and those cast by 
personal appearance) shall be prepared for count by the Early 
Voting Ballot Board in accordance with Section 87.000 of the 
Texas Election Code.  The presiding judge of this Board shall be 
appointed by the EA.  The Board shall meet for preparation of the 
early voting ballots at a time agreed to between the EA and the 
Early Voting Ballot Board Judge. 

 2 
 
 

 

208
208



 
 
 
 

D. The EA shall arrange for the use of all election day polling places.  The 
City and School District shall each assume the responsibility of incurring 
and absorbing the cost of its employees required to provide access, 
security and/or custodial services for the polling locations pursuant to  a 
Joint Election Agreement as shown in Appendix D attached and 
incorporated by reference into this contract.  The election day polling 
locations are listed in Appendix B, attached and incorporated by 
reference into this contract. 

 
E. The EA shall be responsible for establishing and operating the Tabulation 

Room to receive the ES&S Ivotronic Flashcards and the ES&S Model 100 
PCMIA memory cards. 

 
1. The EA shall prepare, test and run the County’s Tabulation 

System in accordance with the statutory requirements. 
 

2. The Public Logic and Accuracy Test of the electronic voting 
system shall be conducted by the EA and notice of the date shall 
be posted in local newspapers. 

 
3. The EA shall cause to be published in the local newspapers the 

required notices including notices of early voting locations, 
election day voting locations, and tabulation testing. 

 
4. Election night reports will be available to the City and School 

District after tabulation is completed.  Provisional ballots will be 
tabulated after election night in accordance with the law. 

 
5. The EA shall prepare the unofficial canvass report after all 

precincts have been counted, and will provide a copy of the 
unofficial canvass to the City and School District as soon as  
possible after all returns have been tallied. 

 
6. The EA shall conduct a manual count as prescribed by Section 

127.201 of the Texas Election Code and submit a written report to 
the City and School District in a timely manner.  Unless waived by 
the Secretary of State, if applicable, a written report shall be 
submitted to the Secretary of State as required by Section 
127.201(e) of the aforementioned code. 

 
II. PRINCIPAL DUTIES AND SERVICES OF THE CITY AND SCHOOL DISTRICT.  
Each entity shall assume the following responsibilities: 
 

A. The City and School District shall prepare the election orders, resolutions, 
notices, official canvass and other pertinent documents for adoption by 
the appropriate office or body.   

 
B. The City and School District shall provide the EA with an updated map 

and street index of its jurisdictions in an electronic or printed format as 
soon as possible. 

     
 
 

 3 
 
 

 

209
209



 
 
C. The City and School District shall design and provide the EA with the 

ballot layout and Spanish interpretation in an electronic format. 
 
D. The City and School District shall cause to be published in the local 

newspapers the required notice of election. 
 

1. The City and School District shall deliver to the EA as soon as 
possible the official wording for the City’s General Election and 
School District’s General Election to be held on May 7, 2016.  

 
2. The City and School District shall approve the ballot format prior 

to the final printing. 

E. The City, School District and the EA shall determine the number of ballots 
to be purchased. 

 
F. The City and School District shall compensate the EA for any additional 

verified cost incurred in the process of running this election or for a 
manual count of this election, if required, consistent with charges and 
rates shown on Appendix C for required services. These costs will be 
invoiced for reimbursement. 

 
G. The City and School District shall reimburse Rockwall County for its 

portion of  the printing costs of any and all related materials for ballots, 
early voting, election day voting, election kits, and for the ES&S Model 
100 Precinct Ballot Scanner and ES&S ADA Ivotronic voting machines 
pursuant to a Joint Election Agreement as shown in Appendix D attached 
and incorporated by reference into this contract. 

H. The City and School District shall reimburse Rockwall County for its 
portion of the rental of all electronic voting equipment, including Model 
100 Precinct Ballot Scanners and ADA Ivotronic voting machines, 
compliance headphones, PEBs, flash cards, PCMIA cards and any other 
equipment required to complete the counting of votes pursuant to a Joint 
Election Agreement as shown in Appendix D attached and incorporated 
by reference into this contract. 

I. The City and School District  shall each reimburse the EA for an 
administrative fee not to exceed ten percent (10%) of the City and School 
District’s portion of the total cost of the election. 

J. The City and School District shall each deposit its share of the election 
costs as set forth on Appendix C. The check is to be made payable to 
Rockwall County and delivered to the EA. The final costs of the election 
along with the ten percent (10%) administration fee will be prepared on a 
format similar to Appendix C and the invoice along with any supporting 
documentation shall be delivered by the EA. The invoice is due and 
payable 30 days after receipt by the City and School District.  

K. The City and School District, in the event of a contested election, agrees 
to provide competent legal counsel and representation for the EA and  
staff, covering any and all legal fees and costs as a result of this elections 
process. 

L. The City and School District, in the event of a recount, agrees to 
reimburse any expenses incurred by the EA’s office not covered by the 
charges assessed to the person requesting the recount.  This would 
include, but not be limited to the compensation costs of any Rockwall 
County Election personnel required to work beyond regular office hours in  

 4 
 
 

 

210
210



 

order to conduct said recount of this election. The recount shall take 
places in the EA’s office and the EA’s office shall assist the Recount 
Supervisor and/or the Recount Coordinator in the completion of the 
recount. 

 

M. The EA shall be the custodian of the voted ballots and shall retain all 
election materials for a period of 6 months.  

N. The City and School District shall prepare and submit to the U.S. 
Department of Justice under the Federal Voting Rights Act of 1965, any 
required submissions on voting changes. 

 

III. COST OF SERVICES. See Appendix C.  
 
A. The City and School District shall share equally in the expense of conducting 

early voting and election day voting pursuant to a Joint Election Agreement 
as shown in Appendix D attached incorporated by reference into this 
contract. 

B. The cost of site support by Third Party Contractors shall be shared equally by 
the City and School District pursuant to a Joint Election Agreement as shown 
in Appendix D attached and incorporated by reference into this contract.  

 

IV. GENERAL PROVISIONS. 
 

A. To the extent of the law, the City and School District agree to save and hold 
harmless the EA from any and all claims arising out of the failure or omission 
of the City or School District  to perform its obligations under this contract. 
    

B.  To the extent of the law, the  EA agrees to save and hold harmless the City 
     and School District from any all claims arising out of the failure or omission of 
     the County and the EA to perform their obligations under this contract. 
       
C. Nothing contained in this contract shall authorize or permit a change in the 

officer with whom or the place at which any document or record relating to 
the City’s General Election or School District’s General Election held on May 
7, 2016 is to be filed or the place at which any function is to be carried out, or 
any nontransferable functions specified under Section 31.096 of the Texas 
Election Code. 

 
D.  Upon request, the EA shall provide copies of all invoices, cost reports and  
      other charges incurred in the process of running said election for the City  
      and School District. 
 
E.  The EA shall file copies of this contract with the County Auditor and the     
     County Treasurer of Rockwall County, Texas. 

 
            F.  The City and School District shall enter into a Joint Election Agreement as    
                 shown in  Appendix D attached and incorporated by reference into this 

     contract. 
 
G. If the City and/or School District cancels their election pursuant to Section 

 

 5 
 
 

 

211
211



 
 
2.053 of the Texas Election Code, the EA shall be paid a contract 
preparation fee of $75.00. The City and School District will not be liable for 
any further costs incurred by the EA in conducting the May 7, 2016 Election. 

        
 
 
 
 
 

H. This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties to the rights 
herein granted and the obligations herein assumed and supersedes all prior 
agreements, including prior election services contracts relating to each 
Entity’s May 2016 election. Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or 
representations not expressly contained in this Agreement are of no force 
and effect. Any oral representations or modifications concerning this 
Agreement shall be of no force or effect, excepting a subsequent 
modification in writing as provided herein. 

 
I. Except as otherwise provided, this Agreement may not be amended, 

modified, or changed in any respect whatsoever, except by a further 
Agreement in writing, duly executed by the parties hereto. No official, 
representative, agent or employee of any Participating Entity has any 
authority to modify this Agreement except pursuant to such expressed 
authorization as may be granted by the governing body of the respective 
Participating Entity. 

 
J. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, all of which shall 

be deemed originals and with the same effect as if all parties hereto had 
signed the same document. All of such counterparts shall be construed 
together and shall constitute one and the same Agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 6 
 
 

 

212
212



 
 
 
 
 
WITNESS BY MY HAND THIS ______ DAY OF ___________________, 2016. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                        _______________________________________ 
                                                                 Christopher J. Lynch, Elections Administrator 
                                                                 Rockwall County, Texas    
 
 
                                                                                                                            
 
 
  ____________________________________ 
   Rick Crowley,City Manager 
     City of Rockwall, Texas 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
  
Kristy Cole, City Secretary  
 
 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
      Jeff Bailey, Superintendent 
      Rockwall Independent School District 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 7 
 
 

 

213
213



 

 
APPENDIX A 

EARLY VOTING LOCATIONS & HOURS 
FOR GENERAL ELECTION 

(votacion anticipada horarios y ubicaciones para elecciones generales) 

May 7, 2016  
(7 de mayo de 2016) 

 
POLLING PLACE 
(lugar de votacion) 

LOCATION & ADDRESS 
(lugar y direccion) 

CITY 
(ciudad) 

ROCKWALL 
 

COUNTY LIBRARY 
(conado biblioteca) 

1215 E. YELLOWJACKET LN 

ROCKWALL 

SUNDAY 
(Domingo) 

MONDAY 
(Lunes) 

TUESDAY 
(Martes) 

WEDNESDAY 
(Miercoles) 

THURSDAY 
(Jueves) 

FRIDAY 
(Viernes) 

SATURDAY 
(Sabado) 

 N/A    APRIL 25 
8am – 5pm 

Early Voting 

APRIL 26 
8am – 5pm 

Early Voting 

APRIL 27 
8am – 5pm 

Early Voting 

APRIL 28 
8am – 5pm 

Early Voting 

APRIL 29 
8am – 5pm 

Early Voting 

APRIL 30 
8am –5pm 

Early Voting 
SUNDAY 

N/A 
MAY  2 

7am –7pm* 
Early Voting 

MAY 3 
7am – 7pm* 
Early Voting 

MAY  4 
N/A 

    MAY  5 
N/A 

    MAY 6 
N/A 

MAY 7 
Election Day 

7am-7pm 
 

 
 
*Extended hours on Monday, May 2 and Tuesday, May 3 , 2016 
 
 

 Appendix B 
 

                                 
ELECTION DAY VOTING LOCATIONS & HOURS 

FOR GENERAL ELECTION 
(lugares de votacion de dia de la eleccion para elecciones generales) 

 
May 7, 2016  

(7 de mayo de 2016) 

                                                    7:00 a.m. – 7:00 p.m. 
 
 

POLLING PLACE 
(lugar de votacion) 

LOCATION & 
ADDRESS 
(lugar y direccion) 

CITY 
(ciudad) 

Rockwall  Utley Middle School  
 (Utley escuela) 

901 W. Yellowjacket Ln. 

Rockwall 

 
 
 
 
 

 8 
 
 

 

214
214



 
 
Appendix C  

 
Cost of Services     

     
  Quantity   Unit Costs   Subtotal Costs   Extended Costs  

 Non-Refundable Contract Preparation  
 
 (Payable only if Contract is Canceled) 

                       75.00 
 
 
 
    

Direct Costs     

 Ballots  5000 0.30 1500 1500 
 Shipping  5000  15 15 
 Sample Ballots  50 0.30 15 15 
 Early Voting Election Kits  1 40 40 40 
 Election Day Kits  1 40 40 40 
 Supply Costs [Based upon # voting places]  2 15 30 30 
 Metal Voting Signs 16 1 16 16 
 Equipment Rental      
                      Early Voting DRE Machine 3 250 750 750 
                      Election Day DRE Machine 6 250 1500 1500 
                      Precinct Counter – EV & ED 3 450 1350 1350 
 Equipment Delivery Fee/Truck Rental  12 20 240 240 

 L & A Machine Testing  12 20 240 240 
 Judges Pickup & Delivery Fees  2 25 50 50 
  
Notices*  

    

 Notice of Tabulation Testing  1 50 50 50 
 Notice of Election Day Polling Locations\n  1 50 50 50 

 Notice of Early Voting Polling Locations  1 50 50 50 
 
Compensation of Judges & Clerks**  

    

 Early Voting Workers    2000 2000 
 Election Day Workers    600 600 

 
Compensation of County Employees***  

    

Staff Overtime for Early& Election Day Voting  150 150 
 Process Election Workers' Checks    50 50 

 Tabulation of Ballots   150 150 
 ES&S Site Support Fee (Based on # entities) Subject to 
 change 

  500 500 

 Programming Electronic Voting Machines    1500 1500 

 Subtotal of Direct Costs     11,246.00 

    

 Total Contract Costs      11,247.00 

 Number of participating entities      
 25 % Due from Each Entity 45 days before election    2811.50 

     
 *     Costs for notices will be determined by newspapers and the final invoice will be based upon costs charged by the 
newspapers.  

 **    The compensation of election judges and clerks will be adjusted on the final billing to reflect actual costs paid after all 
timesheets have been tabulated and paid.  Where applicable, compensation includes payroll appendages.  

 ***   County employees will be paid in accordance with County policies regarding overtime.  Hours worked in excess of 40 
during a week are paid at 1.5 times each employee's hourly rate.  Compensation includes payroll appendages.  
A 10% Administration fee will be added to the total amount of the contract. This fee will be determined based upon final 
actual costs and included on the final invoice. 

 

 9 
 
 

 

215
215



 
 
                     Appendix D 
 
 
STATE OF TEXAS                    
CITY OF ROCKWALL 
ROCKWALL INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT          
 

JOINT ELECTION AGREEMENT 
 

 
This Agreement is entered into by and between the City of Rockwall, Texas (the 

“City”) and the Rockwall Independent School District ( the “School District”). 
 
By the terms of this agreement, the City and School District do hereby agree, 

pursuant to the provisions of the Texas Election Code, to hold a joint election of the 
General Election of the City and the General Election of the School District to be held on 
Saturday, May 7, 2016.  All entities have contracted with the Rockwall County  Elections 
Administrator (the “EA”) to perform various duties and responsibilities on behalf of the 
two entities. 

 
 The two entities shall share equally in the expense of conducting Early and 

Election Day voting, polling locations, election officials, election supplies, ballots and 
other and all necessary expenses for the election upon receipt of satisfactory billing and 
invoices reflecting the total of such election. 

  
An entity canceling an election pursuant to Section 2.053 of the Texas Election 

Code will not be liable for costs incurred by the EA in conducting the May 7, 2016 Joint 
General Election; they will be liable for on the contract preparation fee of $75.00. 

 
This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties relating to the rights 

herein granted and the obligations herein assumed and supersedes all prior 
agreements, including prior election services contracts relating to each Entity’s May 
2016 election. Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not 
expressly contained in this Agreement are of no force and effect. Any oral 
representations or modifications concerning this Agreement shall be of no force or 
effect, excepting a subsequent modification in writing as provided herein. 

 
Except as otherwise provided, this Agreement may not be amended, modified, or 

changed in any respect whatsoever, except by a further Agreement in writing, duly 
executed by the parties hereto. No official, representative, agent or employee of any 
Participating Entity has any authority to modify this Agreement except pursuant to such 
expressed authorization as may be granted by the governing body of the respective 
Participating Entity. 

 
This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, all of which shall be 

deemed originals and with the same effect as if all parties hereto had signed the same 
document. All of such counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitue one 
and the same Agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 10 
 
 

 

216
216



 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, in its meeting 

held on the _________ day of _________________, 2016, and executed by its 
authorized representative. 
 ______________________ 
 Rick Crowley, City Manager 
   City of Rockwall, Texas    
 
ATTEST: 
 
_______________________________ 
 Kristy Ashberry, City Secretary 

 
 
APPROVED BY THE TRUSTEES OF THE ROCKWALL INDEPENDENT 

SCHOOL BOARD, in its meeting held on the _________ day of _________________, 
2016 and executed by its authorized representative. 
 
                                                                               _____________________________ 
                                                                               Jeff Bailey, Superintendent   

                                                         Rockwall Independent School District 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Secretary 

 11 
 
 

 

217
217



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

218
218



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
  
 
TO: Rick Crowley, City Manager  
 
FROM: Mary Smith, Assistant City Manager 
 
DATE: December 30, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: Bond Issuance Ordinances – No Action 
  
 
City staff is preparing to issue debt for various city projects street and utility projects as has 
been discussed at previous Council meetings.  We will issue voter approved General Obligation 
Bonds for the remaining funding of the downtown project and engineering of approved street 
projects.  In addition, bonds will be issued for water/sewer related projects and water/sewer 
equipment in the budget were designated to be coming from short or mid-term debt. 
  
Also previously discussed was the condition of the bond market and the city’s ability to refund 
(refinance) several of our outstanding debt issues for interest savings.  The repayment term 
would remain the same but the interest rates from 2005-08 to current have dropped 
significantly.  Our debt, when issued is structured with a 10-year call provision to be able to take 
advantage of just such a situation. 
 
We will refund seven issues from the 2005-2008 periods totaling just over $75 million dollars 
and resulting in an estimated interest savings over $9million dollars over the remaining terms of 
the issuance.  The new money for bond election projects will be included in this issuance saving 
issuance costs and includes funds for design and to begin construction of the roadways as 
design is completed, the new I-30 on-ramp and the remaining funds to be issued that complete 
the downtown project contract with Hill-Wilkinson.  The new bonds will total $7,895,000 for 
roadways and $880,000 for Downtown.  There will remain the authorization for downtown 
totaling $1,244,000 since other funds were applied to the project.   
 
Parameters Sale 
 
The City began using a Parameters Sale format for debt issues in 2011 due to the financial 
advantages the format affords.  Using this format, the Council sets up criteria by which the Tax 
Notes may be sold including maximum interest rate to be repaid, amortization period and any 
other special repayment terms and then authorizes the City Manager and Finance Director to 
conduct the sale when First Southwest finds that economic conditions warrant it.  The Council is 
asked to set an end date by which the bonds are to be sold and allow them to be sold in one or 
more series (installments).  This allows the sale to be finalized when the market is most 
advantageous to the City.  The Parameters Sale can be conducted either by bidding or by 
negotiation with bond buying institutions.   
 
 
 

219
219



 
 
An Ordinance authorizing issuance of the General Obligation Bonds and a separate ordinance 
authorizing the Certificates of Obligation are included on the Council agenda.  State law 
provides that debt ordinances are effective when approved by Council vote with the first 
reading.  Since our Charter requires ordinances have two readings, the Council will be asked to 
read the caption but not vote on the Ordinance on the 4th.  Adoption of the Ordinance would be 
considered on January 19th.  
 

220
220



CITY OF ROCKWALL

ORDINANCE NO. _____

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, GENERAL
OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BONDS, SERIES 2016; ESTABLISHING
PROCEDURES AND DELEGATING AUTHORITY FOR THE SALE AND DELIVERY OF THE BONDS;
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE
SUBJECT

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
COUNTY OF ROCKWALL §
CITY OF ROCKWALL §

WHEREAS, by virtue of elections held within the City of Rockwall, Texas ("the Issuer"), this City
Council became authorized to issue, sell and deliver the general obligation bonds of the Issuer, of which there
have been issued heretofore, are authorized to be issued by this Ordinance, and will remain authorized but
unissued hereafter, as described in Schedule I attached hereto and incorporated herein;

WHEREAS, this City Council finds and determines that it is necessary and proper to order the
issuance, sale and delivery of such voted bonds (the "Voted Bonds");

WHEREAS, there are presently the outstanding obligations of the Issuer described in Schedule II
attached hereto, collectively, the "Eligible Refunded Obligations";

WHEREAS, the Issuer now desires to refund all or part of the Eligible Refunded Obligations, and
those Eligible Refunded Obligations designated by the Pricing Officer in the Pricing Certificate, each as
defined below, to be refunded are herein referred to as the "Refunded Obligations";

WHEREAS, Chapter 1207, Texas Government Code, authorizes the Issuer to issue refunding bonds
and to deposit the proceeds from the sale thereof, together with any other available funds or resources,
directly with a paying agent for the Refunded Obligations or a trust company or commercial bank that does
not act as a depository for the Issuer and is named in these proceedings, and such deposit, if made before the
payment dates of the Refunded Obligations, shall constitute the making of firm banking and financial
arrangements for the discharge and final payment of the Refunded Obligations;

WHEREAS, Chapter 1207, Texas Government Code, further authorizes the Issuer to enter into an
escrow agreement with such paying agent for the Refunded Obligations or trust company or commercial bank
with respect to the safekeeping, investment, reinvestment, administration and disposition of any such deposit,
upon such terms and conditions as the Issuer and such paying agent or trust company or commercial bank
may agree;

WHEREAS, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., Dallas, Texas, is a paying agent
for the Refunded Obligations and the Escrow Agreement, wherein The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., Dallas, Texas is the Escrow Agent, hereinafter authorized constitutes an escrow agreement
of the kind authorized and permitted by said Chapter 1207;

WHEREAS, this City Council hereby finds and determines that it is a public purpose and in the best
interests of the Issuer to refund the Refunded Obligations in order to restructure debt service payments and
to achieve a present value debt service savings of at least 5.00%, with such savings, among other information
and terms, to be included in a pricing certificate (the "Pricing Certificate") to be executed by the Pricing

221
221



2

Officer (hereinafter designated), all in accordance with the provisions of Chapters 1207 and 1371, Texas
Government Code;

WHEREAS, this City Council hereby further finds and determines that the manner in which the
refunding is being executed, in that the pricing and terms of the bonds hereinafter authorized are to be
determined at a future date pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance, does not make it practicable to
determine the amount of debt service loss or debt service savings that will result from the refunding of the
Refunded Obligations;

WHEREAS, all the Refunded Obligations mature or are subject to redemption prior to maturity
within 20 years of the date of the bonds hereinafter authorized;

WHEREAS, the Issuer is an "Issuer" under Section 1371.001(4)(P), Texas Government Code, having
(i) a principal amount of at least $100 million in outstanding long-term indebtedness, in long-term
indebtedness proposed to be issued, or a combination of outstanding or proposed long-term indebtedness; and
(ii) some amount of long-term indebtedness outstanding or proposed to be issued that is rated in one of the
four highest rating categories for long-term debt instruments by a nationally recognized rating agency for
municipal securities, without regard to the effect of any credit agreement or other form of credit enhancement
entered into in connection with the obligation;

WHEREAS, the Bonds hereinafter authorized to be issued were voted and are to be issued, sold and
delivered pursuant to the general laws of the State of Texas, including Tex. Gov't Code Ann. Chapters 1207,
1251, 1331 and 1371, as amended; and

WHEREAS, it is officially found, determined, and declared that the meeting at which this Ordinance
has been adopted was open to the public and public notice of the time, place and subject matter of the public
business to be considered and acted upon at said meeting, including this Ordinance, was given, all as required
by the applicable provisions of Tex. Gov't Code Ann. Chapter 551; Now, Therefore

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS:

Section 1.  RECITALS, AMOUNT, PURPOSE AND DESIGNATION OF THE BONDS.

(a)  The recitals set forth in the preamble hereof are incorporated herein and shall have the same force
and effect as if set forth in this Section.

(b)  The bonds of the City of Rockwall, Texas (the "Issuer") are hereby authorized to be issued and
delivered in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed $83,890,000 for (i) constructing, installing and
equipping street and sidewalk improvements, parking lots, landscaping, pedestrian areas and related
improvements in the historic downtown area, and the acquisition of land and interests in land necessary
therefor; (ii) constructing, improving, extending, expanding, upgrading and developing streets, roads and
thoroughfares in the City, as follows: reconstruction and rehabilitation of existing streets, road and
thoroughfares and Interstate 30 ramps, access road and related improvements, including bridges, intersections,
utility relocation, landscaping, sidewalks, traffic safety and operational improvements, the purchase of any
necessary land and right-of-way, drainage and other related costs, with any remaining bond proceeds to be
used for construction and improvement of such other streets and roads as the City Council may determine (the
“Improvement Projects”); (iii) refunding certain outstanding obligations of the Issuer; and (iv) paying costs
of issuance of the Bonds (collectively, the "Projects").

222
222



3

(c)  Each bond issued pursuant to this Ordinance shall be designated:  "CITY OF ROCKWALL,
TEXAS, GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BOND, SERIES 2016," and
initially there shall be issued, sold, and delivered hereunder fully registered Bonds, without interest coupons,
payable to the respective registered owners thereof (with the initial bonds being made payable to the initial
purchaser as described in Section 10 hereof), or to the registered assignee or assignees of said bonds or any
portion or portions thereof (in each case, the "Registered Owner").  The Bonds shall be in the respective
denominations and principal amounts, shall be numbered, shall mature and be payable on the date or dates
in each of the years and in the principal amounts, and shall bear interest to their respective dates of maturity
or redemption prior to maturity at the rates per annum, as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

Section 2.  DELEGATION TO PRICING OFFICER.

(a)  As authorized by Chapters 1207 and 1371, Texas Government Code, as amended, the City
Manager and the Assistant City Manager/Director of Finance of the Issuer (each a "Pricing Officer") are each
hereby authorized to act on behalf of the Issuer in selling and delivering the Bonds, determining which of the
Eligible Refunded Obligations shall be refunded and carrying out the other procedures specified in this
Ordinance, including, determining the date of the Bonds, any additional or different designation or title by
which the Bonds shall be known, the price at which the Bonds will be sold, the years in which the Bonds will
mature, the principal amount to mature in each of such years, the rate of interest to be borne by each such
maturity, the interest payment and record dates, the price and terms upon and at which the Bonds shall be
subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer, as well as any mandatory sinking fund
redemption provisions, and all other matters relating to the issuance, sale, and delivery of the Bonds and the
refunding of the Refunded Obligations, including without limitation establishing the redemption dates for and
effecting the redemption of the Refunded Obligations and obtaining municipal bond insurance for all or any
portion of the Bonds and providing for the terms and provisions thereof applicable to the Bonds (including
the execution of any commitment agreements, membership agreements in mutual insurance companies, and
other similar agreements), all of which shall be specified in the Pricing Certificate; provided that:

(i)  the aggregate principal amount of the Voted Bonds (taking into account principal and
premium applied against the voted authorization) shall not exceed $8,775,000 (Prop 2 - $880,000;
Prop 5 - $7,895,000);

(ii)  the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds issued to refund the Refunded Obligations
shall not exceed $75,115,000;

(iii)  the refunding of the Refunded Obligations must produce a present value debt service
savings of not less than 5.00% (net of any Issuer contribution);

(iv)  the true interest cost of the Bonds shall not exceed 3.25% per annum; provided that the
net effective interest rate on the Bonds shall not exceed the maximum rate set forth in Chapter 1204,
Texas Government Code, as amended;

(v) the final maturity of the Bonds shall not be later than August 1, 2037; and

(vi)  the delegation made hereby shall expire if not exercised by the Pricing Officer on or
prior to April 18, 2016.

(b)  In establishing the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds, the Pricing Officer shall establish
an amount not exceeding the amount authorized in Subsection (a) hereof, which shall be sufficient in amount

223
223



4

to provide for the purposes for which the Bonds are authorized and to pay costs of issuing the Bonds.  The
Bonds shall be sold with and subject to such terms as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

(c) The Pricing Officer shall select the Eligible Refunded Obligations to be refunded in accordance
with the limitations set forth above.

(d)  The Pricing Officer shall determine whether the Bonds will be sold by private placement or
negotiated or competitive sale.  

Section 3.  CHARACTERISTICS OF THE BONDS. 

(a) Appointment of Paying Agent/Registrar.  The selection and appointment of the paying
agent/registrar for the Bonds (the "Paying Agent/Registrar") shall be as provided in the Pricing Certificate.
The Mayor or either Pricing Officer is authorized and directed to execute and deliver in the name and under
the corporate seal and on behalf of the Issuer a Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement with the Paying
Agent/Registrar in substantially the form presented at this meeting.

(b)  Registration, Transfer, Conversion and Exchange.  The Issuer shall keep or cause to be kept at
the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar books or records for the registration of the transfer,
conversion and exchange of the Bonds (the "Registration Books"), and the Issuer hereby appoints the Paying
Agent/Registrar as its registrar and transfer agent to keep such books or records and make such registrations
of transfers, conversions and exchanges under such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and Paying
Agent/Registrar may prescribe; and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make such registrations, transfers,
conversions and exchanges as herein provided within three days of presentation in due and proper form.  The
Paying Agent/Registrar shall obtain and record in the Registration Books the address of the registered owner
of each Bond to which payments with respect to the Bonds shall be mailed, as herein provided; but it shall
be the duty of each registered owner to notify the Paying Agent/Registrar in writing of the address to which
payments shall be mailed, and such interest payments shall not be mailed unless such notice has been given.
The Issuer shall have the right to inspect the Registration Books during regular business hours of the Paying
Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep the Registration Books confidential and,
unless otherwise required by law, shall not permit their inspection by any other entity.  The Issuer shall pay
the Paying Agent/Registrar's standard or customary fees and charges for making such registration, transfer,
conversion, exchange and delivery of a substitute Bond or Bonds.  Registration of assignments, transfers,
conversions and exchanges of Bonds shall be made in the manner provided and with the effect stated in the
FORM OF BOND set forth in this Ordinance.  Each substitute Bond shall bear a letter and/or number to
distinguish it from each other Bond.

(c)  Authentication.  Except as provided in subsection (j) of this section, an authorized representative
of the Paying Agent/Registrar shall, before the delivery of any such Bond, date and manually sign said Bond,
and no such Bond shall be deemed to be issued or outstanding unless such Bond is so executed.  The Paying
Agent/Registrar promptly shall cancel all paid Bonds and Bonds surrendered for conversion and exchange.
No additional ordinances, orders or resolutions need be passed or adopted by the governing body of the Issuer
or any other body or person so as to accomplish the foregoing conversion and exchange of any Bond or
portion thereof, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the printing, execution and delivery of the
substitute Bonds in the manner prescribed herein.  Pursuant to Subchapter D, Chapter 1201, Texas
Government Code, the duty of conversion and exchange of Bonds as aforesaid is hereby imposed upon the
Paying Agent/Registrar, and, upon the execution of said Bond, the converted and exchanged Bond shall be
valid, incontestable, and enforceable in the same manner and with the same effect as the Bonds which initially
were issued and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, approved by the Attorney General, and registered by
the Comptroller of Public Accounts.

224
224



5

(d)  Payment of Principal and Interest.  The Issuer hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar
to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of and interest on the Bonds, all as provided in this
Ordinance.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep proper records of all payments made by the Issuer and
the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Bonds, and of all conversions and exchanges of Bonds, and
all replacements of Bonds, as provided in this Ordinance.  However, in the event of a nonpayment of interest
on a scheduled payment date, and for thirty (30) days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment
(a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the
payment of such interest have been received from the Issuer.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the
scheduled payment date of the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall
be sent at least five (5) business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first class
postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner appearing on the Registration Books at the close of
business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

(e)  Payment to Registered Owner.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the
contrary, the Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to treat and consider the person in whose
name each Bond is registered in the Registration Books as the absolute owner of such Bond for the purpose
of payment of principal and interest with respect to such Bond, for the purpose of registering transfers with
respect to such Bond, and for all other purposes whatsoever.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall pay all
principal of and interest on the Bonds only to or upon the order of the registered owners, as shown in the
Registration Books as provided in this Ordinance, or their respective attorneys duly authorized in writing,
and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the Issuer's obligations with
respect to payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds to the extent of the sum or sums so paid.  No
person other than a registered owner, as shown in the Registration Books, shall receive a Bond certificate
evidencing the obligation of the Issuer to make payments of principal and interest pursuant to this Ordinance.

(f)  Paying Agent/Registrar.  The Issuer covenants with the registered owners of the Bonds that at
all times while the Bonds are outstanding the Issuer will provide a competent and legally qualified bank, trust
company, financial institution or other agency to act as and perform the services of Paying Agent/Registrar
for the Bonds under this Ordinance, and that the Paying Agent/Registrar will be one entity.  By accepting the
position and performing as such, each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be deemed to have agreed to the
provisions of this Ordinance, and a certified copy of this Ordinance shall be delivered to each Paying
Agent/Registrar.

(g)  Substitute Paying Agent/Registrar.  The Issuer reserves the right to, and may, at its option, change
the Paying Agent/Registrar upon not less than 120 days written notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar, to be
effective not later than 60 days prior to the next principal or interest payment date after such notice.  In the
event that the entity at any time acting as Paying Agent/Registrar (or its successor by merger, acquisition, or
other method) should resign or otherwise cease to act as such, the Issuer covenants that promptly it will
appoint a competent and legally qualified bank, trust company, financial institution, or other agency to act
as Paying Agent/Registrar under this Ordinance.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar, the
previous Paying Agent/Registrar promptly shall transfer and deliver the Registration Books (or a copy
thereof), along with all other pertinent books and records relating to the Bonds, to the new Paying
Agent/Registrar designated and appointed by the Issuer.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar,
the Issuer promptly will cause a written notice thereof to be sent by the new Paying Agent/Registrar to each
registered owner of the Bonds, by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, which notice also shall give
the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.

(h)  Book-Entry Only System.  The Bonds issued in exchange for the Bonds initially issued to the
purchaser or purchasers specified herein shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully
registered Bond for each of the maturities thereof and the ownership of each such Bond shall be registered

225
225



6

in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company of New York ("DTC"), and except
as provided in subsections (j) and (k) of this Section, all of the outstanding Bonds shall be registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.

(i) Blanket Letter of Representations.  The previous execution and delivery of the Blanket Letter of
Representations with respect to obligations of the Issuer is hereby ratified and confirmed; and the provisions
thereof shall be fully applicable to the Bonds.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein,
while the Bonds are subject to DTC's Book-Entry Only System and to the extent permitted by law, the Letter
of Representations is hereby incorporated herein and its provisions shall prevail over any other provisions
of this Ordinance in the event of conflict. 

(ji)  Bonds Registered in the Name of Cede & Co.  With respect to Bonds registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or
obligation to any securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain
other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created ("DTC Participant") to hold securities to facilitate the
clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants or to any person on behalf of
whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest in the Bonds.  Without limiting the immediately preceding
sentence, the Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility or obligation with respect
to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership
interest in the Bonds, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a registered
owner of Bonds, as shown on the Registration Books, of any notice with respect to the Bonds, or (iii) the
payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a registered owner of Bonds, as shown in
the Registration Books of any amount with respect to principal of or interest on the Bonds.  Upon delivery
by DTC to the Paying Agent/Registrar of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined to substitute
a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the provisions in this Ordinance with respect to interest
checks being mailed to the registered owner at the close of business on the Record date, the words "Cede &
Co." in this Ordinance shall refer to such new nominee of DTC.

(k)  Successor Securities Depository; Transfers Outside Book-Entry Only System.  In the event that
the Issuer determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein and in the
representation letter of the Issuer to DTC or that it is in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the Bonds
that they be able to obtain certificated Bonds, the Issuer shall (i) appoint a successor securities depository,
qualified to act as such under Section 17A of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, notify
DTC and DTC Participants of the appointment of such successor securities depository and transfer one or
more separate Bonds to such successor securities depository or (ii) notify DTC and DTC Participants of the
availability through DTC of Bonds and transfer one or more separate Bonds to DTC Participants having
Bonds credited to their DTC accounts.  In such event, the Bonds shall no longer be restricted to being
registered in the Registration Books in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, but may be registered
in the name of the successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever name or names registered
owners transferring or exchanging Bonds shall designate, in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance.

(l)  Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary,
so long as any Bond is registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with respect
to principal of and interest on such Bond and all notices with respect to such Bond shall be made and given,
respectively, in the manner provided in the representation letter of the Issuer to DTC.

(m)  General Characteristics of the Bonds.  The Bonds (i) shall be issued in fully registered form,
without interest coupons, with the principal of and interest on such Bonds to be payable only to the Registered
Owners thereof, (ii) may and shall be redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, (iii) may be transferred
and assigned, (iv) may be converted and exchanged for other Bonds, (v) shall have the characteristics, (vi)

226
226



7

shall be signed, sealed, executed and authenticated, (vii) the principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be
payable, and (viii) shall be administered and the Paying Agent/Registrar and the Issuer shall have certain
duties and responsibilities with respect to the Bonds, all as provided, and in the manner and to the effect as
required or indicated, in the FORM OF BOND set forth in this Ordinance.  The Bonds initially issued and
delivered pursuant to this Ordinance is not required to be, and shall not be, authenticated by the Paying
Agent/Registrar, but on each substitute Bond issued in conversion of and exchange for any Bond or Bonds
issued under this Ordinance the Paying Agent/Registrar shall execute the Paying Agent/registrar's
Authentication Bond, in the FORM OF BOND set forth in this Ordinance.

(n)  Cancellation of Initial Bonds.  On the closing date, one initial Bond representing the entire
principal amount of the Bonds, payable in stated installments to the purchaser designated in Section 10 or its
designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor and City Secretary of the Issuer, approved
by the Attorney General of Texas, and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller of Public Accounts
of the State of Texas, will be delivered to such purchaser or its designee.  Upon payment for such initial Bond,
the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel such initial Bond and deliver to the DTC on behalf of such purchaser
one registered definitive Bond for each year of maturity of such Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of
all of the Bonds for such maturity, registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.  To the extent
that the Paying Agent/Registrar is eligible to participate in DTC’s FAST System, pursuant to an agreement
between the Paying Agent/Registrar and DTC, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall hold the definitive Bonds
in safekeeping for DTC.

Section 4.  FORM OF BONDS.  The form of the Bonds, including the form of Paying
Agent/Registrar's Authentication Certificate, the form of Assignment and the form of Registration Certificate
of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas to be attached to the Bonds initially issued and
delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, shall be, respectively, substantially as follows, with such appropriate
variations, omissions or insertions as are permitted or required by this Ordinance.

(a)  Form of Bond.

NO. R-
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

STATE OF TEXAS

PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT

$__________
CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS

GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING AND IMPROVEMENT BOND
SERIES 2016

INTEREST RATE DATE OF BONDS MATURITY DATE CUSIP NO.

____________ ____________ ____________ ____________

REGISTERED OWNER:

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: DOLLARS

ON THE MATURITY DATE specified above, the City of Rockwall, in Rockwall County, Texas,
(the "Issuer"), being a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, hereby promises
to pay to the Registered Owner specified above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the "Registered
Owner"), on the Maturity Date specified above, the Principal Amount specified above.  The Issuer promises
to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-

227
227



8

day months) from ___________, _____ at the Interest Rate per annum specified above.  Interest is payable
on ______________, ____ and semiannually on each _____________ and _____________ thereafter to the
Maturity Date specified above, or the date of redemption prior to maturity; except, if this Bond is required
to be authenticated and the date of its authentication is later than the first Record Date (hereinafter defined),
such principal amount shall bear interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of
authentication, unless such date of authentication is after any Record Date but on or before the next following
interest payment date, in which case such principal amount shall bear interest from such next following
interest payment date; provided, however, that if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the Bond
or Bonds, if any, for which this Bond is being exchanged is due but has not been paid, then this Bond shall
bear interest from the date to which such interest has been paid in full.

THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON this Bond are payable in lawful money of the United
States of America, without exchange or collection charges.  The principal of this Bond shall be paid to the
registered owner hereof upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at maturity, or upon the date fixed for
its redemption prior to maturity, at the principal corporate trust office of _____________________,
_________, ___________, which is the "Paying Agent/Registrar" for this Bond.  The payment of interest on
this Bond shall be made by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the registered owner hereof on each interest
payment date by check or draft, dated as of such interest payment date, drawn by the Paying Agent/Registrar
on, and payable solely from, funds of the Issuer required by the ordinance authorizing the issuance of this
Bond (the "Bond Ordinance") to be on deposit with the Paying Agent/Registrar for such purpose as
hereinafter provided; and such check or draft shall be sent by the Paying Agent/Registrar by United States
mail, first-class postage prepaid, on each such interest payment date, to the registered owner hereof, at its
address as it appeared on the ________________ day of the month preceding each such date (the "Record
Date") on the Registration Books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar, as hereinafter described.  In addition,
interest may be paid by such other method, acceptable to the Paying Agent/Registrar, requested by, and at
the risk and expense of, the registered owner.  In the event of a non-payment of interest on a scheduled
payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such interest payment (a "Special Record
Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when funds for the payment of such interest
have been received from the Issuer.  Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment date
of the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record Date) shall be sent at least five
business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, to the
address of each owner of a Bond appearing on the Registration Books at the close of business on the last
business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

ANY ACCRUED INTEREST due at maturity or upon the redemption of this Bond prior to maturity
as provided herein shall be paid to the registered owner upon presentation and surrender of this Bond for
payment or redemption at the principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar.  The Issuer
covenants with the registered owner of this Bond that on or before each principal payment date and interest
payment date for this Bond it will make available to the Paying Agent/Registrar, from the "Interest and
Sinking Fund" created by the Bond Ordinance, the amounts required to provide for the payment, in
immediately available funds, of all principal of and interest on the Bonds, when due.

IF THE DATE for any payment of the principal of or interest on this Bond shall be a Saturday,
Sunday, a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions in the city where the principal corporate trust
office of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date
for such payment shall be the next succeeding day that is not such a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or day
on which banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have the same force
and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.

228
228



9

THIS BOND is one of a series of Bonds dated _________________, ______, authorized in
accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas in the principal amount of $____________
for the public purposes of providing funds for constructing, installing and equipping street and sidewalk
improvements, parking lots, landscaping, pedestrian areas and related improvements in the historic downtown
area, and the acquisition of land and interests in land necessary therefor;  constructing, improving, extending,
expanding, upgrading and developing streets, roads and thoroughfares in the City, as follows: reconstruction
and rehabilitation of existing streets, road and thoroughfares and Interstate 30 ramps, access road and related
improvements, including bridges, intersections, utility relocation, landscaping, sidewalks, traffic safety and
operational improvements, the purchase of any necessary land and right-of-way, drainage and other related
costs, with any remaining bond proceeds to be used for construction and improvement of such other streets
and roads as the City Council may determine; refunding certain outstanding obligations of the Issuer; and to
pay the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.

ON _____________________, or on any date thereafter, the Bonds of this series may be redeemed
prior to their scheduled maturities, at the option of the Issuer, with funds derived from any available and
lawful source, as a whole, or in part, and, if in part, the particular Bonds, or portions thereof, to be redeemed
shall be selected and designated by the Issuer (provided that a portion of a Bond may be redeemed only in
an integral multiple of $5,000), at a redemption price equal to the principal amount to be redeemed plus
accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

THE BONDS scheduled to mature on _____________ in the years ____ and ____ (the "Term
Bonds") are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption by the Paying Agent/Registrar by lot, or by any other
customary method that results in a random selection, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus
accrued interest to the redemption date, out of moneys available for such purpose in the interest and sinking
fund for the Bonds, on the dates and in the respective principal amounts, set forth in the following schedule:

Term Bond
Maturity: _________, ____

Term Bond
Maturity: _________, ____

Mandatory Redemption Date
Principal
Amount Mandatory Redemption Date

Principal
Amount

_________, ____ $___________ _________, ____ $___________
_________, ____ ____________ _________, ____ ____________
_________, ____ ____________ _________, ____ ____________
_________, ____(maturity) ____________ _________, ____ (maturity) ____________

The principal amount of Term Bonds of a stated maturity required to be redeemed on any mandatory
redemption date pursuant to the operation of the mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions shall be
reduced, at the option of the Issuer, by the principal amount of any Term Bonds of the same maturity which,
at least 50 days prior to a mandatory redemption date (1) shall have been acquired by the Issuer at a price not
exceeding the principal amount of such Term Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of purchase thereof, and
delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, (2) shall have been purchased and canceled by the
Paying Agent/Registrar at the request of the Issuer at a price not exceeding the principal amount of such Term
Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of purchase, or (3) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional
redemption provisions and not theretofore credited against a mandatory redemption requirement.

IF AT THE TIME OF MAILING of notice of optional redemption there shall not have either been
deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar or legally authorized escrow agent immediately available funds
sufficient to redeem all the Bonds called for redemption, such notice may state that it is conditional, and is
subject to the deposit of the redemption moneys with the Paying Agent/Registrar or legally authorized escrow

229
229



10

agent at or prior to the redemption date.  If such redemption is not effectuated, the Paying Agent/Registrar
shall, within five days thereafter, give notice in the manner in which the notice of redemption was given that
such moneys were not so received and shall rescind the redemption.

AT LEAST 30 DAYS prior to the date fixed for any redemption of Bonds or portions thereof prior
to maturity a written notice of such redemption shall be sent by the Paying Agent/Registrar by United States
mail, first-class postage prepaid, at least 30 days prior to the date fixed for any such redemption, to the
registered owner of each Bond to be redeemed at its address as it appeared on the 45th day prior to such
redemption date; provided, however, that the failure of the registered owner to receive such notice, or any
defect therein or in the sending or mailing thereof, shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the
proceedings for the redemption of any Bond.  By the date fixed for any such redemption due provision shall
be made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the required redemption price for the Bonds or
portions thereof that are to be so redeemed.  If such written notice of redemption is sent and if due provision
for such payment is made, all as provided above, the Bonds or portions thereof that are to be so redeemed
thereby automatically shall be treated as redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, and they shall not bear
interest after the date fixed for redemption, and they shall not be regarded as being outstanding except for the
right of the registered owner to receive the redemption price from the Paying Agent/Registrar out of the funds
provided for such payment.  If a portion of any Bond shall be redeemed, a substitute Bond or Bonds having
the same maturity date, bearing interest at the same rate, in any denomination or denominations in any
integral multiple of $5,000, at the written request of the registered owner, and in aggregate principal amount
equal to the unredeemed portion thereof, will be issued to the registered owner upon the surrender thereof
for cancellation, at the expense of the Issuer, all as provided in the Bond Ordinance.

ALL BONDS OF THIS SERIES are issuable solely as fully registered bonds, without interest
coupons, in the denomination of any integral multiple of $5,000.  As provided in the Bond Ordinance, this
Bond may, at the request of the registered owner or the assignee or assignees hereof, be assigned, transferred,
converted into and exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of fully registered Bonds, without interest
coupons, payable to the appropriate registered owner, assignee or assignees, as the case may be, having the
same denomination or denominations in any integral multiple of $5,000 as requested in writing by the
appropriate registered owner, assignee or assignees, as the case may be, upon surrender of this Bond to the
Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, all in accordance with the form and procedures set forth in the Bond
Ordinance.  Among other requirements for such assignment and transfer, this Bond must be presented and
surrendered to the Paying Agent/Registrar, together with proper instruments of assignment, in form and with
guarantee of signatures satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar, evidencing assignment of this Bond or any
portion or portions hereof in any integral multiple of $5,000 to the assignee or assignees in whose name or
names this Bond or any such portion or portions hereof is or are to be registered.  The form of Assignment
printed or endorsed on this Bond may be executed by the registered owner to evidence the assignment hereof,
but such method is not exclusive, and other instruments of assignment satisfactory to the Paying
Agent/Registrar may be used to evidence the assignment of this Bond or any portion or portions hereof from
time to time by the registered owner.  The Paying Agent/Registrar's reasonable standard or customary fees
and charges for assigning, transferring, converting and exchanging any Bond or portion thereof will be paid
by the Issuer.  In any circumstance, any taxes or governmental charges required to be paid with respect
thereto shall be paid by the one requesting such assignment, transfer, conversion or exchange, as a condition
precedent to the exercise of such privilege.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall not be required to make any
such transfer, conversion, or exchange (i) during the period commencing with the close of business on any
Record Date and ending with the opening of business on the next following principal or interest payment date,
or (ii) with respect to any Bond or any portion thereof called for redemption prior to maturity, within 45 days
prior to its redemption date.

230
230



11

IN THE EVENT any Paying Agent/Registrar for the Bonds is changed by the Issuer, resigns, or
otherwise ceases to act as such, the Issuer has covenanted in the Bond Ordinance that it promptly will appoint
a competent and legally qualified substitute therefor, and cause written notice thereof to be mailed to the
registered owners of the Bonds.

IT IS HEREBY certified, recited and covenanted that this Bond has been duly and validly authorized,
issued and delivered; that all acts, conditions and things required or proper to be performed, exist and be done
precedent to or in the authorization, issuance and delivery of this Bond have been performed, existed and been
done in accordance with law; and that annual ad valorem taxes sufficient to provide for the payment of the
interest on and principal of this Bond, as such interest comes due and such principal matures, have been
levied and ordered to be levied against all taxable property in said Issuer, and have been pledged for such
payment, within the limit prescribed by law.

THE ISSUER HAS RESERVED THE RIGHT to amend the Bond Ordinance as provided therein,
and under some (but not all) circumstances amendments thereto must be approved by the registered owners
of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bonds.

BY BECOMING the registered owner of this Bond, the registered owner thereby acknowledges all
of the terms and provisions of the Bond Ordinance, agrees to be bound by such terms and provisions,
acknowledges that the Bond Ordinance is duly recorded and available for inspection in the official minutes
and records of the governing body of the Issuer, and agrees that the terms and provisions of this Bond and
the Bond Ordinance constitute a contract between each registered owner hereof and the Issuer.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Bond to be signed with the manual or facsimile
signature of the Mayor of the Issuer (or in his absence, the Mayor Pro Tem) and countersigned with the
manual or facsimile signature of the City Secretary of said Issuer, and has caused the official seal of the Issuer
to be duly impressed, or placed in facsimile, on this Bond.

(signature) (signature)
City Secretary Mayor

(SEAL)

(b)  Form of Paying Agent/Registrar's Authentication Certificate.

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR'S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE
(To be executed if this Bond is not accompanied by an executed 

Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas)

It is hereby certified that this Bond has been issued under the provisions of the Bond Ordinance
described in the text of this Bond; and that this Bond has been issued in conversion or replacement of, or in
exchange for, a Bond, Bonds, or a portion of a Bond or Bonds of a series that originally was approved by the
Attorney General of the State of Texas and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of
Texas.

Dated: . _________________________________
____________________, ____________
Paying Agent/Registrar

By: 

231
231



12

       Authorized Representative

(c)  Form of Assignment.

ASSIGNMENT
(Please print or type clearly)

For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers
unto:

Transferee's Social Security or Taxpayer Identification Number:

Transferee's name and address, including zip code:

the within Bond and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints

, attorney, to register the transfer of
the within Bond on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated: .

Signature Guaranteed:

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an
eligible guarantor institution participating in a
securities transfer association recognized signature
guarantee program.

NOTICE: The signature above must correspond with
the name of the registered owner as it appears upon
the front of this Bond in every particular, without
alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever.

(d)  Form of Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts.

COMPTROLLER'S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE:  REGISTER NO. 

I hereby certify that this Bond has been examined, certified as to validity and approved by the
Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Bond has been registered by the Comptroller of Public
Accounts of the State of Texas. 

Witness my signature and seal this .

Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of
Texas

(COMPTROLLER'S SEAL)

(e)  Initial Bond Insertions.

(i)  The initial Bond shall be in the form set forth is paragraph (a) of this Section, except that:

232
232



13

A.  immediately under the name of the Bond, the headings "Interest Rate" and
"Maturity Date" shall both be completed with the words "As shown below" and "CUSIP No.
_____" shall be deleted.

B.  the first paragraph shall be deleted and the following will be inserted:

"THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, in Rockwall County, Texas (the "Issuer"), being a political
subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner
specified above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the "Registered Owner"), on August 1 in each of the
years, in the principal installments and bearing interest at the per annum rates set forth in the following
schedule:

Years Principal Installments Interest Rates

(Information from Section 2 to be inserted)

The Issuer promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof (calculated on the basis of a 360-
day year of twelve 30-day months) from ____________________ at the respective Interest Rate per annum
specified above.  Interest is payable on ___________________, and semiannually on each _______________
and ______________ thereafter to the date of payment of the principal installment specified above, or the
date of redemption prior to maturity; except, that if this Bond is required to be authenticated and the date of
its authentication is later than the first Record Date (hereinafter defined), such Principal Amount shall bear
interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of authentication, unless such date of
authentication is after any Record Date but on or before the next following interest payment date, in which
case such principal amount shall bear interest from such next following interest payment date; provided,
however, that if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the Bond or Bonds, if any, for which this
Bond is being exchanged is due but has not been paid, then this Bond shall bear interest from the date to
which such interest has been paid in full."

C.  The Initial Bond shall be numbered "T-1."

Section 5.  INTEREST AND SINKING FUND.

(a)  A special "Interest and Sinking Fund" is hereby created and shall be established and maintained
by the Issuer as a separate fund or account and the funds therein shall be deposited into and held in an account
at an official depository bank of said Issuer.  Said Interest and Sinking Fund shall be kept separate and apart
from all other funds and accounts of said Issuer, and shall be used only for paying the interest on and
principal of said Bonds.  All ad valorem taxes levied and collected for and on account of said Bonds shall be
deposited, as collected, to the credit of said Interest and Sinking Fund.  During each year while any of said
Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, the governing body of said Issuer shall compute and ascertain a rate and
amount of ad valorem tax that will be sufficient to raise and produce the money required to pay the interest
on said Bonds as such interest comes due, and to provide and maintain a sinking fund adequate to pay the
principal of said Bonds as such principal matures (but never less than 2% of the original amount of said
Bonds as a sinking fund each year); and said tax shall be based on the latest approved tax rolls of said Issuer,
with full allowances being made for tax delinquencies and the cost of tax collection.  Said rate and amount
of ad valorem tax is hereby levied, and is hereby ordered to be levied, against all taxable property in said
Issuer, for each year while any of said Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, and said tax shall be assessed and
collected each such year and deposited to the credit of the aforesaid Interest and Sinking Fund.  Said ad
valorem taxes sufficient to provide for the payment of the interest on and principal of said Bonds, as such

233
233



14

interest comes due and such principal matures, are hereby pledged for such payment, within the limit
prescribed by law.  Notwithstanding the requirements of this section, if lawfully available moneys of the
Issuer are on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund in advance of the time when ad valorem taxes are
scheduled to be levied for any year, then the amount of taxes that otherwise would have been required to be
levied pursuant to this Section may be reduced to the extent and by the amount of the lawfully available funds
then on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund.

(b)  Article 1208, Government Code, applies to the issuance of the Bonds and the pledge of the taxes
granted by the Issuer under this Section, and is therefore valid, effective, and perfected.  Should Texas law
be amended at any time while the Bonds are outstanding and unpaid, the result of such amendment being that
the pledge of the taxes granted by the Issuer under this Section is to be subject to the filing requirements of
Chapter 9, Business & Commerce Code, in order to preserve to the registered owners of the Bonds a security
interest in said pledge, the Issuer agrees to take such measures as it determines are reasonable and necessary
under Texas law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9, Business & Commerce Code and
enable a filing of a security interest in said pledge to occur.

Section 6.  DEFEASANCE OF BONDS.

(a)  Any Bond and the interest thereon shall be deemed to be paid, retired and no longer outstanding
(a "Defeased Bond") within the meaning of this Ordinance, except to the extent provided in subsection (d)
of this Section, when payment of the principal of such Bond, plus interest thereon to the due date (whether
such due date be by reason of maturity or otherwise) either (i) shall have been made or caused to be made in
accordance with the terms thereof, or (ii) shall have been provided for on or before such due date by
irrevocably depositing with or making available to the Paying Agent/Registrar in accordance with an escrow
agreement or other instrument (the "Future Escrow Agreement") for such payment (1) lawful money of the
United States of America sufficient to make such payment or (2) Defeasance Securities that mature as to
principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will insure the availability, without reinvestment,
of sufficient money to provide for such payment, and when proper arrangements have been made by the
Issuer with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of its services until all Defeased Bonds shall have
become due and payable.  At such time as a Bond shall be deemed to be a Defeased Bond hereunder, as
aforesaid, such Bond and the interest thereon shall no longer be secured by, payable from, or entitled to the
benefits of, the ad valorem taxes herein levied and pledged as provided in this Ordinance, and such principal
and interest shall be payable solely from such money or Defeasance Securities.  Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, it is hereby provided that any determination not to redeem
Defeased Bonds that is made in conjunction with the payment arrangements specified in Subsection (a)(i) or
(ii) of this Section shall not be irrevocable, provided that:  (1) in the proceedings providing for such payment
arrangements, the Issuer expressly reserves the right to call the Defeased Bonds for redemption; (2) gives
notice of the reservation of that right to the owners of the Defeased Bonds immediately following the making
of the payment arrangements; and (3) directs that notice of the reservation be included in any redemption
notices that it authorizes.

(b)  Any moneys so deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar may at the written direction of the
Issuer be invested in Defeasance Securities, maturing in the amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and
all income from such Defeasance Securities received by the Paying Agent/Registrar that is not required for
the payment of the Bonds and interest thereon, with respect to which such money has been so deposited, shall
be turned over to the Issuer, or deposited as directed in writing by the Issuer.  Any Future Escrow Agreement
pursuant to which the money and/or Defeasance Securities are held for the payment of Defeased Bonds may
contain provisions permitting the investment or reinvestment of such moneys in Defeasance Securities or the
substitution of other Defeasance Securities upon the satisfaction of the requirements specified in Subsection
(a)(i) or (ii) of this Section.  All income from such Defeasance Securities received by the Paying

234
234



15

Agent/Registrar which is not required for the payment of the Defeased Bonds, with respect to which such
money has been so deposited, shall be remitted to the Issuer or deposited as directed in writing by the Issuer.

(c)  The term "Defeasance Securities" means any securities and obligations now or hereafter
authorized by State law that are eligible to refund, retire or otherwise discharge obligations such as the Bonds.

(d)  Until all Defeased Bonds shall have become due and payable, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall
perform the services of Paying Agent/Registrar for such Defeased Bonds the same as if they had not been
defeased, and the Issuer shall make proper arrangements to provide and pay for such services as required by
this Ordinance. 

(e)  In the event that the Issuer elects to defease less than all of the principal amount of Bonds of a
maturity, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select, or cause to be selected, such amount of Bonds by such
random method as it deems fair and appropriate.

 Section 7.  DAMAGED, MUTILATED, LOST, STOLEN, OR DESTROYED BONDS. 

(a)  Replacement Bonds.  In the event any outstanding Bond is damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen or
destroyed, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cause to be printed, executed and delivered, a new Bond of the
same principal amount, maturity and interest rate, as the damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Bond,
in replacement for such Bond in the manner hereinafter provided.

(b)  Application for Replacement Bonds.  Application for replacement of damaged, mutilated, lost,
stolen or destroyed Bonds shall be made by the registered owner thereof to the Paying Agent/Registrar.  In
every case of loss, theft or destruction of a Bond, the registered owner applying for a replacement Bond shall
furnish to the Issuer and to the Paying Agent/Registrar such security or indemnity as may be required by them
to save each of them harmless from any loss or damage with respect thereto.  Also, in every case of loss, theft
or destruction of a Bond, the registered owner shall furnish to the Issuer and to the Paying Agent/Registrar
evidence to their satisfaction of the loss, theft or destruction of such Bond, as the case may be.  In every case
of damage or mutilation of a Bond, the registered owner shall surrender to the Paying Agent/Registrar for
cancellation the Bond so damaged or mutilated.

(c)  No Default Occurred.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, in the event any
such Bond shall have matured, and no default has occurred that is then continuing in the payment of the
principal of, redemption premium, if any, or interest on the Bond, the Issuer may authorize the payment of
the same (without surrender thereof except in the case of a damaged or mutilated Bond) instead of issuing
a replacement Bond, provided security or indemnity is furnished as above provided in this Section.

(d)  Charge for Issuing Replacement Bonds.  Prior to the issuance of any replacement Bond, the
Paying Agent/Registrar shall charge the registered owner of such Bond with all legal, printing, and other
expenses in connection therewith.  Every replacement Bond issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section
by virtue of the fact that any Bond is lost, stolen or destroyed shall constitute a contractual obligation of the
Issuer whether or not the lost, stolen or destroyed Bond shall be found at any time, or be enforceable by
anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Ordinance equally and proportionately with any and
all other Bonds duly issued under this Ordinance.

(e)  Authority for Issuing Replacement Bonds.  In accordance with Section 1206.022, Government
Code, this Section 7 of this Ordinance shall constitute authority for the issuance of any such replacement
Bond without necessity of further action by the governing body of the Issuer or any other body or person, and
the duty of the replacement of such Bonds is hereby authorized and imposed upon the Paying

235
235



16

Agent/Registrar, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver such Bonds in the form and
manner and with the effect, as provided in Section 3(a) of this Ordinance for Bonds issued in conversion and
exchange for other Bonds.

Section 8.  CUSTODY, APPROVAL, AND REGISTRATION OF BONDS; BOND COUNSEL'S
OPINION; CUSIP NUMBERS AND CONTINGENT INSURANCE PROVISION, IF OBTAINED;
ENGAGEMENT OF BOND COUNSEL.

(a)  The Mayor of the Issuer and each of the Pricing Officers is hereby authorized to have control of
the Bonds initially issued and delivered hereunder and all necessary records and proceedings pertaining to
the Bonds pending their delivery and their investigation, examination, and approval by the Attorney General
of the State of Texas, and their registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.
Upon registration of the Bonds said Comptroller of Public Accounts (or a deputy designated in writing to act
for said Comptroller) shall manually sign the Comptroller's Registration Certificate attached to such Bonds,
and the seal of said Comptroller shall be impressed, or placed in facsimile, on such Bond.  The approving
legal opinion of the Issuer's Bond Counsel and the assigned CUSIP numbers may, at the option of the Issuer,
be printed on the Bonds issued and delivered under this Ordinance, but neither shall have any legal effect,
and shall be solely for the convenience and information of the registered owners of the Bonds.  In addition,
if bond insurance is obtained, the Bonds may bear an appropriate legend as provided by the insurer.

(b)  The obligation of the initial purchaser to accept delivery of the Bonds is subject to the initial
purchaser being furnished with the final, approving opinion of McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., bond
counsel to the Issuer, which opinion shall be dated as of and delivered on the date of initial delivery of the
Bonds to the initial purchaser.  The engagement of such firm as bond counsel to the Issuer in connection with
issuance, sale and delivery of the Bonds is hereby approved and confirmed.  The execution and delivery of
an engagement letter between the Issuer and such firm, with respect to such services as bond counsel, is
hereby authorized in such form as may be approved by the Mayor, and the Mayor is hereby authorized to
execute such engagement letter.

Section 9.  COVENANTS REGARDING TAX EXEMPTION OF INTEREST ON THE BONDS.

(a)  Covenants.  The Issuer covenants to take any action necessary to assure, or refrain from any
action that would adversely affect, the treatment of the Bonds as obligations described in section 103 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code"), the interest on which is not includable in the "gross income"
of the holder for purposes of federal income taxation.  In furtherance thereof, the Issuer covenants as follows:

(1)  to take any action to assure that no more than 10 percent of the proceeds of the Bonds
(less amounts deposited to a reserve fund, if any) are used for any "private business use," as defined
in section 141(b)(6) of the Code or, if more than 10 percent of the proceeds or the projects financed
therewith are so used, such amounts, whether or not received by the Issuer, with respect to such
private business use, do not, under the terms of this Ordinance or any underlying arrangement,
directly or indirectly, secure or provide for the payment of more than 10 percent of the debt service
on the Bonds, in contravention of section 141(b)(2) of the Code;

(2)  to take any action to assure that in the event that the "private business use" described in
subsection (1) hereof exceeds 5 percent of the proceeds of the Bonds or the projects financed
therewith (less amounts deposited into a reserve fund, if any) then the amount in excess of 5 percent
is used for a "private business use" that is "related" and not "disproportionate," within the meaning
of section 141(b)(3) of the Code, to the governmental use;

236
236



17

(3)  to take any action to assure that no amount that is greater than the lesser of $5,000,000,
or 5 percent of the proceeds of the Bonds (less amounts deposited into a reserve fund, if any) is
directly or indirectly used to finance loans to persons, other than state or local governmental units,
in contravention of section 141(c) of the Code;

(4)  to refrain from taking any action that would otherwise result in the Bonds being treated
as "private activity bonds" within the meaning of section 141(b) of the Code;

(5)  to refrain from taking any action that would result in the Bonds being "federally
guaranteed" within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code;

(6)  to refrain from using any portion of the proceeds of the Bonds, directly or indirectly, to
acquire or to replace funds that were used, directly or indirectly, to acquire investment property (as
defined in section 148(b)(2) of the Code) that produces a materially higher yield over the term of the
Bonds, other than investment property acquired with –

(A)  proceeds of the Bonds invested for a reasonable temporary period of 3 years or
less or, in the case of an advance refunding bond, for a period of 30 days or less, and in the
case of a current refunding bond, for a period of 90 days or less, until such proceeds are
needed for the purpose for which the Bonds are issued,

(B)  amounts invested in a bona fide debt service fund, within the meaning of section
1.148-1(b) of the Treasury Regulations, and

(C)  amounts deposited in any reasonably required reserve or replacement fund to
the extent such amounts do not exceed 10 percent of the proceeds of the Bonds;

(7)  to otherwise restrict the use of the proceeds of the Bonds or amounts treated as proceeds
of the Bonds, as may be necessary, so that the Bonds do not otherwise contravene the requirements
of section 148 of the Code (relating to arbitrage) and, to the extent applicable, section 149(d) of the
Code (relating to advance refundings); and

(8)  to pay to the United States of America at least once during each five-year period
(beginning on the date of delivery of the Bonds) an amount that is at least equal to 90 percent of the
"Excess Earnings," within the meaning of section 148(f) of the Code and to pay to the United States
of America, not later than 60 days after the Bonds have been paid in full, 100 percent of the amount
then required to be paid as a result of Excess Earnings under section 148(f) of the Code.

(b)  Rebate Fund.  In order to facilitate compliance with the above covenant (a)(8), a "Rebate Fund"
is hereby established by the Issuer for the sole benefit of the United States of America, and such Fund shall
not be subject to the claim of any other person, including without limitation the Bondholders.  The Rebate
Fund is established for the additional purpose of compliance with section 148 of the Code.

(c)  Use of Proceeds.  For purposes of the foregoing covenants (a)(1) and (a)(2), the Issuer
understands that the term "proceeds" includes "disposition proceeds" as defined in the Treasury Regulations
and, in the case of refunding bonds, transferred proceeds (if any) and proceeds of the Refunded Obligations
expended prior to the date of issuance of the Bonds.  It is the understanding of the Issuer that the covenants
contained herein are intended to assure compliance with the Code and any regulations or rulings promulgated
by the U.S. Department of the Treasury pursuant thereto.  In the event that regulations or rulings are hereafter
promulgated that modify or expand provisions of the Code, as applicable to the Bonds, the Issuer will not be

237
237



18

required to comply with any covenant contained herein to the extent that such failure to comply, in the
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, will not adversely affect the exemption from federal income
taxation of interest on the Bonds under section 103 of the Code.  In the event that regulations or rulings are
hereafter promulgated that impose additional requirements applicable to the Bonds, the Issuer agrees to
comply with the additional requirements to the extent necessary, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond
counsel, to preserve the exemption from federal income taxation of interest on the Bonds under section 103
of the Code.  In furtherance of such intention, the Issuer hereby authorizes and directs the Mayor and each
Pricing Officer, or any one of them, to execute any documents, certificates or reports required by the Code
and to make such elections, on behalf of the Issuer, that may be permitted by the Code as are consistent with
the purpose for the issuance of the Bonds.

(d)  Allocation of, and Limitation on, Expenditures for the Improvement Projects.  The Issuer
covenants to account for the expenditure of sale proceeds and investment earnings to be used for the
construction and acquisition of the Improvement Projects on its books and records by allocating proceeds to
expenditures within 18 months of the later of the date that (1) the expenditure is made, or (2) the
Improvement Project is completed. The foregoing notwithstanding, the Issuer shall not expend proceeds of
the sale of the Bonds or investment earnings thereon more than 60 days after the earlier of (1) the fifth
anniversary of the delivery of the Bonds, or (2) the date the Bonds are retired, unless the Issuer obtains an
opinion of nationally-recognized bond counsel that such expenditure will not adversely affect the status, for
federal income tax purposes, of the Bonds or the interest thereon. For purposes hereof, the Issuer shall not
be obligated to comply with this covenant if it obtains an opinion that such failure to comply will not
adversely affect the excludability for federal income tax purposes from gross income of the interest.

(e)  Disposition of Projects.  The Issuer covenants that the property constituting the Projects will not
be sold or otherwise disposed in a transaction resulting in the receipt by the Issuer of cash or other
compensation, unless any action taken in connection with such disposition will not adversely affect the tax-
exempt status of the Bonds.  For purpose of the foregoing, the Issuer may rely on an opinion of nationally-
recognized bond counsel that the action taken in connection with such sale or other disposition will not
adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Bonds.  For purposes of the foregoing, the portion of the property
comprising personal property and disposed in the ordinary course shall not be treated as a transaction
resulting in the receipt of cash or other compensation.  For purposes hereof, the Issuer shall not be obligated
to comply with this covenant if it obtains an opinion that such failure to comply will not adversely affect the
excludability for federal income tax purposes from gross income of the interest.

Section 10.  SALE OF BONDS AND APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT; FURTHER
PROCEDURES. 

(a)  The Bonds shall be sold and delivered subject to the provisions of Section 1 and Section 2 and
pursuant to the terms and provisions of a purchase agreement or purchase letter (the "Purchase Agreement")
which the Pricing Officer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver and in which the purchaser or
purchasers (the "Underwriters") of the Bonds shall be designated.  The Bonds shall initially be registered in
the name of the purchaser thereof as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

(b)  The Mayor and City Secretary are further authorized and directed to execute and deliver for and
on behalf of the Issuer copies of a Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement, if prepared in
connection with the offering of the Bonds by the Underwriters, in final form as may be required by the
Underwriters, and such final Official Statement in the form and content as approved by the Pricing Officer
or as manually executed by said officials shall be deemed to be approved by the City Council and constitute
the Official Statement authorized for distribution and use by the Underwriters. The form and substance of the
Preliminary Official Statement for the Bonds and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, all as

238
238



19

approved by the Pricing Officer, are hereby deemed to be approved in all respects by the City Council, and
the Preliminary Official Statement is hereby deemed final as of its date (except for the omission of pricing
and related information) within the meaning and for the purpose of paragraph (b)(1) of the Rule (hereinafter
defined).

(c)  The Pricing Officer is authorized, in connection with effecting the sale of the Bonds, to obtain
from a municipal bond insurance company so designated in the Pricing Certificate (the "Insurer") a municipal
bond insurance policy (the "Insurance Policy") in support of the Bonds.  To that end, should the Pricing
Officer exercise such authority and commit the Issuer to obtain a municipal bond insurance policy, for so long
as the Insurance Policy is in effect, the requirements of the Insurer relating to the issuance of the Insurance
Policy as set forth in the Pricing Certificate are incorporated by reference into this Ordinance and made a part
hereof for all purposes, notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary.  The Pricing
Officer shall have the authority to execute any documents to effect the issuance of the Insurance Policy by
the Insurer.

(d)  The Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, the City Secretary and the Pricing Officers of the Issuer, and
each of them, shall be and they are hereby expressly authorized, empowered and directed from time to time
and at any time to do and perform all such acts and things and to execute, acknowledge and deliver in the
name and on behalf of the Issuer such documents, certificates and other instruments, whether or not herein
mentioned, as may be necessary or desirable in order to carry out the terms and provisions of this Ordinance,
the Bonds, the sale of the Bonds and the Official Statement.  In case any officer whose signature shall appear
on any Bond shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of such Bond, such signature shall nevertheless
be valid and sufficient for all purposes the same as if such officer had remained in office until such delivery.

Section 11.  INTEREST EARNINGS ON BOND PROCEEDS.  Interest earnings derived from the
investment of proceeds from the sale of the Bonds issued for the Improvement Projects shall be used along
with other Bond proceeds for the Improvement Projects; provided that after completion of such purpose, if
any of such interest earnings remain on hand, such interest earnings shall be deposited in the Interest and
Sinking Fund.  It is further provided, however, that any interest earnings on Bond proceeds that are required
to be rebated to the United States of America pursuant to Section 9 hereof in order to prevent the Bonds from
being arbitrage bonds shall be so rebated and not considered as interest earnings for the purposes of this
Section.

Section 12.  CONSTRUCTION FUND.

(a)  The Issuer hereby creates and establishes and shall maintain on the books of the Issuer a separate
fund to be entitled the "Series 2016 General Obligation Bonds Construction Fund" for use by the Issuer for
payment of all lawful costs associated with the acquisition and construction of the Improvement Projects as
hereinbefore provided.  Upon payment of all such costs, any moneys remaining on deposit in said fund shall
be transferred to the Interest and Sinking fund.  Amounts so deposited to the Interest and Sinking Fund shall
be used in the manner described in Section 5 of this Ordinance.

(b)  The Issuer may invest proceeds of the Bonds (including investment earnings thereon) issued for
Improvement Projects and amounts deposited into the Interest and Sinking Fund in investments authorized
by the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, as amended; provided,
however, that the Issuer hereby covenants that the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds will be used as soon as
practicable for the purposes for which the Bonds are issued.

(c)  All deposits authorized or required by this Ordinance shall be secured to the fullest extent
required by law for the security of public funds.

239
239



20

Section 13.  COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15c2-12.

(a)  Definitions.  As used in this Section, the following terms have the meanings ascribed to such
terms below:

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

(b)  Annual Reports.

(i)  The Issuer shall provide annually to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by
the MSRB, within 6 months after the end of each fiscal year ending in or after 2016, financial
information and operating data with respect to the Issuer of the general type included in the final
Official Statement authorized by Section 10 of this Ordinance, being the information described in
the Pricing Certificate.  The Issuer will additionally provide audited financial statements when and
if available, and in any event, within 12 months after the end of each fiscal year ending in or after
2016.  If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within 12 months after any such fiscal
year end, then the Issuer will file unaudited financial statements within such 12 month period and
audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year, when and if the audit report on such
statements becomes available.  Any financial statements so to be provided shall be prepared in
accordance with the accounting principles described in Appendix B to the Official Statement, or such
other accounting principles as the Issuer may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to
state law or regulation.

(ii)  If the Issuer changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the
date of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the Issuer otherwise would be
required to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section.  The financial
information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may be set forth in full in one
or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any document that is available to the
public on the MSRB's internet website or filed with the SEC.  All documents provided to the MSRB
pursuant to this Section shall be accompanied by identifying information as prescribed by the MSRB.

(c)  Event Notices.  

(i) The Issuer shall notify the MSRB in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in
a timely manner (but not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event) of any of
the following events with respect to the Bonds, if such event is material within the meaning of the
federal securities laws:

1.  Non-payment related defaults;

2.  Modifications to rights of Bondholders;

3.  Bond calls;

4.  Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds;

240
240



21

5.  The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an
obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person,
other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such
actions, other than pursuant to its terms; and

6.  Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a
trustee.

(ii) The Issuer shall notify the MSRB in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB,
in a timely manner (but not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event) of any
of the following events with respect to the Bonds, without regard to whether such event is considered
material within the meaning of the federal securities laws:

1.  Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2.  Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

3.  Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

4.  Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

5.  Adverse tax opinions or the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701–TEB) or
other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds;

6.  Tender offers;

7.  Defeasances;

8.  Rating changes; and

9.  Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of an obligated person.

(iii)  The Issuer shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the Issuer to
provide financial information or operating data in accordance with subsection (b) of this Section by
the time required by such subsection. 

(d)  Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments.

(i)  The Issuer shall be obligated to observe and perform the covenants specified in this
Section for so long as, but only for so long as, the Issuer remains an "obligated person" with respect
to the Bonds within the meaning of the Rule, except that the Issuer in any event will give notice of
any deposit made in accordance with this Ordinance or applicable law that causes Bonds no longer
to be outstanding.

(ii)  The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the registered owners and
beneficial owners of the Bonds, and nothing in this Section, express or implied, shall give any benefit
or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person.  The Issuer

241
241



22

undertakes to provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices
which it has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby undertake to
provide any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the
Issuer's financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information
provided in accordance with this Section or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein.  The
Issuer does not make any representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness
to a decision to invest in or sell Bonds at any future date.

(iii)  UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE ISSUER BE LIABLE TO THE
REGISTERED OWNER OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY BOND OR ANY OTHER PERSON,
IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART FROM
ANY BREACH BY THE ISSUER, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON ITS
PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND
REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF
ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC
PERFORMANCE.

(iv)  No default by the Issuer in observing or performing its obligations under this Section
shall comprise a breach of or default under this Ordinance for purposes of any other provision of this
Ordinance.  Nothing in this Section is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the
duties of the Issuer under federal and state securities laws.

(v)  Should the Rule be amended to obligate the Issuer to make filings with or provide notices
to entities other than the MSRB, the Issuer hereby agrees to undertake such obligation with respect
to the Bonds in accordance with the Rule as amended.  The provisions of this Section may be
amended by the Issuer from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change
in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations
of the Issuer, but only if (1) the provisions of this Section, as so amended, would have permitted an
underwriter to purchase or sell Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds in compliance with the
Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule since such offering as well
as such changed circumstances and (2) either (a) the registered owners of a majority in aggregate
principal amount (or any greater amount required by any other provision of this Ordinance that
authorizes such an amendment) of the outstanding Bonds consent to such amendment or (b) a person
that is unaffiliated with the Issuer (such as nationally recognized bond counsel) determined that such
amendment will not materially impair the interest of the registered owners and beneficial owners of
the Bonds.  The Issuer may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure
agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable provision of the Rule or a court of final
jurisdiction enters judgment that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent
that the provisions of this sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or
selling Bonds in the primary offering of the Bonds.  If the Issuer so amends the provisions of this
Section, it shall include with any amended financial information or operating data next provided in
accordance with subsection (b) of this Section an explanation, in narrative form, of the reason for the
amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of financial information or operating data
so provided.

Section 14.  METHOD OF AMENDMENT. The Issuer hereby reserves the right to amend this
Ordinance subject to the following terms and conditions, to-wit:

(a)  The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of any holder, except as otherwise required
by paragraph (b) below, amend or supplement this Ordinance in order to (i) cure any ambiguity, defect or
omission in this Ordinance that does not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders, (ii) grant

242
242



23

additional rights or security for the benefit of the holders, (iii) add events of default as shall not be
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance and that shall not materially adversely affect the interests
of the holders, (iv) qualify this Ordinance under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or
corresponding provisions of federal laws from time to time in effect, or (v) make such other provisions in
regard to matters or questions arising under this Ordinance as shall not be inconsistent with the provisions
of this Ordinance and that shall not in the opinion of the Issuer’s Bond Counsel materially adversely affect
the interests of the holders.

(b)  Except as provided in paragraph (a) above, the holders of Bonds aggregating in principal amount
51% of the aggregate principal amount of then outstanding Bonds that are the subject of a proposed
amendment shall have the right from time to time to approve any amendment hereto that may be deemed
necessary or desirable by the Issuer; provided, however, that without the consent of 100% of the holders in
aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Bonds, nothing herein contained shall permit or be
construed to permit amendment of the terms and conditions of this Ordinance or in any of the Bonds so as
to:

(1)  Make any change in the maturity of any of the outstanding Bonds;

(2)  Reduce the rate of interest borne by any of the outstanding Bonds;

(3)  Reduce the amount of the principal of, or redemption premium, if any, payable on any
outstanding Bonds;

(4)  Modify the terms of payment of principal or of interest or redemption premium on
outstanding Bonds or any of them or impose any condition with respect to such payment; or

(5)  Change the minimum percentage of the principal amount of the Bonds necessary for
consent to such amendment.

(c)  If at any time the Issuer shall desire to amend this Ordinance under this Section, the Issuer shall
send by U.S. mail to each registered owner of the affected Bonds a copy of the proposed amendment. 

(d)  Whenever at any time within one year from the date of mailing of such notice the Issuer shall
receive an instrument or instruments executed by the holders of at least 51% in aggregate principal amount
of all of the Bonds then outstanding that are required for the amendment, which instrument or instruments
shall refer to the proposed amendment and that shall specifically consent to and approve such amendment,
the Issuer may adopt the amendment in substantially the same form.

(e)  Upon the adoption of any amendatory Ordinance pursuant to the provisions of this Section, this
Ordinance shall be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance with such amendatory Ordinance, and
the respective rights, duties, and obligations of the Issuer and all holders of such affected Bonds shall
thereafter be determined, exercised, and enforced, subject in all respects to such amendment.

(f)  Any consent given by the holder of a Bond pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall be
irrevocable for a period of six months from the date of such consent, and shall be conclusive and binding
upon all future holders of the same Bond during such period.  Such consent may be revoked at any time after
six months from the date of such consent by the holder who gave such consent, or by a successor in title, by
filing notice with the Issuer, but such revocation shall not be effective if the holders of 51% in aggregate
principal amount of the affected Bonds then outstanding, have, prior to the attempted revocation, consented
to and approved the amendment.

243
243



24

For the purposes of establishing ownership of the Bonds, the Issuer shall rely solely upon the
registration of the ownership of such Bonds on the registration books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar.

Section 15.  DEFAULT AND REMEDIES.

(a)  Events of Default.  Each of the following occurrences or events for the purpose of this Ordinance
is hereby declared to be an Event of Default:

(i)  the failure to make payment of the principal of or interest on any of the Bonds when the
same becomes due and payable; or

(ii)  default in the performance or observance of any other covenant, agreement or obligation
of the Issuer, the failure to perform which materially, adversely affects the rights of the registered
owners of the Bonds, including, but not limited to, their prospect or ability to be repaid in accordance
with this Ordinance, and the continuation thereof for a period of 60 days after notice of such default
is given by any Registered Owner to the Issuer.

(b)  Remedies for Default.

(i)  Upon the happening of any Event of Default, then and in every case, any Registered
Owner or an authorized representative thereof, including, but not limited to, a trustee or trustees
therefor, may proceed against the Issuer for the purpose of protecting and enforcing the rights of the
Registered Owners under this Ordinance, by mandamus or other suit, action or special proceeding
in equity or at law, in any court of competent jurisdiction, for any relief permitted by law, including
the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, or thereby to enjoin any act
or thing that may be unlawful or in violation of any right of the Registered Owners hereunder or any
combination of such remedies.

(ii)  It is provided that all such proceedings shall be instituted and maintained for the equal
benefit of all Registered Owners of Bonds then outstanding.

(c)  Remedies Not Exclusive.

(i)  No remedy herein conferred or reserved is intended to be exclusive of any other available
remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to
every other remedy given hereunder or under the Bonds or now or hereafter existing at law or in
equity; provided, however, that notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, the right to
accelerate the debt evidenced by the Bonds shall not be available as a remedy under this Ordinance.

(ii)  The exercise of any remedy herein conferred or reserved shall not be deemed a waiver
of any other available remedy.

(iii)  By accepting the delivery of a Bond authorized under this Ordinance, such Registered
Owner agrees that the certifications required to effectuate any covenants or representations contained
in this Ordinance do not and shall never constitute or give rise to a personal or pecuniary liability or
charge against the officers, employees or trustees of the Issuer or the City Council.

Section 16. APPROVAL OF ESCROW AGREEMENT AND TRANSFER OF FUNDS.  In
furtherance of authority granted by Section 1207.007(b), Texas Government Code, the Mayor or either of the
Pricing Officers are further authorized to enter into and execute on behalf of the Issuer with the escrow agent

244
244



25

named therein, an escrow or similar agreement, in the form and substance as shall be approved by the Pricing
Officer, which agreement will provide for the payment in full of the Refunded Obligations.  In addition, the
Mayor or the Pricing Officer is authorized to purchase such securities, to execute such subscriptions for the
purchase of the Escrowed Securities (as defined in the agreement), if any, and to authorize such contributions
for the escrow fund as provided in the agreement.

Section 17.  REDEMPTION OF REFUNDED OBLIGATIONS.

(a)  Subject to execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement with the Underwriters, the Issuer
hereby directs that the Refunded Obligations be called for redemption on the dates and at such prices as set
forth in the Pricing Certificate.  The Pricing Officer is hereby authorized and directed to issue or cause to be
issued Notice of Redemption of the Refunded Obligations, completed with information from the Pricing
Certificate, to the paying agents for the Refunded Obligations.

(b)  In addition, the paying agents for the Refunded Obligations are hereby directed to provide the
appropriate notices of redemption and defeasance as specified by the ordinances authorizing the issuance of
Refunded Obligations and are hereby directed to make appropriate arrangements so that the Refunded
Obligations may be redeemed on their redemption dates.  The Refunded Obligations shall be presented for
redemption at the paying agents therefor, and shall not bear interest after the date fixed for redemption.

(c)  If the redemption of the Refunded Obligations results in the partial refunding of any maturity of
the Refunded Obligations, the Pricing Officer shall direct the paying agent/registrar for the Refunded
Obligations to designate at random and by lot which of the Refunded Obligations will be payable from and
secured solely from ad valorem taxes of the Issuer pursuant to the ordinance of the Issuer authorizing the
issuance of such Refunded Obligations (the "Refunded Bond Ordinance").  The paying agent/registrar shall
notify by first-class mail all registered owners of all affected bonds of such maturities that: (i) a portion of
such bonds have been refunded and are secured until final maturity solely with cash and investments
maintained by the Escrow Agent in the Escrow Fund, (ii) the principal amount of all affected bonds of such
maturities registered in the name of such registered owner that have been refunded and are payable solely
from cash and investments in the Escrow Fund and the remaining principal amount of all affected bonds of
such maturities registered in the name of such registered owner, if any, have not been refunded and are
payable and secured solely from ad valorem taxes of the Issuer described in the Refunded Obligation
Ordinance, (iii) the registered owner is required to submit his or her Refunded Obligations to the paying
agent/registrar, for the purposes of re-registering such registered owner's bonds and assigning new CUSIP
numbers in order to distinguish the source of payment for the principal and interest on such bonds, and (iv)
payment of principal of and interest on such bonds may, in some circumstances, be delayed until such bonds
have been re-registered and new CUSIP numbers have been assigned as required by (iii) above.

(d)  The source of funds for payment of the principal of and interest on the Refunded Obligations on
their respective maturity or redemption dates shall be from the funds deposited with the Escrow Agent
pursuant to the Escrow Agreement approved in Section 16 of this Ordinance.

Section 18.  APPROPRIATION.  To pay the debt service coming due on the Bonds, if any (as
determined by the Pricing Certificate) prior to receipt of the taxes levied to pay such debt service, there is
hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which are hereby certified to be on hand and available for
such purpose, an amount sufficient to pay such debt service, and such amount shall be used for no other
purpose.

Section 19.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, article, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word
in this Ordinance, or application thereof to any persons or circumstances is held invalid or unconstitutional

245
245



26

by a court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of this
Ordinance, despite such invalidity, which remaining portions shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 20.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  In accordance with the provisions of V.T.C.A., Government Code,
Section 1201.028, this Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption by the City Council.

(Execution Page Follows)

246
246



DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL,
TEXAS, this 19th day of January, 2016.

_______________________________________
ATTEST: Mayor, City of Rockwall, Texas

_______________________________________
City Secretary, City of Rockwall, Texas

[CITY SEAL]

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

________________________________________
City Attorney

1ST Reading: _____________________

2ND Reading: _____________________

247
247



SCHEDULE I

Voted Bonds

Purpose
Amount

Authorized

Amount
Previously

Issued
Unissued
Balance 

Amount
Being
Issued

December 7, 1985 Election

Street Improvements $    1,500,000 $       600,000 $     900,000     $     -0-

December 3, 1994 Election

FM 740 Road Improvements
(Prop. 1)

3,100,000 2,600,000 500,000 -0-

May 12, 2012 Election

Street and Other Improvements
in Downtown Area
(Prop. 2)

8,625,000 6,500,000 2,125,000 880,000

Street and Road Improvements
(Prop. 5)

19,155,000 1,500,000 17,655,000 7,895,000

$ 8,775,000

248
248



SCHEDULE II

Schedule of Refunded Obligations

City of Rockwall, Texas Combination Tax and Limited Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation,
Series 2005.

City of Rockwall, Texas General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2005.

City of Rockwall, Texas General Obligation Bonds, Series 2006.

City of Rockwall, Texas Combination Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2007.

City of Rockwall, Texas General Obligation Bonds, Series 2007.

City of Rockwall, Texas Combination Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2008.

City of Rockwall, General Obligation Bonds, Series 2008.

249
249



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

250
250



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
  
 
TO: Rick Crowley, City Manager  
 
FROM: Mary Smith, Assistant City Manager 
 
DATE: December 30, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: Bond Issuance Ordinances – No Action 
  
 
City staff is preparing to issue debt for various city projects street and utility projects as has 
been discussed at previous Council meetings.  We will issue voter approved General Obligation 
Bonds for the remaining funding of the downtown project and engineering of approved street 
projects.  In addition, bonds will be issued for water/sewer related projects and water/sewer 
equipment in the budget were designated to be coming from short or mid-term debt. 
  
Also previously discussed was the condition of the bond market and the city’s ability to refund 
(refinance) several of our outstanding debt issues for interest savings.  The repayment term 
would remain the same but the interest rates from 2005-08 to current have dropped 
significantly.  Our debt, when issued is structured with a 10-year call provision to be able to take 
advantage of just such a situation. 
 
We will refund seven issues from the 2005-2008 periods totaling just over $75 million dollars 
and resulting in an estimated interest savings over $9million dollars over the remaining terms of 
the issuance.  The new money for bond election projects will be included in this issuance saving 
issuance costs and includes funds for design and to begin construction of the roadways as 
design is completed, the new I-30 on-ramp and the remaining funds to be issued that complete 
the downtown project contract with Hill-Wilkinson.  The new bonds will total $7,895,000 for 
roadways and $880,000 for Downtown.  There will remain the authorization for downtown 
totaling $1,244,000 since other funds were applied to the project.   
 
Parameters Sale 
 
The City began using a Parameters Sale format for debt issues in 2011 due to the financial 
advantages the format affords.  Using this format, the Council sets up criteria by which the Tax 
Notes may be sold including maximum interest rate to be repaid, amortization period and any 
other special repayment terms and then authorizes the City Manager and Finance Director to 
conduct the sale when First Southwest finds that economic conditions warrant it.  The Council is 
asked to set an end date by which the bonds are to be sold and allow them to be sold in one or 
more series (installments).  This allows the sale to be finalized when the market is most 
advantageous to the City.  The Parameters Sale can be conducted either by bidding or by 
negotiation with bond buying institutions.   
 
 
 

251
251



 
 
An Ordinance authorizing issuance of the General Obligation Bonds and a separate ordinance 
authorizing the Certificates of Obligation are included on the Council agenda.  State law 
provides that debt ordinances are effective when approved by Council vote with the first 
reading.  Since our Charter requires ordinances have two readings, the Council will be asked to 
read the caption but not vote on the Ordinance on the 4th.  Adoption of the Ordinance would be 
considered on January 19th.  
 

252
252



CITY OF ROCKWALL

ORDINANCE NO. ____

ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, COMBINATION
TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2016; ESTABLISHING
PROCEDURES AND DELEGATING AUTHORITY FOR THE SALE AND DELIVERY OF THE
CERTIFICATES; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; AND ENACTING OTHER PROVISIONS
RELATING TO THE SUBJECT

THE STATE OF TEXAS §
COUNTY OF ROCKWALL §
CITY OF ROCKWALL §

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Rockwall, Texas (the "Issuer"), deems it advisable to
issue Certificates of Obligation for the purposes hereinafter set forth; and

WHEREAS, the Certificates of Obligation hereinafter authorized and designated are to be issued and
delivered for cash pursuant to Subchapter C of Chapter 271, Local Government Code, Subchapter B, Chapter
1502, Government Code; and

WHEREAS, this City Council finds and determines that it is necessary and in the best interest of the
Issuer and the health, welfare and safety of its residents to issue certificates of obligation to provide funds as
described herein for waterworks and sewer system improvements and acquisition of equipment and vehicles
for the public health and welfare; and

WHEREAS, this City Council further finds and determines that it is in the best interest of the Issuer
and its residents to include in the proposed issue of certificates of obligation funds for the public
improvements and acquisition of the equipment and vehicles hereinafter described, rather than fund such
projects with the issuance of other debt instruments, in order to reduce the costs of such transactions; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has heretofore passed a resolution authorizing and directing the City
Secretary to give notice of intention to issue Certificates of Obligation, and said notice has been duly
published in a newspaper of general circulation in said City, said newspaper being a "newspaper" as defined
in §2051.044, Texas Government Code; and

WHEREAS, the Issuer received no petition from the qualified electors of the City protesting the
issuance of such Certificates of Obligation;

WHEREAS, it is considered to be to the best interest of the Issuer that said interest-bearing
Certificates of Obligation be issued; 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is an "Issuer" under Section 1371.001(4)(P), Texas Government Code, having
(i) a principal amount of at least $100 million in outstanding long-term indebtedness, in long-term
indebtedness proposed to be issued, or a combination of outstanding or proposed long-term indebtedness and
(ii) some amount of long-term indebtedness outstanding or proposed to be issued that is rated in one of the
four highest rating categories for long-term debt instruments by a nationally recognized rating agency for
municipal securities, without regard to the effect of any credit agreement or other form of credit enhancement
entered into in connection with the obligation; and

253
253



2

WHEREAS, it is officially found, determined, and declared that the meeting at which this Ordinance
has been adopted was open to the public and public notice of the time, place and subject matter of the public
business to be considered and acted upon at said meeting, including this Ordinance, was given, all as required
by the applicable provisions of Tex. Gov't Code Ann. Chapter 551; Now, Therefore

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS:

Section 1.  RECITALS, AMOUNT AND PURPOSE OF THE CERTIFICATES.

(a)  The recitals set forth in the preamble hereof are incorporated herein and shall have the same force
and effect as if set forth in this Section.

(b)  The certificates of the City of Rockwall, Texas (the "Issuer") are hereby authorized to be issued
and delivered, in one or more series, in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed $6,000,000 for paying
all or a portion of the Issuer's contractual obligations incurred in connection with (i) acquiring, constructing,
installing and equipping additions, extensions and improvements to the Issuer’s waterworks and sewer
system, including the acquisition of vehicles and equipment for the waterworks and sewer system; and (ii)
legal, fiscal and engineering fees in connection with such projects (collectively, the "Project").

(c)  Each certificate issued pursuant to this Ordinance shall be designated:  "CITY OF ROCKWALL,
TEXAS, COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION, SERIES
2016," and initially there shall be issued, sold, and delivered hereunder fully registered certificates, without
interest coupons, with certificates issued in replacement thereof being in the denominations and principal
amounts hereinafter stated and numbered consecutively from R-1 upward, payable to the respective
Registered Owners thereof (with the initial certificate being made payable to the initial purchaser as described
in Section 10 hereof), or to the registered assignee or assignees of said certificates or any portion or portions
thereof (in each case, the "Registered Owner").  The Certificates shall be in the respective denominations and
principal amounts, shall be numbered, shall mature and be payable on the date or dates in each of the years
and in the principal amounts, and shall bear interest to their respective dates of maturity or redemption prior
to maturity at the rates per annum, as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

Section 2.  DELEGATION TO PRICING OFFICER.

(a)  As authorized by Chapter 1371, Texas Government Code, as amended, the City Manager and the
Assistant City Manager/Director of Finance of the Issuer (each a "Pricing Officer") are each hereby
authorized to act on behalf of the Issuer in selling and delivering the Certificates, carrying out the other
procedures specified in this Ordinance, including, determining the date of the Certificates, any additional or
different designation or title by which the Certificates shall be known, whether the Certificate shall be sold
and delivered in one or more series and the date and sale and delivery of each such series, the amount of
Certificates to be sold and the authorized purposes set forth in Section 1 for which such Certificates are
issued, the price at which the Certificates will be sold, the years in which the Certificates will mature, the
principal amount to mature in each of such years, the rate of interest to be borne by each such maturity, the
interest payment and record dates, the price and terms upon and at which the Certificates shall be subject to
redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Issuer, as well as any mandatory sinking fund redemption
provisions, and all other matters relating to the issuance, sale, and delivery of the Certificates and obtaining
municipal bond insurance for all or any portion of the Certificates and providing for the terms and provisions
thereof applicable to the Certificates (including the execution of any commitment agreements, membership
agreements in mutual insurance companies, and other similar agreements), all of which shall be specified in
the Pricing Certificate; provided that:

254
254



3

(i)  the aggregate principal amount of the Certificates shall not exceed $6,000,000;

(ii)  the true interest cost of the Certificates shall not exceed 3.35% per annum; provided that
the net effective interest rate on the Certificates shall not exceed the maximum rate set forth
in Chapter 1204, Texas Government Code, as amended;

(iii)  the final maturity of the Certificates shall not be later than August 1, 2035; and

(iv)  the delegation made hereby shall expire if not exercised by the Pricing Officer on or
prior to April 18, 2016.

(b)  In establishing the aggregate principal amount of the Certificates, the Pricing Officer shall
establish an amount not exceeding the amount authorized in Subsection (a) hereof, which shall be sufficient
in amount to provide for the purposes for which the Certificates are authorized and to pay costs of issuing the
Certificates.  The Certificates shall be sold with and subject to such terms as set forth in the Pricing
Certificate.

(c)  The Pricing Officer shall determine whether the Certificates will be sold by private placement
or negotiated or competitive sale. 

Section 3.  CHARACTERISTICS OF THE CERTIFICATES.

(a)  Appointment of Paying Agent/Registrar.  The selection and appointment of the paying
agent/registrar for the Certificates (the "Paying Agent/Registrar") shall be as provided in the Pricing
Certificate.  The Mayor or either Pricing Officer is authorized and directed to execute and deliver in the name
and under the corporate seal and on behalf of the Issuer a Paying Agent/Registrar Agreement with the Paying
Agent/Registrar in substantially the form presented at this meeting.

(b)  Registration, Transfer, Conversion and Exchange.  The Issuer shall keep or cause to be kept at
the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar books or records for the registration of the transfer,
conversion and exchange of the Certificates (the "Registration Books"), and the Issuer hereby appoints the
Paying Agent/Registrar as its registrar and transfer agent to keep such books or records and make such
registrations of transfers, conversions and exchanges under such reasonable regulations as the Issuer and
Paying Agent/Registrar may prescribe; and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall make such registrations,
transfers, conversions and exchanges as herein provided within three days of presentation in due and proper
form.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall obtain and record in the Registration Books the address of the
registered owner of each Certificate to which payments with respect to the Certificates shall be mailed, as
herein provided; but it shall be the duty of each registered owner to notify the Paying Agent/Registrar in
writing of the address to which payments shall be mailed, and such interest payments shall not be mailed
unless such notice has been given.  The Issuer shall have the right to inspect the Registration Books during
regular business hours of the Paying Agent/Registrar, but otherwise the Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep
the Registration Books confidential and, unless otherwise required by law, shall not permit their inspection
by any other entity.  The Issuer shall pay the Paying Agent/Registrar's standard or customary fees and charges
for making such registration, transfer, conversion, exchange and delivery of a substitute Certificate or
Certificates.  Registration of assignments, transfers, conversions and exchanges of Certificates shall be made
in the manner provided and with the effect stated in the FORM OF CERTIFICATE set forth in this
Ordinance.  Each substitute Certificate shall bear a letter and/or number to distinguish it from each other
Certificate.

255
255



4

(c)  Authentication.  Except as provided in subsection (j) of this section, an authorized representative
of the Paying Agent/Registrar shall, before the delivery of any such Certificate, date and manually sign said
Certificate, and no such Certificate shall be deemed to be issued or outstanding unless such Certificate is so
executed.  The Paying Agent/Registrar promptly shall cancel all paid Certificates and Certificates surrendered
for conversion and exchange.  No additional ordinances, orders or resolutions need be passed or adopted by
the governing body of the Issuer or any other body or person so as to accomplish the foregoing conversion
and exchange of any Certificate or portion thereof, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall provide for the
printing, execution and delivery of the substitute Certificates in the manner prescribed herein.  Pursuant to
Subchapter D, Chapter 1201, Texas Government Code, the duty of conversion and exchange of Certificates
as aforesaid is hereby imposed upon the Paying Agent/Registrar, and, upon the execution of said Certificate,
the converted and exchanged Certificate shall be valid, incontestable, and enforceable in the same manner
and with the same effect as the Certificates which initially were issued and delivered pursuant to this
Ordinance, approved by the Attorney General, and registered by the Comptroller of Public Accounts.

(d)  Payment of Principal and Interest.  The Issuer hereby further appoints the Paying Agent/Registrar
to act as the paying agent for paying the principal of and interest on the Certificates, all as provided in this
Ordinance.  The Paying Agent/Registrar shall keep proper records of all payments made by the Issuer and
the Paying Agent/Registrar with respect to the Certificates, and of all conversions and exchanges of
Certificates, and all replacements of Certificates, as provided in this Ordinance.  However, in the event of a
nonpayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for thirty (30) days thereafter, a new record date
for such interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and
when funds for the payment of such interest have been received from the Issuer.  Notice of the Special Record
Date and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special
Record Date) shall be sent at least five (5) business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States
mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner appearing on the Registration Books
at the close of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

(e)  Payment to Registered Owner.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the
contrary, the Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be entitled to treat and consider the person in whose
name each Certificate is registered in the Registration Books as the absolute owner of such Certificate for the
purpose of payment of principal and interest with respect to such Certificate, for the purpose of registering
transfers with respect to such Certificate, and for all other purposes whatsoever.  The Paying Agent/Registrar
shall pay all principal of and interest on the Certificates only to or upon the order of the registered owners,
as shown in the Registration Books as provided in this Ordinance, or their respective attorneys duly
authorized in writing, and all such payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the
Issuer's obligations with respect to payment of principal of and interest on the Certificates to the extent of the
sum or sums so paid.  No person other than a registered owner, as shown in the Registration Books, shall
receive a Certificate certificate evidencing the obligation of the Issuer to make payments of principal and
interest pursuant to this Ordinance. 

(f)  Paying Agent/Registrar.  The Issuer covenants with the registered owners of the Certificates that
at all times while the Certificates are outstanding the Issuer will provide a competent and legally qualified
bank, trust company, financial institution or other agency to act as and perform the services of Paying
Agent/Registrar for the Certificates under this Ordinance, and that the Paying Agent/Registrar will be one
entity.  By accepting the position and performing as such, each Paying Agent/Registrar shall be deemed to
have agreed to the provisions of this Ordinance, and a certified copy of this Ordinance shall be delivered to
each Paying Agent/Registrar.

(g)  Substitute Paying Agent/Registrar.  The Issuer reserves the right to, and may, at its option, change
the Paying Agent/Registrar upon not less than 120 days written notice to the Paying Agent/Registrar, to be

256
256



5

effective not later than 60 days prior to the next principal or interest payment date after such notice.  In the
event that the entity at any time acting as Paying Agent/Registrar (or its successor by merger, acquisition, or
other method) should resign or otherwise cease to act as such, the Issuer covenants that promptly it will
appoint a competent and legally qualified bank, trust company, financial institution, or other agency to act
as Paying Agent/Registrar under this Ordinance.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar, the
previous Paying Agent/Registrar promptly shall transfer and deliver the Registration Books (or a copy
thereof), along with all other pertinent books and records relating to the Certificates, to the new Paying
Agent/Registrar designated and appointed by the Issuer.  Upon any change in the Paying Agent/Registrar,
the Issuer promptly will cause a written notice thereof to be sent by the new Paying Agent/Registrar to each
registered owner of the Certificates, by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, which notice also shall
give the address of the new Paying Agent/Registrar.

(h)  Book-Entry Only System.  The Certificates issued in exchange for the Certificates initially issued
to the purchaser or purchasers specified herein shall be initially issued in the form of a separate single fully
registered Certificate for each of the maturities thereof and the ownership of each such Certificate shall be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company of New York ("DTC"),
and except as provided in subsections (ji) and (kj) of this Section, all of the outstanding Certificates shall be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.

(i) Blanket Letter of Representations.  The previous execution and delivery of the Blanket Letter of
Representations with respect to obligations of the Issuer is hereby ratified and confirmed; and the provisions
thereof shall be fully applicable to the Certificates.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained
herein, while the Certificates are subject to DTC's Book-Entry Only System and to the extent permitted by
law, the Letter of Representations is hereby incorporated herein and its provisions shall prevail over any other
provisions of this Ordinance in the event of conflict. 

(j)  Certificates Registered in the Name of Cede & Co.  With respect to Certificates registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, the Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no
responsibility or obligation to any securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations and certain other organizations on whose behalf DTC was created ("DTC Participant") to hold
securities to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions among DTC Participants or to
any person on behalf of whom such a DTC Participant holds an interest in the Certificates.  Without limiting
the immediately preceding sentence, the Issuer and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall have no responsibility
or obligation with respect to (i) the accuracy of the records of DTC, Cede & Co. or any DTC Participant with
respect to any ownership interest in the Certificates, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other
person, other than a registered owner of Certificates, as shown on the Registration Books, of any notice with
respect to the Certificates, or (iii) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a
registered owner of Certificates, as shown in the Registration Books of any amount with respect to principal
of or interest on the Certificates.  Upon delivery by DTC to the Paying Agent/Registrar of written notice to
the effect that DTC has determined to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., and subject to the
provisions in this Ordinance with respect to interest checks being mailed to the registered owner at the close
of business on the Record date, the words "Cede & Co." in this Ordinance shall refer to such new nominee
of DTC.

(k)  Successor Securities Depository; Transfers Outside Book-Entry Only System.  In the event that
the Issuer determines that DTC is incapable of discharging its responsibilities described herein and in the
representation letter of the Issuer to DTC or that it is in the best interest of the beneficial owners of the
Certificates that they be able to obtain certificated Certificates, the Issuer shall (i) appoint a successor
securities depository, qualified to act as such under Section 17A of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, notify DTC and DTC Participants of the appointment of such successor securities depository and

257
257



6

transfer one or more separate Certificates to such successor securities depository or (ii) notify DTC and DTC
Participants of the availability through DTC of Certificates and transfer one or more separate Certificates to
DTC Participants having Certificates credited to their DTC accounts.  In such event, the Certificates shall no
longer be restricted to being registered in the Registration Books in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of
DTC, but may be registered in the name of the successor securities depository, or its nominee, or in whatever
name or names registered owners transferring or exchanging Certificates shall designate, in accordance with
the provisions of this Ordinance.

(l)  Payments to Cede & Co.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary,
so long as any Certificate is registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with
respect to principal of and interest on such Certificate and all notices with respect to such Certificate shall be
made and given, respectively, in the manner provided in the representation letter of the Issuer to DTC.

(m)  General Characteristics of the Certificates.  The Certificates (i) shall be issued in fully registered
form, without interest coupons, with the principal of and interest on such Certificates to be payable only to
the Registered Owners thereof, (ii) may and shall be redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, (iii) may
be transferred and assigned, (iv) may be converted and exchanged for other Certificates, (v) shall have the
characteristics, (vi) shall be signed, sealed, executed and authenticated, (vii) the principal of and interest on
the Certificates shall be payable, and (viii) shall be administered and the Paying Agent/Registrar and the
Issuer shall have certain duties and responsibilities with respect to the Certificates, all as provided, and in the
manner and to the effect as required or indicated, in the FORM OF CERTIFICATE set forth in this
Ordinance.  The Certificates initially issued and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance is not required to be,
and shall not be, authenticated by the Paying Agent/Registrar, but on each substitute Certificate issued in
conversion of and exchange for any Certificate or Certificates issued under this Ordinance the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall execute the Paying Agent/registrar's Authentication Certificate, in the FORM OF
CERTIFICATE set forth in this Ordinance.

(n)  Cancellation of Initial Certificate.  On the closing date, one initial Certificate representing the
entire principal amount of the Certificates, payable in stated installments to the purchaser designated in
Section 10 or its designee, executed by manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor and City Secretary of the
Issuer, approved by the Attorney General of Texas, and registered and manually signed by the Comptroller
of Public Accounts of the State of Texas, will be delivered to such purchaser or its designee.  Upon payment
for such initial Certificate, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cancel such initial Certificate and deliver to the
DTC on behalf of such purchaser one registered definitive Certificate for each year of maturity of such
Certificates, in the aggregate principal amount of all of the Certificates for such maturity, registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC.  To the extent that the Paying Agent/Registrar is eligible to
participate in DTC’s FAST System, pursuant to an agreement between the Paying Agent/Registrar and DTC,
the Paying Agent/Registrar shall hold the definitive Certificates in safekeeping for DTC.. 

Section 4.  FORM OF CERTIFICATES.  The form of the Certificates, including the form of Paying
Agent/Registrar's Authentication Certificate, the form of Assignment and the form of Registration Certificate
of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas to be attached to the Certificates initially issued
and delivered pursuant to this Ordinance, shall be, respectively, substantially as follows, with such
appropriate variations, omissions or insertions as are permitted or required by this Ordinance.

(a)  Form of Certificate.

NO. R-
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

STATE OF TEXAS

PRINCIPAL
AMOUNT

$_________ 

258
258



7

CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS
COMBINATION TAX AND SURPLUS REVENUE CERTIFICATE OF OBLIGATION 

SERIES 2016

INTEREST RATE
DATE OF

CERTIFICATES MATURITY DATE CUSIP NO.

____________ ____________ ____________ ____________

REGISTERED OWNER:

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: DOLLARS

ON THE MATURITY DATE specified above, the City of Rockwall, in Rockwall County, Texas,
(the "Issuer"), being a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, hereby promises
to pay to the Registered Owner specified above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the "Registered
Owner"), on the Maturity Date specified above, the Principal Amount specified above.  The Issuer promises
to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-
day months) from ___________, _____ at the Interest Rate per annum specified above.  Interest is payable
on ______________, ____ and semiannually on each _____________ and _____________ thereafter to the
Maturity Date specified above, or the date of redemption prior to maturity; except, if this Certificate is
required to be authenticated and the date of its authentication is later than the first Record Date (hereinafter
defined), such principal amount shall bear interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of
authentication, unless such date of authentication is after any Record Date but on or before the next following
interest payment date, in which case such principal amount shall bear interest from such next following
interest payment date; provided, however, that if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the
Certificate or Certificates, if any, for which this Certificate is being exchanged is due but has not been paid,
then this Certificate shall bear interest from the date to which such interest has been paid in full.

THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON this Certificate are payable in lawful money of the
United States of America, without exchange or collection charges.  The principal of this Certificate shall be
paid to the registered owner hereof upon presentation and surrender of this Certificate at maturity, or upon
the date fixed for its redemption prior to maturity, at the principal corporate trust office of
__________________, ___________, _______, which is the "Paying Agent/Registrar" for this Certificate.
The payment of interest on this Certificate shall be made by the Paying Agent/Registrar to the registered
owner hereof on each interest payment date by check or draft, dated as of such interest payment date, drawn
by the Paying Agent/Registrar on, and payable solely from, funds of the Issuer required by the ordinance
authorizing the issuance of this Certificate (the "Certificate Ordinance") to be on deposit with the Paying
Agent/Registrar for such purpose as hereinafter provided; and such check or draft shall be sent by the Paying
Agent/Registrar by United States mail, first-class postage prepaid, on each such interest payment date, to the
registered owner hereof, at its address as it appeared on the ________________ day of the month preceding
each such date (the "Record Date") on the Registration Books kept by the Paying Agent/Registrar, as
hereinafter described.  In addition, interest may be paid by such other method, acceptable to the Paying
Agent/Registrar, requested by, and at the risk and expense of, the registered owner.  In the event of a non-
payment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such
interest payment (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying Agent/Registrar, if and when
funds for the payment of such interest have been received from the Issuer.  Notice of the Special Record Date
and of the scheduled payment date of the past due interest (which shall be 15 days after the Special Record
Date) shall be sent at least five business days prior to the Special Record Date by United States mail, first-

259
259



8

class postage prepaid, to the address of each owner of a Certificate appearing on the Registration Books at
the close of business on the last business day next preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

ANY ACCRUED INTEREST due at maturity or upon the redemption of this Certificate prior to
maturity as provided herein shall be paid to the registered owner upon presentation and surrender of this
Certificate for payment or redemption at the principal corporate trust office of the Paying Agent/Registrar.
The Issuer covenants with the registered owner of this Certificate that on or before each principal payment
date and interest payment date for this Certificate it will make available to the Paying Agent/Registrar, from
the "Interest and Sinking Fund" created by the Certificate Ordinance, the amounts required to provide for the
payment, in immediately available funds, of all principal of and interest on the Certificates, when due.

IF THE DATE for any payment of the principal of or interest on this Certificate shall be a Saturday,
Sunday, a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions in the city where the principal corporate trust
office of the Paying Agent/Registrar is located are authorized by law or executive order to close, then the date
for such payment shall be the next succeeding day that is not such a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or day
on which banking institutions are authorized to close; and payment on such date shall have the same force
and effect as if made on the original date payment was due.

THIS CERTIFICATE is one of a series of Certificates dated _________________, ______,
authorized in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas in the principal amount of
$____________ for the public purposes of acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping additions,
extensions and improvements to the Issuer’s waterworks and sewer system, including the acquisition of
vehicles and equipment for the waterworks and sewer system; paying legal, fiscal and engineering fees in
connection with such projects; and to pay the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the
Certificates.

ON _____________________, or on any date thereafter, the Certificates of this series may be
redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, at the option of the Issuer, with funds derived from any available
and lawful source, as a whole, or in part, and, if in part, the particular Certificates, or portions thereof, to be
redeemed shall be selected and designated by the Issuer (provided that a portion of a Certificate may be
redeemed only in an integral multiple of $5,000), at a redemption price equal to the principal amount to be
redeemed plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.

THE CERTIFICATES scheduled to mature on _____________ in the years ____ and ____ (the
"Term Certificates") are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption by the Paying Agent/Registrar by lot,
or by any other customary method that results in a random selection, at a price equal to the principal amount
thereof, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, out of moneys available for such purpose in the interest
and sinking fund for the Certificates, on the dates and in the respective principal amounts, set forth in the
following schedule:

Term Certificate
Maturity: _________, ____

Term Certificate
Maturity: _________, ____

Mandatory Redemption Date
Principal
Amount Mandatory Redemption Date

Principal
Amount

_________, ____ $___________ _________, ____ $___________
_________, ____ ____________ _________, ____ ____________
_________, ____(maturity) ____________ _________, ____ (maturity) ____________

260
260



9

The principal amount of Term Certificates of a stated maturity required to be redeemed on any mandatory
redemption date pursuant to the operation of the mandatory sinking fund redemption provisions shall be
reduced, at the option of the Issuer, by the principal amount of any Term Certificates of the same maturity
which, at least 50 days prior to a mandatory redemption date (1) shall have been acquired by the Issuer at a
price not exceeding the principal amount of such Term Certificates plus accrued interest to the date of
purchase thereof, and delivered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, (2) shall have been purchased
and canceled by the Paying Agent/Registrar at the request of the Issuer at a price not exceeding the principal
amount of such Term Certificates plus accrued interest to the date of purchase, or (3) shall have been
redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions and not theretofore credited against a mandatory
redemption requirement.

IF AT THE TIME OF MAILING of notice of optional redemption there shall not have either been
deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar or legally authorized escrow agent immediately available funds
sufficient to redeem all the Certificates called for redemption, such notice may state that it is conditional, and
is subject to the deposit of the redemption moneys with the Paying Agent/Registrar or legally authorized
escrow agent at or prior to the redemption date.  If such redemption is not effectuated, the Paying
Agent/Registrar shall, within five days thereafter, give notice in the manner in which the notice of redemption
was given that such moneys were not so received and shall rescind the redemption.

AT LEAST 30 DAYS prior to the date fixed for any redemption of Certificates or portions thereof
prior to maturity a written notice of such redemption shall be sent by the Paying Agent/Registrar by United
States mail, first-class postage prepaid, at least 30 days prior to the date fixed for any such redemption, to the
registered owner of each Certificate to be redeemed at its address as it appeared on the 45th day prior to such
redemption date; provided, however, that the failure of the registered owner to receive such notice, or any
defect therein or in the sending or mailing thereof, shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the
proceedings for the redemption of any Certificate.  By the date fixed for any such redemption due provision
shall be made with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of the required redemption price for the
Certificates or portions thereof that are to be so redeemed.  If such written notice of redemption is sent and
if due provision for such payment is made, all as provided above, the Certificates or portions thereof that are
to be so redeemed thereby automatically shall be treated as redeemed prior to their scheduled maturities, and
they shall not bear interest after the date fixed for redemption, and they shall not be regarded as being
outstanding except for the right of the registered owner to receive the redemption price from the Paying
Agent/Registrar out of the funds provided for such payment.  If a portion of any Certificate shall be redeemed,
a substitute Certificate or Certificates having the same maturity date, bearing interest at the same rate, in any
denomination or denominations in any integral multiple of $5,000, at the written request of the registered
owner, and in aggregate principal amount equal to the unredeemed portion thereof, will be issued to the
registered owner upon the surrender thereof for cancellation, at the expense of the Issuer, all as provided in
the Certificate Ordinance.

ALL CERTIFICATES OF THIS SERIES are issuable solely as fully registered certificates, without
interest coupons, in the denomination of any integral multiple of $5,000.  As provided in the Certificate
Ordinance, this Certificate may, at the request of the registered owner or the assignee or assignees hereof, be
assigned, transferred, converted into and exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of fully registered
Certificates, without interest coupons, payable to the appropriate registered owner, assignee or assignees, as
the case may be, having the same denomination or denominations in any integral multiple of $5,000 as
requested in writing by the appropriate registered owner, assignee or assignees, as the case may be, upon
surrender of this Certificate to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation, all in accordance with the form
and procedures set forth in the Certificate Ordinance.  Among other requirements for such assignment and
transfer, this Certificate must be presented and surrendered to the Paying Agent/Registrar, together with
proper instruments of assignment, in form and with guarantee of signatures satisfactory to the Paying

261
261



10

Agent/Registrar, evidencing assignment of this Certificate or any portion or portions hereof in any integral
multiple of $5,000 to the assignee or assignees in whose name or names this Certificate or any such portion
or portions hereof is or are to be registered.  The form of Assignment printed or endorsed on this Certificate
may be executed by the registered owner to evidence the assignment hereof, but such method is not exclusive,
and other instruments of assignment satisfactory to the Paying Agent/Registrar may be used to evidence the
assignment of this Certificate or any portion or portions hereof from time to time by the registered owner.
The Paying Agent/Registrar's reasonable standard or customary fees and charges for assigning, transferring,
converting and exchanging any Certificate or portion thereof will be paid by the Issuer.  In any circumstance,
any taxes or governmental charges required to be paid with respect thereto shall be paid by the one requesting
such assignment, transfer, conversion or exchange, as a condition precedent to the exercise of such privilege.
The Paying Agent/Registrar shall not be required to make any such transfer, conversion, or exchange (i)
during the period commencing with the close of business on any Record Date and ending with the opening
of business on the next following principal or interest payment date, or (ii) with respect to any Certificate or
any portion thereof called for redemption prior to maturity, within 45 days prior to its redemption date.

IN THE EVENT any Paying Agent/Registrar for the Certificates is changed by the Issuer, resigns,
or otherwise ceases to act as such, the Issuer has covenanted in the Certificate Ordinance that it promptly will
appoint a competent and legally qualified substitute therefor, and cause written notice thereof to be mailed
to the registered owners of the Certificates.

IT IS HEREBY certified, recited and covenanted that this Certificate has been duly and validly
authorized, issued and delivered; that all acts, conditions and things required or proper to be performed, exist
and be done precedent to or in the authorization, issuance and delivery of this Certificate have been
performed, existed and been done in accordance with law; that this Certificate is a general obligation of said
Issuer, issued on the full faith and credit thereof; and that annual ad valorem taxes sufficient to provide for
the payment of the interest on and principal of this Certificate, as such interest comes due and such principal
matures, have been levied and ordered to be levied against all taxable property in said Issuer, and have been
pledged for such payment, within the limit prescribed by law, and that this Certificate is additionally secured
by and payable from a pledge of the net revenues of the Issuer's waterworks and sewer system remaining after
payment of all operation and maintenance expenses thereof, and all debt service, reserve and other
requirements in connection with all of the Issuer's revenue obligations (now or hereafter outstanding) that are
payable from all or part of said revenues, all as provided in the Certificate Ordinance.

THE ISSUER HAS RESERVED THE RIGHT to amend the Certificate Ordinance as provided
therein, and under some (but not all) circumstances amendments thereto must be approved by the registered
owners of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Certificates.

BY BECOMING the registered owner of this Certificate, the registered owner thereby acknowledges
all of the terms and provisions of the Certificate Ordinance, agrees to be bound by such terms and provisions,
acknowledges that the Certificate Ordinance is duly recorded and available for inspection in the official
minutes and records of the governing body of the Issuer, and agrees that the terms and provisions of this
Certificate and the Certificate Ordinance constitute a contract between each registered owner hereof and the
Issuer.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Certificate to be signed with the manual or
facsimile signature of the Mayor of the Issuer (or in his absence, the Mayor Pro Tem) and countersigned with
the manual or facsimile signature of the City Secretary of said Issuer, and has caused the official seal of the
Issuer to be duly impressed, or placed in facsimile, on this Certificate.

262
262



11

(signature) (signature)
City Secretary Mayor

(SEAL)

(b)  Form of Paying Agent/Registrar's Authentication Certificate.

PAYING AGENT/REGISTRAR'S AUTHENTICATION CERTIFICATE
(To be executed if this Certificate is not accompanied by an executed Registration

Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas)

It is hereby certified that this Certificate has been issued under the provisions of the Certificate
Ordinance described in the text of this Certificate; and that this Certificate has been issued in conversion or
replacement of, or in exchange for, a certificate, certificates, or a portion of a certificate or certificates of a
series that originally was approved by the Attorney General of the State of Texas and registered by the
Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.

Dated: . ____________________________________
____________________, ______________
Paying Agent/Registrar

By: 
       Authorized Representative

(c)  Form of Assignment.

ASSIGNMENT
(Please print or type clearly)

For value received, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers
unto:

Transferee's Social Security or Taxpayer Identification Number:

Transferee's name and address, including zip code:

the within Certificate and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints

, attorney, to register the transfer of
the within Certificate on the books kept for registration thereof, with full power of substitution in the
premises.

Dated: .

Signature Guaranteed:

263
263



12

NOTICE: Signature(s) must be guaranteed by an
eligible guarantor institution participating in a
securities transfer association recognized signature
guarantee program.

NOTICE: The signature above must correspond with
the name of the registered owner as it appears upon
the front of this Certificate in every particular,
without alteration or enlargement or any change
whatsoever.

(d)  Form of Registration Certificate of the Comptroller of Public Accounts.

COMPTROLLER'S REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE:  REGISTER NO. 

I hereby certify that this Certificate has been examined, certified as to validity and approved by the
Attorney General of the State of Texas, and that this Certificate has been registered by the Comptroller of
Public Accounts of the State of Texas.

Witness my signature and seal this .

Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of
Texas

(COMPTROLLER'S SEAL)

(e)  Initial Certificate Insertions.

(i)  The initial Certificate shall be in the form set forth is paragraph (a) of this Section, except
that:

A.  immediately under the name of the Certificate, the headings "Interest Rate" and
"Maturity Date" shall both be completed with the words "As shown below" and "CUSIP No.
_____" shall be deleted.

B.  the first paragraph shall be deleted and the following will be inserted:

"THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS, in Rockwall County, Texas (the "Issuer"), being a political
subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner
specified above, or registered assigns (hereinafter called the "Registered Owner"), on August 1 in each of the
years, in the principal installments and bearing interest at the per annum rates set forth in the following
schedule:

Years Principal Installments Interest Rates

(Information from Section 2 to be inserted)

The Issuer promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount hereof (calculated on the basis of a 360-
day year of twelve 30-day months) from _____________________ at the respective Interest Rate per annum
specified above.  Interest is payable on ___________________, and semiannually on each
________________ and ________________ thereafter to the date of payment of the principal installment
specified above, or the date of redemption prior to maturity; except, that if this Certificate is required to be
authenticated and the date of its authentication is later than the first Record Date (hereinafter defined), such

264
264



13

Principal Amount shall bear interest from the interest payment date next preceding the date of authentication,
unless such date of authentication is after any Record Date but on or before the next following interest
payment date, in which case such principal amount shall bear interest from such next following interest
payment date; provided, however, that if on the date of authentication hereof the interest on the Certificate
or Certificates, if any, for which this Certificate is being exchanged is due but has not been paid, then this
Certificate shall bear interest from the date to which such interest has been paid in full."

C.  The Initial Certificate shall be numbered "T-1."

Section 5.  INTEREST AND SINKING FUND; SURPLUS REVENUES.

(a)  A special "Interest and Sinking Fund" is hereby created and shall be established and maintained
by the Issuer as a separate fund or account and the funds therein shall be deposited into and held in an account
at an official depository bank of said Issuer.  Said Interest and Sinking Fund shall be kept separate and apart
from all other funds and accounts of said Issuer, and shall be used only for paying the interest on and
principal of said Certificates.  All ad valorem taxes levied and collected for and on account of said Certificates
shall be deposited, as collected, to the credit of said Interest and Sinking Fund.  During each year while any
of said Certificates are outstanding and unpaid, the governing body of said Issuer shall compute and ascertain
a rate and amount of ad valorem tax that will be sufficient to raise and produce the money required to pay the
interest on said Certificates as such interest comes due, and to provide and maintain a sinking fund adequate
to pay the principal of said Certificates as such principal matures (but never less than 2% of the original
amount of said Certificates as a sinking fund each year); and said tax shall be based on the latest approved
tax rolls of said Issuer, with full allowances being made for tax delinquencies and the cost of tax collection.
Said rate and amount of ad valorem tax is hereby levied, and is hereby ordered to be levied, against all taxable
property in said Issuer, for each year while any of said Certificates are outstanding and unpaid, and said tax
shall be assessed and collected each such year and deposited to the credit of the aforesaid Interest and Sinking
Fund.  Said ad valorem taxes sufficient to provide for the payment of the interest on and principal of said
Certificates, as such interest comes due and such principal matures, are hereby pledged for such payment,
within the limit prescribed by law.

(b)  The Certificates are additionally secured by revenues of the Issuer's waterworks and sewer system
that remain after the payment of all maintenance and operation expenses thereof, and all debt service, reserve
and other requirements in connection with all of the Issuer's revenue obligations (now or hereafter
outstanding) that are secured by a lien on all or any part of the net revenues of the Issuer's waterworks and
sewer system, constituting "Surplus Revenues."  The Issuer shall deposit such Surplus Revenues to the credit
of the Interest and Sinking Fund created pursuant to subsection (a) of this section, to the extent necessary to
pay the principal of and interest on the Certificates.  Notwithstanding the requirements of subsection (a) of
this section, if Surplus Revenues or other lawfully available moneys of the Issuer are actually on deposit in
the Interest and Sinking Fund in advance of the time when ad valorem taxes are scheduled to be levied for
any year, then the amount of taxes that otherwise would have been required to be levied pursuant to this
Section may be reduced to the extent and by the amount of the Surplus Revenues or other lawfully available
funds then on deposit in the Interest and Sinking Fund.

(c)  Article 1208, Government Code, applies to the issuance of the Certificates of Obligation and the
pledge of the taxes and Surplus Revenues granted by the Issuer under this Section, and is therefore valid,
effective, and perfected.  Should Texas law be amended at any time while the Certificates of Obligation are
outstanding and unpaid, the result of such amendment being that the pledge of the taxes and Surplus
Revenues granted by the Issuer under this Section is to be subject to the filing requirements of Chapter 9,
Business & Commerce Code, in order to preserve to the registered owners of the Certificates of Obligation
a security interest in said pledge, the Issuer agrees to take such measures as it determines are reasonable and

265
265



14

necessary under Texas law to comply with the applicable provisions of Chapter 9, Business & Commerce
Code and enable a filing of a security interest in said pledge to occur.

Section 6.  DEFEASANCE OF CERTIFICATES.

(a)  Any Certificate and the interest thereon shall be deemed to be paid, retired and no longer
outstanding (a "Defeased Certificate") within the meaning of this Ordinance, except to the extent provided
in subsection (d) of this Section, when payment of the principal of such Certificate, plus interest thereon to
the due date (whether such due date be by reason of maturity or otherwise) either (i) shall have been made
or caused to be made in accordance with the terms thereof, or (ii) shall have been provided for on or before
such due date by irrevocably depositing with or making available to the Paying Agent/Registrar in accordance
with an escrow agreement or other instrument (the "Future Escrow Agreement") for such payment (1) lawful
money of the United States of America sufficient to make such payment or (2) Defeasance Securities that
mature as to principal and interest in such amounts and at such times as will insure the availability, without
reinvestment, of sufficient money to provide for such payment, and when proper arrangements have been
made by the Issuer with the Paying Agent/Registrar for the payment of its services until all Defeased
Certificates shall have become due and payable.  At such time as a Certificate shall be deemed to be a
Defeased Certificate hereunder, as aforesaid, such Certificate and the interest thereon shall no longer be
secured by, payable from, or entitled to the benefits of, the ad valorem taxes herein levied and pledged as
provided in this Ordinance, and such principal and interest shall be payable solely from such money or
Defeasance Securities.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance to the contrary, it is hereby
provided that any determination not to redeem Defeased Certificates that is made in conjunction with the
payment arrangements specified in subsections (a)(i) or (ii) of this Section shall not be irrevocable, provided
that:  (1) in the proceedings providing for such payment arrangements, the Issuer expressly reserves the right
to call the Defeased Certificates for redemption; (2) gives notice of the reservation of that right to the owners
of the Defeased Certificates immediately following the making of the payment arrangements; and (3) directs
that notice of the reservation be included in any redemption notices that it authorizes.

(b)  Any moneys so deposited with the Paying Agent/Registrar may at the written direction of the
Issuer be invested in Defeasance Securities, maturing in the amounts and times as hereinbefore set forth, and
all income from such Defeasance Securities received by the Paying Agent/Registrar that is not required for
the payment of the Certificates and interest thereon, with respect to which such money has been so deposited,
shall be turned over to the Issuer, or deposited as directed in writing by the Issuer.  Any Future Escrow
Agreement pursuant to which the money and/or Defeasance Securities are held for the payment of Defeased
Certificates may contain provisions permitting the investment or reinvestment of such moneys in Defeasance
Securities or the substitution of other Defeasance Securities upon the satisfaction of the requirements
specified in subsections (a)(i) or (ii) of this Section.  All income from such Defeasance Securities received
by the Paying Agent/Registrar which is not required for the payment of the Defeased Certificates, with respect
to which such money has been so deposited, shall be remitted to the Issuer or deposited as directed in writing
by the Issuer.

(c)  The term "Defeasance Securities" means any securities and obligations now or hereafter
authorized by State law that are eligible to refund, retire or otherwise discharge obligations such as the
Certificates.

(d)  Until all Defeased Certificates shall have become due and payable, the Paying Agent/Registrar
shall perform the services of Paying Agent/Registrar for such Defeased Certificates the same as if they had
not been defeased, and the Issuer shall make proper arrangements to provide and pay for such services as
required by this Ordinance.

266
266



15

(e)  In the event that the Issuer elects to defease less than all of the principal amount of Certificates
of a maturity, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall select, or cause to be selected, such amount of Certificates by
such random method as it deems fair and appropriate.

Section 7.  DAMAGED, MUTILATED, LOST, STOLEN, OR DESTROYED CERTIFICATES.

(a)  Replacement Certificates.  In the event any outstanding Certificate is damaged, mutilated, lost,
stolen or destroyed, the Paying Agent/Registrar shall cause to be printed, executed and delivered, a new
certificate of the same principal amount, maturity and interest rate, as the damaged, mutilated, lost, stolen or
destroyed Certificate, in replacement for such Certificate in the manner hereinafter provided.

(b)  Application for Replacement Certificates.  Application for replacement of damaged, mutilated,
lost, stolen or destroyed Certificates shall be made by the registered owner thereof to the Paying
Agent/Registrar.  In every case of loss, theft or destruction of a Certificate, the registered owner applying for
a replacement certificate shall furnish to the Issuer and to the Paying Agent/Registrar such security or
indemnity as may be required by them to save each of them harmless from any loss or damage with respect
thereto.  Also, in every case of loss, theft or destruction of a Certificate, the registered owner shall furnish to
the Issuer and to the Paying Agent/Registrar evidence to their satisfaction of the loss, theft or destruction of
such Certificate, as the case may be.  In every case of damage or mutilation of a Certificate, the registered
owner shall surrender to the Paying Agent/Registrar for cancellation the Certificate so damaged or mutilated.

(c)  No Default Occurred.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, in the event any
such Certificate shall have matured, and no default has occurred that is then continuing in the payment of the
principal of, redemption premium, if any, or interest on the Certificate, the Issuer may authorize the payment
of the same (without surrender thereof except in the case of a damaged or mutilated Certificate) instead of
issuing a replacement Certificate, provided security or indemnity is furnished as above provided in this
Section.

(d)  Charge for Issuing Replacement Certificates.  Prior to the issuance of any replacement certificate,
the Paying Agent/Registrar shall charge the registered owner of such Certificate with all legal, printing, and
other expenses in connection therewith.  Every replacement certificate issued pursuant to the provisions of
this Section by virtue of the fact that any Certificate is lost, stolen or destroyed shall constitute a contractual
obligation of the Issuer whether or not the lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate shall be found at any time, or
be enforceable by anyone, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Ordinance equally and
proportionately with any and all other Certificates duly issued under this Ordinance.

(e)  Authority for Issuing Replacement Certificates.  In accordance with Section 1206.022,
Government Code, this Section 7 of this Ordinance shall constitute authority for the issuance of any such
replacement certificate without necessity of further action by the governing body of the Issuer or any other
body or person, and the duty of the replacement of such certificates is hereby authorized and imposed upon
the Paying Agent/Registrar, and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall authenticate and deliver such Certificates
in the form and manner and with the effect, as provided in Section 3(a) of this Ordinance for Certificates
issued in conversion and exchange for other Certificates.

Section 8.  CUSTODY, APPROVAL, AND REGISTRATION OF CERTIFICATES; BOND
COUNSEL'S OPINION; CUSIP NUMBERS AND CONTINGENT INSURANCE PROVISION, IF
OBTAINED; ENGAGEMENT OF BOND COUNSEL.

(a)  The Mayor of the Issuer is hereby authorized to have control of the Certificates initially issued
and delivered hereunder and all necessary records and proceedings pertaining to the Certificates pending their

267
267



16

delivery and their investigation, examination, and approval by the Attorney General of the State of Texas,
and their registration by the Comptroller of Public Accounts of the State of Texas.  Upon registration of the
Certificates said Comptroller of Public Accounts (or a deputy designated in writing to act for said
Comptroller) shall manually sign the Comptroller's Registration Certificate attached to such Certificates, and
the seal of said Comptroller shall be impressed, or placed in facsimile, on such Certificate.  The approving
legal opinion of the Issuer's Bond Counsel and the assigned CUSIP numbers may, at the option of the Issuer,
be printed on the Certificates issued and delivered under this Ordinance, but neither shall have any legal
effect, and shall be solely for the convenience and information of the registered owners of the Certificates.
In addition, if bond insurance is obtained, the Certificates may bear an appropriate legend as provided by the
insurer.

(b)  The obligation of the initial purchaser to accept delivery of the Certificates is subject to the initial
purchaser being furnished with the final, approving opinion of McCall, Parkhurst & Horton L.L.P., bond
counsel to the Issuer, which opinion shall be dated as of and delivered on the date of initial delivery of the
Certificates to the initial purchaser.  The engagement of such firm as bond counsel to the Issuer in connection
with issuance, sale and delivery of the Certificates is hereby approved and confirmed.  The execution and
delivery of an engagement letter between the Issuer and such firm, with respect to such services as bond
counsel, is hereby authorized in such form as may be approved by the Mayor, and the Mayor is hereby
authorized to execute such engagement letter.

Section 9.  COVENANTS REGARDING TAX EXEMPTION OF INTEREST ON THE
CERTIFICATES.

(a)  Covenants.  The Issuer covenants to take any action necessary to assure, or refrain from any
action that would adversely affect, the treatment of the Certificates as obligations described in section 103
of the Code, the interest on which is not includable in the "gross income" of the holder for purposes of federal
income taxation.  In furtherance thereof, the Issuer covenants as follows:

(1)  to take any action to assure that no more than 10 percent of the proceeds of the
Certificates (less amounts deposited to a reserve fund, if any) are used for any "private business use,"
as defined in section 141(b)(6) of the Code or, if more than 10 percent of the proceeds or the projects
financed therewith are so used, such amounts, whether or not received by the Issuer, with respect to
such private business use, do not, under the terms of this Ordinance or any underlying arrangement,
directly or indirectly, secure or provide for the payment of more than 10 percent of the debt service
on the Certificates, in contravention of section 141(b)(2) of the Code;

(2)  to take any action to assure that in the event that the "private business use" described in
subsection (1) hereof exceeds 5 percent of the proceeds of the Certificates or the projects financed
therewith (less amounts deposited into a reserve fund, if any) then the amount in excess of 5 percent
is used for a "private business use" that is "related" and not "disproportionate," within the meaning
of section 141(b)(3) of the Code, to the governmental use;

(3)  to take any action to assure that no amount that is greater than the lesser of $5,000,000,
or 5 percent of the proceeds of the Certificates (less amounts deposited into a reserve fund, if any)
is directly or indirectly used to finance loans to persons, other than state or local governmental units,
in contravention of section 141(c) of the Code;

(4)  to refrain from taking any action that would otherwise result in the Certificates being
treated as "private activity bonds" within the meaning of section 141(b) of the Code;

268
268



17

(5)  to refrain from taking any action that would result in the Certificates being "federally
guaranteed" within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code;

(6)  to refrain from using any portion of the proceeds of the Certificates, directly or
indirectly, to acquire or to replace funds that were used, directly or indirectly, to acquire investment
property (as defined in section 148(b)(2) of the Code) that produces a materially higher yield over
the term of the Certificates, other than investment property acquired with –

(A)  proceeds of the Certificates invested for a reasonable temporary period of 3
years or less or, in the case of a refunding bond, for a period of 30 days or less until such
proceeds are needed for the purpose for which the Certificates are issued,

(B)  amounts invested in a bona fide debt service fund, within the meaning of section
1.148-1(b) of the Treasury Regulations, and

(C)  amounts deposited in any reasonably required reserve or replacement fund to
the extent such amounts do not exceed 10 percent of the proceeds of the Certificates;

(7)  to otherwise restrict the use of the proceeds of the Certificates or amounts treated as
proceeds of the Certificates, as may be necessary, so that the Certificates do not otherwise contravene
the requirements of section 148 of the Code (relating to arbitrage) and, to the extent applicable,
section 149(d) of the Code (relating to advance refundings); 

(8)  to pay to the United States of America at least once during each five-year period
(beginning on the date of delivery of the Certificates) an amount that is at least equal to 90 percent
of the "Excess Earnings," within the meaning of section 148(f) of the Code and to pay to the United
States of America, not later than 60 days after the Certificates have been paid in full, 100 percent of
the amount then required to be paid as a result of Excess Earnings under section 148(f) of the Code;
and

(9) use the proceeds of the Certificates solely for new money purposes.

(b)  Rebate Fund.  In order to facilitate compliance with the above covenant (a)(8), a "Rebate Fund"
is hereby established by the Issuer for the sole benefit of the United States of America, and such Fund shall
not be subject to the claim of any other person, including without limitation the Certificateholders.  The
Rebate Fund is established for the additional purpose of compliance with section 148 of the Code.

(c)  Use of Proceeds.  For purposes of the foregoing covenants (a)(1) and (a)(2), the Issuer
understands that the term "proceeds" includes "disposition proceeds" as defined in the Treasury Regulations
and, in the case of refunding bonds, transferred proceeds (if any) and proceeds of the refunded bonds
expended prior to the date of issuance of the Certificates.  It is the understanding of the Issuer that the
covenants contained herein are intended to assure compliance with the Code and any regulations or rulings
promulgated by the U.S. Department of the Treasury pursuant thereto.  In the event that regulations or rulings
are hereafter promulgated that modify or expand provisions of the Code, as applicable to the Certificates, the
Issuer will not be required to comply with any covenant contained herein to the extent that such failure to
comply, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, will not adversely affect the exemption from
federal income taxation of interest on the Certificates under section 103 of the Code.  In the event that
regulations or rulings are hereafter promulgated that impose additional requirements applicable to the
Certificates, the Issuer agrees to comply with the additional requirements to the extent necessary, in the
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, to preserve the exemption from federal income taxation of

269
269



18

interest on the Certificates under section 103 of the Code.  In furtherance of such intention, the Issuer hereby
authorizes and directs the Mayor and each Pricing Officer, or any one of them, to execute any documents,
certificates or reports required by the Code and to make such elections, on behalf of the Issuer, that may be
permitted by the Code as are consistent with the purpose for the issuance of the Certificates.

(d)  Allocation of, and Limitation on, Expenditures for the Project.  The Issuer covenants to account
for the expenditure of sale proceeds and investment earnings to be used for the construction and acquisition
of the Project on its books and records by allocating proceeds to expenditures within 18 months of the later
of the date that (1) the expenditure is made, or (2) the Project is completed.  The foregoing notwithstanding,
the Issuer shall not expend proceeds of the sale of the Certificates or investment earnings thereon more than
60 days after the earlier of (1) the fifth anniversary of the delivery of the Certificates, or (2) the date the
Certificates are retired, unless the Issuer obtains an opinion of nationally-recognized bond counsel that such
expenditure will not adversely affect the status, for federal income tax purposes, of the Certificates or the
interest thereon.  For purposes hereof, the Issuer shall not be obligated to comply with this covenant if it
obtains an opinion that such failure to comply will not adversely affect the excludability for federal income
tax purposes from gross income of the interest.

(e)  Disposition of Project.  The Issuer covenants that the property constituting the Project will not
be sold or otherwise disposed in a transaction resulting in the receipt by the Issuer of cash or other
compensation, unless any action taken in connection with such disposition will not adversely affect the tax-
exempt status of the Certificates.  For purpose of the foregoing, the Issuer may rely on an opinion of
nationally-recognized bond counsel that the action taken in connection with such sale or other disposition will
not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Certificates.  For purposes of the foregoing, the portion of
the property comprising personal property and disposed in the ordinary course shall not be treated as a
transaction resulting in the receipt of cash or other compensation.  For purposes hereof, the Issuer shall not
be obligated to comply with this covenant if it obtains an opinion that such failure to comply will not
adversely affect the excludability for federal income tax purposes from gross income of the interest.

Section 10.  SALE OF CERTIFICATES AND APPROVAL OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT;
FURTHER PROCEDURES.

(a)  Each series of Certificates shall be sold and delivered subject to the provisions of Section 1 and
Section 2 and pursuant to the terms and provisions of a purchase agreement or purchase letter (the "Purchase
Agreement") which the Pricing Officer is hereby authorized to execute and deliver and in which the purchaser
or purchasers (the "Underwriters") of the Certificates shall be designated.  The Certificates shall initially be
registered in the name of the purchaser thereof as set forth in the Pricing Certificate.

(b)  The Mayor and City Secretary are further authorized and directed to execute and deliver for and
on behalf of the Issuer copies of a Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement, if prepared in
connection with the offering of Certificates by the Underwriters, in final form as may be required by the
Underwriters, and such final Official Statement in the form and content as approved by the Pricing Officer
or as manually executed by said officials shall be deemed to be approved by the City Council and constitute
the Official Statement authorized for distribution and use by the Underwriters. The form and substance of the
Preliminary Official Statement for the Certificates and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto, all
as approved by the Pricing Officer, are hereby deemed to be approved in all respects by the City Council, and
the Preliminary Official Statement is hereby deemed final as of its date (except for the omission of pricing
and related information) within the meaning and for the purpose of paragraph (b)(1) of the Rule (hereinafter
defined).

270
270



19

(c)  The Pricing Officer is authorized, in connection with effecting the sale of each series of the
Certificates, to obtain from a municipal bond insurance company so designated in the Pricing Certificate (the
"Insurer") a municipal bond insurance policy (the "Insurance Policy") in support of the Certificates.  To that
end, should the Pricing Officer exercise such authority and commit the Issuer to obtain a municipal bond
insurance policy, for so long as the Insurance Policy is in effect, the requirements of the Insurer relating to
the issuance of the Insurance Policy as set forth in the Pricing Certificate are incorporated by reference into
this Ordinance and made a part hereof for all purposes, notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance
to the contrary.  The Pricing Officer shall have the authority to execute any documents to effect the issuance
of the Insurance Policy by the Insurer.

(d)  The Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem, the City Secretary and the Pricing Officers of the Issuer, and
each of them, shall be and they are hereby expressly authorized, empowered and directed from time to time
and at any time to do and perform all such acts and things and to execute, acknowledge and deliver in the
name and on behalf of the Issuer such documents, certificates and other instruments, whether or not herein
mentioned, as may be necessary or desirable in order to carry out the terms and provisions of this Ordinance,
the Certificates, the sale of the Certificates and the Official Statement.  In case any officer whose signature
shall appear on any Certificate shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of such Certificate, such
signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes the same as if such officer had remained
in office until such delivery.

Section 11.  INTEREST EARNINGS ON CERTIFICATE PROCEEDS.  Interest earnings derived
from the investment of proceeds from the sale of the Certificates shall be used along with other certificate
proceeds for the Project; provided that after completion of such purpose, if any of such interest earnings
remain on hand, such interest earnings shall be deposited in the Interest and Sinking Fund.  It is further
provided, however, that any interest earnings on certificate proceeds that are required to be rebated to the
United States of America pursuant to Section 9 hereof in order to prevent the Certificates from being arbitrage
bonds shall be so rebated and not considered as interest earnings for the purposes of this Section.

Section 12.  CONSTRUCTION FUND.

(a)  The Issuer hereby creates and establishes and shall maintain on the books of the Issuer a separate
fund to be entitled the "Series 2016 Combination Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificate of Obligation
Construction Fund" for use by the Issuer for payment of all lawful costs associated with the acquisition and
construction of the Project as hereinbefore provided.  Upon payment of all such costs, any moneys remaining
on deposit in said fund shall be transferred to the Interest and Sinking Fund.  Amounts so deposited to the
Interest and Sinking Fund shall be used in the manner described in Section 5 of this Ordinance.

(b)  The Issuer may invest proceeds of the Certificates (including investment earnings thereon) and
amounts deposited into the Interest and Sinking Fund in investments authorized by the Public Funds
Investment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, as amended; provided, however, that the Issuer
hereby covenants that the proceeds of the sale of the Certificates will be used as soon as practicable for the
purposes for which the Certificates are issued.

(c)  All deposits authorized or required by this Ordinance shall be secured to the fullest extent
required by law for the security of public funds.

Section 13.  COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 15c2-12.

(a)  Annual Reports.

271
271



20

(i)  The Issuer shall provide annually to the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by
the MSRB, within 6 months after the end of each fiscal year ending in or after 2016, financial
information and operating data with respect to the Issuer of the general type included in the final
Official Statement authorized by Section 10 of this Ordinance, being the information described in
the Pricing Certificate.  The Issuer will additionally provide audited financial statements when and
if available, and in any event, within 12 months after the end of each fiscal year ending in or after
2016.  If the audit of such financial statements is not complete within 12 months after any such fiscal
year end, then the Issuer will file unaudited financial statements within such 12 month period and
audited financial statements for the applicable fiscal year, when and if the audit report on such
statements becomes available.  Any financial statements so to be provided shall be prepared in
accordance with the accounting principles described in Appendix B to the Official Statement, or such
other accounting principles as the Issuer may be required to employ from time to time pursuant to
state law or regulation.

(ii)  If the Issuer changes its fiscal year, it will notify the MSRB of the change (and of the
date of the new fiscal year end) prior to the next date by which the Issuer otherwise would be
required to provide financial information and operating data pursuant to this Section.  The financial
information and operating data to be provided pursuant to this Section may be set forth in full in one
or more documents or may be included by specific reference to any document (including an official
statement or other offering document, if it is available from the MSRB) that theretofore has been
provided to the MSRB or filed with the SEC.

(b)  Event Notices.

(i)  The Issuer shall notify the MSRB in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in
a timely manner (but not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event) of any of
the following events with respect to the Certificates, if such event is material within the meaning of
the federal securities laws:

1.  Non-payment related defaults;

2.  Modifications to rights of Certificateholders;

3.  Certificate calls;

4.  Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Certificates;

5.  The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an
obligated person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person,
other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to
undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such
actions, other than pursuant to its terms; and

6.  Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a
trustee.

(ii)  The Issuer shall notify the MSRB in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB,
in a timely manner (but not in excess of ten business days after the occurrence of the event) of any
of the following events with respect to the Certificates, without regard to whether such event is
considered material within the meaning of the federal securities laws:

272
272



21

1.  Principal and interest payment delinquencies;

2.  Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

3.  Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

4.  Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

5.  Adverse tax opinions or the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed
or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701–TEB) or
other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Certificates, or
other material events affecting the tax status of the Certificates;

6.  Tender offers;

7.  Defeasances;

8.  Rating changes; and

9.  Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of an obligated person.

(iii)  The Issuer shall notify the MSRB, in a timely manner, of any failure by the Issuer to
provide financial information or operating data in accordance with subsection (b) of this Section by
the time required by such subsection. 

(c)  Limitations, Disclaimers, and Amendments.

(i)  The Issuer shall be obligated to observe and perform the covenants specified in this
Section for so long as, but only for so long as, the Issuer remains an "obligated person" with respect
to the Certificates within the meaning of the Rule, except that the Issuer in any event will give the
notice required by Subsection (b) hereof of any Certificate calls and defeasance that cause the Issuer
to no longer be such an "obligated person".

(ii)  The provisions of this Section are for the sole benefit of the registered owners and
beneficial owners of the Certificates, and nothing in this Section, express or implied, shall give any
benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy, or claim hereunder to any other person.  The Issuer
undertakes to provide only the financial information, operating data, financial statements, and notices
which it has expressly agreed to provide pursuant to this Section and does not hereby undertake to
provide any other information that may be relevant or material to a complete presentation of the
Issuer's financial results, condition, or prospects or hereby undertake to update any information
provided in accordance with this Section or otherwise, except as expressly provided herein.  The
Issuer does not make any representation or warranty concerning such information or its usefulness
to a decision to invest in or sell Certificates at any future date.

(iii)  UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE ISSUER BE LIABLE TO THE
REGISTERED OWNER OR BENEFICIAL OWNER OF ANY CERTIFICATE OR ANY OTHER
PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR DAMAGES RESULTING IN WHOLE OR IN PART
FROM ANY BREACH BY THE ISSUER, WHETHER NEGLIGENT OR WITHOUT FAULT ON
ITS PART, OF ANY COVENANT SPECIFIED IN THIS SECTION, BUT EVERY RIGHT AND
REMEDY OF ANY SUCH PERSON, IN CONTRACT OR TORT, FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF

273
273



22

ANY SUCH BREACH SHALL BE LIMITED TO AN ACTION FOR MANDAMUS OR SPECIFIC
PERFORMANCE.

(iv)  No default by the Issuer in observing or performing its obligations under this Section
shall comprise a breach of or default under the Ordinance for purposes of any other provision of this
Ordinance.  Nothing in this Section is intended or shall act to disclaim, waive, or otherwise limit the
duties of the Issuer under federal and state securities laws.

(v)  Should the Rule be amended to obligate the Issuer to make filings with or provide notices
to entities other than the MSRB, the Issuer hereby agrees to undertake such obligation with respect
to the Certificates in accordance with the Rule as amended. The provisions of this Section may be
amended by the Issuer from time to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise from a change
in legal requirements, a change in law, or a change in the identity, nature, status, or type of operations
of the Issuer, but only if (1) the provisions of this Section, as so amended, would have permitted an
underwriter to purchase or sell Certificates in the primary offering of the Certificates in compliance
with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule since such offering
as well as such changed circumstances and (2) either (a) the registered owners of a majority in
aggregate principal amount (or any greater amount required by any other provision of this Ordinance
that authorizes such an amendment) of the outstanding Certificates consent to such amendment or
(b) a person that is unaffiliated with the Issuer (such as nationally recognized bond counsel)
determined that such amendment will not materially impair the interest of the registered owners and
beneficial owners of the Certificates.  If the Issuer so amends the provisions of this Section, it shall
include with any amended financial information or operating data next provided in accordance with
subsection (a) of this Section an explanation, in narrative form, of the reason for the amendment and
of the impact of any change in the type of financial information or operating data so provided.  The
Issuer may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC
amends or repeals the applicable provision of the Rule or a court of final jurisdiction enters judgment
that such provisions of the Rule are invalid, but only if and to the extent that the provisions of this
sentence would not prevent an underwriter from lawfully purchasing or selling Certificates in the
primary offering of the Certificates.

(d)  Definitions.  As used in this Section, the following terms have the meanings ascribed to such
terms below:

"MSRB" means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board or any successor to its functions under
the Rule.

"Rule" means SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended from time to time.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

Section 14.  METHOD OF AMENDMENT.  The Issuer hereby reserves the right to amend this
Ordinance subject to the following terms and conditions, to-wit:

(a)  The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of any holder, except as otherwise required
by paragraph (b) below, amend or supplement this Ordinance in order to (i) cure any ambiguity, defect or
omission in this Ordinance that does not materially adversely affect the interests of the holders, (ii) grant
additional rights or security for the benefit of the holders, (iii) add events of default as shall not be
inconsistent with the provisions of this Ordinance and that shall not materially adversely affect the interests
of the holders, (iv) qualify this Ordinance under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, or

274
274



23

corresponding provisions of federal laws from time to time in effect, or (v) make such other provisions in
regard to matters or questions arising under this Ordinance as shall not be inconsistent with the provisions
of this Ordinance and that shall not in the opinion of the Issuer’s Bond Counsel materially adversely affect
the interests of the holders.

(b)  Except as provided in paragraph (a) above, the holders of Certificates aggregating in principal
amount 51% of the aggregate principal amount of then outstanding Certificates that are the subject of a
proposed amendment shall have the right from time to time to approve any amendment hereto that may be
deemed necessary or desirable by the Issuer; provided, however, that without the consent of 100% of the
holders in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Certificates, nothing herein contained shall
permit or be construed to permit amendment of the terms and conditions of this Ordinance or in any of the
Certificates so as to:

(1)  Make any change in the maturity of any of the outstanding Certificates;

(2)  Reduce the rate of interest borne by any of the outstanding Certificates;

(3)  Reduce the amount of the principal of, or redemption premium, if any, payable on any
outstanding Certificates;

(4)  Modify the terms of payment of principal or of interest or redemption premium on
outstanding Certificates or any of them or impose any condition with respect to such payment; or

(5)  Change the minimum percentage of the principal amount of the Certificates necessary
for consent to such amendment.

(c)  If at any time the Issuer shall desire to amend this Ordinance under this Section, the Issuer shall
send by U.S. mail to each registered owner of the affected Certificates a copy of the proposed amendment.

(d)  Whenever at any time within one year from the date of mailing of such notice the Issuer shall
receive an instrument or instruments executed by the holders of at least 51% in aggregate principal amount
of all of the Certificates then outstanding that are required for the amendment, which instrument or
instruments shall refer to the proposed amendment and that shall specifically consent to and approve such
amendment, the Issuer may adopt the amendment in substantially the same form.

(e)  Upon the adoption of any amendatory Ordinance pursuant to the provisions of this Section, this
Ordinance shall be deemed to be modified and amended in accordance with such amendatory Ordinance, and
the respective rights, duties, and obligations of the Issuer and all holders of such affected Certificates shall
thereafter be determined, exercised, and enforced, subject in all respects to such amendment.

(f)  Any consent given by the holder of a Certificate pursuant to the provisions of this Section shall
be irrevocable for a period of six months from the date of such consent, and shall be conclusive and binding
upon all future holders of the same Certificate during such period.  Such consent may be revoked at any time
after six months from the date of such consent by the holder who gave such consent, or by a successor in title,
by filing notice with the Issuer, but such revocation shall not be effective if the holders of 51% in aggregate
principal amount of the affected Certificates then outstanding, have, prior to the attempted revocation,
consented to and approved the amendment.

275
275



24

For the purposes of establishing ownership of the Certificates, the Issuer shall rely solely upon the
registration of the ownership of such Certificates on the registration books kept by the Paying
Agent/Registrar.

Section 15.  DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

(a)  Events of Default.  Each of the following occurrences or events for the purpose of this Ordinance
is hereby declared to be an Event of Default:

(i)  the failure to make payment of the principal of or interest on any of the Certificates when
the same becomes due and payable; or

(ii)  default in the performance or observance of any other covenant, agreement or obligation
of the Issuer, the failure to perform which materially, adversely affects the rights of the registered
owners of the Certificates, including, but not limited to, their prospect or ability to be repaid in
accordance with this Ordinance, and the continuation thereof for a period of 60 days after notice of
such default is given by any Registered Owner to the Issuer.

(b)  Remedies for Default.

(i)  Upon the happening of any Event of Default, then and in every case, any Registered
Owner or an authorized representative thereof, including, but not limited to, a trustee or trustees
therefor, may proceed against the Issuer for the purpose of protecting and enforcing the rights of the
Registered Owners under this Ordinance, by mandamus or other suit, action or special proceeding
in equity or at law, in any court of competent jurisdiction, for any relief permitted by law, including
the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained herein, or thereby to enjoin any act
or thing that may be unlawful or in violation of any right of the Registered Owners hereunder or any
combination of such remedies.

(ii)  It is provided that all such proceedings shall be instituted and maintained for the equal
benefit of all Registered Owners of Certificates then outstanding.

(c)  Remedies Not Exclusive.

(i)  No remedy herein conferred or reserved is intended to be exclusive of any other available
remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to
every other remedy given hereunder or under the Certificates or now or hereafter existing at law or
in equity; provided, however, that notwithstanding any other provision of this Ordinance, the right
to accelerate the debt evidenced by the Certificates shall not be available as a remedy under this
Ordinance.

(ii)  The exercise of any remedy herein conferred or reserved shall not be deemed a waiver
of any other available remedy.

(iii)  By accepting the delivery of a Certificate authorized under this Ordinance, such
Registered Owner agrees that the certifications required to effectuate any covenants or
representations contained in this Ordinance do not and shall never constitute or give rise to a personal
or pecuniary liability or charge against the officers, employees or trustees of the Issuer or the City
Council.

276
276



25

Section 16.  APPROPRIATION.  To pay the debt service coming due on the Certificates, if any (as
determined by the Pricing Certificate) prior to receipt of the taxes levied to pay such debt service, there is
hereby appropriated from current funds on hand, which are hereby certified to be on hand and available for
such purpose, an amount sufficient to pay such debt service, and such amount shall be used for no other
purpose.

Section 17.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  In accordance with the provisions of V.T.C.A., Government Code,
Section 1201.028, this Ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its adoption by the City Council.

Section 18.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, article, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word
in this Ordinance, or application thereof to any persons or circumstances is held invalid or unconstitutional
by a court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of this
Ordinance, despite such invalidity, which remaining portions shall remain in full force and effect.

[Execution Page Follows]

277
277



DULY PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS,
this 19th  day of January, 2016.

ATTEST: Mayor, City of Rockwall, Texas

City Secretary, City of Rockwall, Texas

[CITY SEAL]

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

City Attorney

1ST Reading:

2ND Reading:

278
278



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

279
279



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
  
 
TO:   City Council 
  
FROM:  Joey Boyd, Director of Internal Operations 
 
DATE:  December 22, 2015 
 
SUBJECT: Airport Advisory Board Ordinance 
  
 
A group of airport tenants met with the Airport Subcommittee in December to discuss 
their desire to form an Airport Advisory Board.  The City Council approved the formation 
of an Airport Advisory Board at its last meeting.  Attached for your review and 
consideration is an ordinance that formally establishes the Board and outlines its 
responsibilities and duties. 

280
280



CITY OF ROCKWALL, TEXAS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 16-___ 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS, AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCES IN 
CHAPTER 8. AVIATION BY ADDING A NEW ARTICLE, ARTICLE III, 
ESTABLISHING AN AIRPORT ADVISORY BOARD TO BE APPOINTED 
AND REMOVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL; PRESCRIBING TERMS FOR 
INITIAL BOARD MEMBERS; ESTABLISHING THE PURPOSE & 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Rockwall, Texas finds that the establishment 
of an Airport Advisory Board is in the best interest of the City of Rockwall; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCKWALL, TEXAS: 
 

Section 1. The Code of Ordinances is hereby amended in Chapter 8. Aviation, by 
adding a new article, Article III, which shall henceforth read as follows: 

 
 
ARTICLE III.  Airport Advisory Board 
 
Sec. 8-23.  Establishment; composition; appointment of members and 
terms; officers; compensation. 
 
City Council of the City of Rockwall hereby establishes an Airport Advisory Board 
for the Ralph M. Hall / Rockwall Municipal Airport. The board will consist of 7 
members, all of whom shall be resident citizens and qualified voters of the City of 
Rockwall. Board members should be representative of the community, including 
citizens interested in airport-related business and/or aviation. A staff liaison will 
be appointed by the city manager. Appointment and removal of board members 
shall be by majority vote of the Rockwall City Council. Terms shall be for a period 
of two (2) years with initial board members drawing lots to establish four (4) initial 
two-year terms and three (3) initial one-year terms.  From its membership, the 
Airport Advisory Board shall annually select the following officers: Chairperson 
and Vice-Chairperson, each of whom will serve for a period of one year in this 
capacity. All board members shall serve without compensation. 
 
Sec. 8-24.  Meetings, purpose and responsibilities. 
 
Meetings shall be held at least on a quarterly or on an ‘as needed basis’ as 
determined by the Chair, the staff liaison, or by direction from the City Council.  
The purpose of the Airport Advisory Board is to provide recommendations to the 
City Council.  
 

Ordinance – Establish Airport Advisory Board 
Page 1 of 2 

281
281



The responsibilities and duties of the Airport Advisory Board shall include, but not limited 
the following: 
 

• Make recommendations on both short-term and long-term strategic planning 
• Make recommendations how to use the airport for local and regional 

economic development opportunities 
• Advise the City Council on how to market the airport to new customers 
• Make recommendations as to how to build a partnership with all stakeholders 

for a successful airport 
• Undertake direction from the City Council on any other related matters 

 
Section 2. That this ordinance shall become effective immediately upon passage 

and approval and it is so ordained. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ROCKWALL, 
TEXAS, this 19th day of January, 2016. 

 
 
   
 Jim Pruitt, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
  
Kristy Cole, City Secretary 
 
 
1st Reading:   01-04-16 
2nd Reading:  01-19-16 

Ordinance – Establish Airport Advisory Board 
Page 2 of 2 

282
282



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

283
283



284
284



285
285



286
286



287
287



288
288



289
289



290
290



291
291



292
292



293
293



294
294



295
295



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

296
296



297
297



298
298



299
299



300
300



301
301



302
302



303
303



304
304



305
305



306
306



307
307



308
308



309
309



310
310



311
311



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

312
312



City of Rockwall 
GIS Department Report 

November 2015 
 
 

GIS Project Request: 
 

Month 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 % Change 
from 2014 

2015 
Trend 

January 5 14 19 24 31 21 26 28 38 35.71%  ↑ 
February 13 16 26 28 28 25 26 27 33 22.22%  ↑ 
March 4 6 32 23 36 22 23 28 30 7.14%  ↑ 
April 9 25 17 22 29 37 23 30 35 16.67%  ↑ 
May 16 25 18 30 32 33 38 24 31 29.17%  ↑ 
June 11 9 27 22 38 35 28 15 34 126.67%  ↑ 
July 15 24 15 32 23 27 21 31 41 32.26%  ↑ 
August 15 7 23 24 38 35 36 34 27 -20.59% ↓ 
September 9 7 28 31 37 27 20 39 50 28.21% ↑ 
October 10 33 32 39 40 39 27 44 38  -13.64% ↓ 
November 35 6 15 27 22 13 29 34 46 35.29%  ↑ 
December 10 13 13 28 22 17 28 19       

Total: 152 185 265 330 376 331 325 353 403 
 
 
Key Projects:        Year to Date Project Request by Department: 
 
(1) New Internet Maps / GIS Day Event. Successfully 

held second annual GIS Day event. Released new 
online maps. Demonstrated to Council and P&Z 
Commission. 

 
(2) 911 Addressing.  Assigned addresses to new homes, 

businesses, and utilities. Updated state database. 
 
(3) GPS Intern Projects. New GPS projects locating all 

Utility updates, and planimetric update of Building 
Footprints. 

 
(4) Rockwall County Critical Infrastructure Mitigation 

Plan. Compiled data for County Emergency 
Management Team.  

 
(5) Event Maps. Prepared various events maps for 

Christmas Parade, Downtown, Park’s etc. 
 
(6) NCTCOG Next Generation 911. Updating NCTCOG NG911 data and repairing any city or state MSAG errors. 
 
(7) Parks Department Strategic Plan and Mowing Contract. Update various parks maps and mowing documents 

with new zones, walking distances, and calculate acreages. 
 
(8) SH66 / S Lakeshore Hazmat Information. Assisted Fire Dept. with hazmat incident historical deed / utility 

research. 
 
(9) Various Planning Project Maps. Created various project study maps. (T’fare, Comp, Zoning, ROW, etc.) 

Admin / HR / Internal Ops 4 
Building Inspections 0 
Citizen Request 2 
City Council 0 
City Manager’s Office 2 
Neighborhood Improvement Services 0 
Engineering / Public Works 3 
Finance / Utilities 0 
Fire Department 3 
GIS (Citywide Projects) 10 
IT 0 
Main Street Program 0 
Outside Agencies 6 
Parks and Recreation 3 
Planning 11 
Police Department 2 
REDC 0 

Total  46 

313
313



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

314
314



Rockwall Police Department
Harbor District Call For Service

November 2015

Incident Number Date Time Common Name Incident Type Incident CFS Disposition

2015-00037150 11/06/2015 20:02:44 Cinemark Movies 12 Disorderly Conduct No Report

2015-00038827 11/20/2015 19:37:52 Cinemark Movies 12 Investigation Arrest

2015-00039167 11/23/2015 17:40:20 Cinemark Movies 12 Criminal Mischief No Report

2015-00039638 11/28/2015 15:52:25 Cinemark Movies 12 BMV Report

2015-00039640 11/28/2015 15:57:51 Cinemark Movies 12 BMV Report

2015-00039641 11/28/2015 15:58:53 Cinemark Movies 12 BMV Report

2015-00039659 11/28/2015 16:57:40 Cinemark Movies 12 BMV Report

2015-00000994 11/02/2015 22:26:05 Hilton Fire Alarm False Alarm

2015-00036788 11/04/2015 02:23:08 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036789 11/04/2015 02:48:17 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036791 11/04/2015 03:37:30 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036792 11/04/2015 03:38:02 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036793 11/04/2015 03:47:14 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036794 11/04/2015 03:55:24 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036795 11/04/2015 04:06:29 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036815 11/04/2015 10:24:43 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036843 11/04/2015 15:03:32 Hilton BMV Report

2015-00036886 11/04/2015 22:52:35 Hilton Investigation No Report

2015-00037770 11/11/2015 22:48:40 Hilton Suspicious Activity No Report

2015-00037910 11/13/2015 00:25:04 Hilton Investigation Unable to Locate

2015-00038206 11/15/2015 02:17:38 Hilton Disturbance No Report

2015-00038212 11/15/2015 02:55:15 Hilton Disturbance No Report

2015-00038384 11/17/2015 00:34:16 Hilton Investigation No Report

2015-00038503 11/18/2015 00:58:45 Hilton Intoxicated No Report

2015-00038507 11/18/2015 02:06:23 Hilton Suspicious Activity No Report

2015-00038845 11/20/2015 21:38:20 Hilton Suspicious Activity No Report

2015-00039212 11/24/2015 01:51:00 Hilton Suspicious Activity No Report

2015-00039347 11/25/2015 02:48:04 Hilton Suspicious Activity No Report

2015-00039402 11/25/2015 14:10:24 Hilton 911 Hang Up No Report

2015-00039577 11/27/2015 20:09:23 Hilton Disturbance No Report

2015-00039582 11/27/2015 22:36:03 Hilton Disturbance No Report

2015-00039589 11/28/2015 01:07:36 Hilton Disturbance Arrest

2015-00039643 11/28/2015 16:15:54 Hilton BMV No Report

2015-00036493 11/01/2015 22:56:26 The Harbor Investigation No Report

2015-00037272 11/07/2015 21:05:57 The Harbor Suspicious Activity No Report

2015-00038074 11/14/2015 08:17:07 The Harbor Alarm-BUSN False Alarm

2015-00038840 11/20/2015 20:40:45 The Harbor Investigation No Report

2015-00039470 11/26/2015 03:36:00 The Harbor Assault No Report

2015-00039635 11/28/2015 15:33:40 The Harbor BMV Report

2015-00038042 11/13/2015 23:50:55 Three Sheets Investigation No Report

Common Name

Cinemark Movies 12 7

Hilton 26

The Harbor 6
Three Sheets 1

Total 40

315
315



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

316
316



317
317



318
318



319
319



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

320
320



Rockwall Police Department
Monthly Activity Report

ACTIVITY CURRENT MONTH PREVIOUS MONTH YTD YTD YTD %

NOVEMBER OCTOBER 2015 2014 CHANGE

Homicide / Manslaughter 0 0 0 1 -100.00%

Sexual Assault 0 0 11 6 83.33%

Robbery 1 0 9 5 80.00%

Aggravated Assault 1 3 32 23 39.13%

Burglary 8 8 59 80 -26.25%

Larceny 60 46 585 585 0.00%

Motor Vehicle Theft 4 2 34 50 -32.00%

TOTAL PART I 74 59 730 750 -2.67%

TOTAL PART II 111 152 1690 1504 12.37%

TOTAL OFFENSES 185 211 2420 2254 7.36%

FAMILY VIOLENCE 10 24 177 183 -3.28%

D.W.I. 18 12 184 193 -4.66%

TEEN CURFEW 2 0 7 13 -46.15%

FELONY 20 17 199 195 2.05%

MISDEMEANOR 61 60 742 843 -11.98%

WARRANT ARREST 23 48 406 349 16.33%

JUVENILE 0 1 26 70 -62.86%

TOTAL ARRESTS 104 126 1373 1457 -5.77%

CALLS FOR SERVICE 1449 1533 16671 16065 3.77%

INJURY 14 12 115 128 -10.16%

(INJURIES) 14 15 163 179 -8.94%

NON-INJURY 66 64 606 497 21.93%

FATALITY 0 0 1 1 0.00%

(FATALITIES) 0 0 1 1 0.00%

TOTAL 80 76 722 626 15.34%

RESIDENT ALARMS 64 59 714 647 10.36%

BUSINESS ALARMS 127 102 1346 1409 -4.47%

TOTAL FALSE ALARMS 191 161 2060 2056 0.19%

Estimated Lost Hours 126.06 106.26 1359.6 1356.96 0.19%

Estimated Cost $2,998.70 $2,527.70 $32,342.00 $32,279.20 0.19%

Number of Cases

Arrests

Arrest Warrants

Search Warrants

Marijuana
Cocaine

Meth

Seized

4.9 ounces
28 grams

1 Kilogram

ROCKWALL NARCOTICS UNIT

3

3

0

0

ACCIDENTS

FALSE ALARMS

November-2015

PART 1 OFFENSES

ARRESTS

DISPATCH

ADDITIONAL STATISTICS

Heroin 0.9 grams

321
321



Rockwall Police Department
Dispatch and Response Times

Average Response Time

Priority 1 Number of Calls 113

Call to Dispatch 0:00:56
Call to Arrival 0:05:15
     % over 7 minutes 28%

Average Response Time

Priority 2 Number of Calls 272

Call to Dispatch 0:01:27
Call to Arrival 0:07:54
     % over 7 minutes 39.34%

Average Response Time

Priority 3 Number of Calls 6

Call to Dispatch 0:02:30  

Call to Arrival 0:08:09
     % over 7 minutes 50.00%

*Priority 4 0:08:58 Number of Calls 989

**Priority 5 0:01:05 Number of Calls 2

 

Average dispatch response time goals are as follows:

Priority 1: 30 Seconds
Priority 2: 45 Seconds
Priority 3: 1 Minute

Average Response Time

Call to Dispatch 0:00:11 Number of Calls 67

Call to Arrival 0:06:51

Overages

*Priority 4 call averages are not given because they are calls that do not require an immediate response by police.
**Priority 5 calls are incidents that officers initiate themselves therefore response times are not calculated.

November-2015
Police Department

Fire Department

Incident No. Date Time Rec'd Call Type Time Disp Resp Time Reason

322
322



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

323
323



City of Rockwall

Parks and Recreation Department

FY16 November Report

FY16 YTD FY15 YTD
The Center Facility Usage 12,307 11,330
Average Participation per Hour 23 22

Ongoing Activities Attendance 7,973             2,434
The Center Facility Rental Revenue $4,537 $6,234
Program Revenue $28,760 $10,467

The Center Facility Usage - Total number of visitors and participants that come thru The Center - includes Ongoing Activities.

Average Participation per Hour - The Center Facility Usage divided by the number of hours the facility is open.

Ongoing Activities Attendance - Non fee based activities conducted on a routine basis (Bingo, Exercise with Anita, etc).

The Center Facility

Usage

Average Participation

per Hour

Ongoing Activities

Attendance

The Center Facility

Rental Revenue
Program Revenue

FY16 YTD 12,307 23 7,973 $4,537 $28,760

FY15 YTD 11,330 22 2,434 $6,234 $10,467

1

10

100

1,000

10,000

100,000

324
324



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

325
325



Rockwall Animal Adoption Center Monthly Report
CCHS at Rockwall

November 2015

DISPOSITION REPORT

November
Intakes 115
1045 1
Adopted 52
Returned to Owner 41

Rescued 21
Euthanized 2
Live Outcome % 98%
Number of Animals in Foster 0

FINANCIAL REPORT

Income November
City of Rockwall $0
Adoption Fee Income $4,840
Impound Fee Income $1,105
Owner Surrender $770
General Donations $1,603
Medical $265
Quarantine Fee $0
Total Income $8,583

Expenses November
Administrative Expenses (Payroll, etc) $33,955
Shelter Expenses (Microchips, Drugs, etc) $5,132
Veterinary Expenses $5,999
Professional Services $0
Total Expenses $45,085
Balance -$36,640

326
326



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

327
327


	Agenda
	Consider approval of the minutes from the December 21, 2015 regular city council meeting, and take any action necessary.
	12/21 cc mtg mins
	Blank Page

	Z2015-030 - Consider approval of an ordinance for a City initiated request for a zoning amendment to Planned Development District 75 (PD-75) being Ordinance No. 09-37, containing 329.53-acres of land, identified as the Lake Rockwall Estates Subdivision, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Planned Development District 75 (PD-75) for Single Family 7 (SF-7) District land uses, being situated east of Tubbs Road and north of County Line Road, and take any action necessary. (2nd reading)
	Ord (2nd reading) LRE
	Blank Page

	Z2015-032 - Consider a request by Lloyd Waldrop of Rockwall Gold & Silver on behalf of the owner Donna Pritchard for the approval for renewal of Specific Use Permit (SUP) No. S-115 (Ordinance No. 13-46) allowing a pawn shop on a portion of a 0.423-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block 1 of the Garland Federal Savings & Loan Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District, situated within the SH-205 Overlay (SH-205 OV) District, address as Suite 1 of 1901 S. Goliad Street, and take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)
	2nd reading (SUP Rck Gold & Silver)
	Blank Page

	Z2015-033 - Consider a request by Stephen B. North for the approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for an accessory building not meeting the standards stipulated by the Unified Development Code on a 0.23-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 14, Block F, Harlan Park Addition, Phase 1, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single Family 10 (SF-10) District, situated within the North SH-205 Overlay (N. SH-205 OV) District, addressed as 513 Windsor Way, and take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)
	Ord (2nd reading) SUP accessory bldg
	Blank Page

	Z2015-034 - Consider a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land Development Inc. on behalf of the owner Randa Hance of R&R Hance Investment LP for the approval of an ordinance for a zoning change from an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development District for Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land uses for a 45.318-acre tract of land identified as Tract 2-03 of the P. B. Harrison Survey, Abstract No. 97, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Agricultural (AG) District, situated within the SH-205 By-Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District, located on the north side of John King Boulevard south of FM-552, and take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)
	Ord_2nd reading (Atkins)
	Blank Page

	Z2015-035 - Consider a request by Pat Atkins of Saddle Star Land Development Inc. on behalf of the owner Larry Hance for the approval of an ordinance for a zoning change from an Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development District for Single Family 8.4 (SF-8.4) District land uses for a 44.56-acre tract of land identified as Tract 3 of the T. R. Bailey Survey, Abstract No. 30, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Agricultural (AG) District, situated within the SH-205 By-Pass Overlay (SH-205 BY-OV) District, located at the northwest corner of FM-552 and John King Boulevard, and take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)
	Concept Plan
	Draft Ordinance
	Blank page

	Appointment with Steven Nosworthy to hear presentation regarding his completed Eagle Scout project, and take any action necessary.
	Nosworthy Presentation
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider adoption of a resolution regarding cost of treated water from the North Texas municipal water District, and take any action necessary.
	Memo
	blank page

	Z2015-031 - Discuss and consider a request by John and Lenny James on behalf of the owner Rockway Partners for the approval of an ordinance for a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a carwash on a 0.688-acre parcel of land identified as Lot 1, Block D, La Jolla Pointe Addition, Phase 2, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Commercial (C) District, situated within the Scenic Overlay (SOV) District, located at the northwest corner of La Jolla Pointe Drive and Ridge Road [FM-740], and take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)
	Ord_2nd reading (car wash)
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance modifying Chapter 38. Subdivisions, Article 1. In General, Section 38-19. Street Improvements and Oversizing, of the Municipal Code of Ordinances to require a 41-foot street adjacent to schools and parks, and take any action necessary. (2nd reading)
	Ord (2nd reading) street width
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider possible amendment to second reading of the ordinance for MIS2015-003 to collect data on alternative solutions for the roadway designation of Goliad from downtown to East Fork, to include but not be limited to considering the possibility of two through lanes, one north and one south, divided by a dedicated turn lane, and take any action necessary.
	Milder agenda item request
	City Mgr Memo re Thoroughfare Plan
	Blank Page

	MIS2015-003 - Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance for a City initiated request to amend the Comprehensive Plan by approving changes to the Master Thoroughfare Plan Map contained within the Transportation section, add a street cross section for a M4U-M (minor arterial, four [4] lane, undivided roadway, modified) and modify existing street cross sections in Appendix ‘D’, Thoroughfare Cross Sections, and take any action necessary.  (2nd reading)
	City Mgr Memo re plan updates
	Ord 2nd reading (amend thoroughfare plan)
	MIS2015-003
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider a request by Price Pointer for the approval of a structure preservation tax exemption application seeking to have the assessed value for ad valorem taxation fixed for a period of five (5) years on the subject property at 602 Williams Street, further identified as the east ½ of Lot 121, Block A of the B. F. Boydston Addition, City of Rockwall, Rockwall County, Texas, zoned Single Family 7 (SF-7) District, located within the Old Town Rockwall (OTR) Historic District, and take any action necessary.
	Memorandum
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider extending the Facilities Agreement for Damascus Road with Our Lady of the Lake Catholic Church for an additional 90 calendar days, and take any action necessary.
	City Manager Memo
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider approval of a joint contract between the City of Rockwall, the Rockwall Independent School District (RISD) and the Elections Administrator of Rockwall County for administration of the May 7, 2016 General (Municipal) Election, and take any action necessary.
	Memo
	Elections Contract
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider adoption of an ordinance authorizing the issuance of City of Rockwall, Texas, General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2016; establishing procedures and delegating authority for the sale and delivery of the bonds; providing an effective date; enacting other provisions relating to the subject. (1st Reading - No Action Will Be Taken)
	staff memo
	GO Ordinance
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider adoption of an ordinance authorizing the issuance of City of Rockwall, Texas, Combination Tax and Surplus Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016; establishing procedures and delegating authority for the sale and delivery of the certificates; providing an effective date; and enacting other provisions relating to the subject. (1st Reading - No Action Will Be Taken)
	staff memo
	Certificates Ordinance
	Blank Page

	Discuss and consider approval of an ordinance amending the Code of Ordinances in Chapter 8. Aviation by adding a new article, Article III, establishing an Airport Advisory Board at the Ralph M. Hall / Rockwall Municipal Airport to be appointed and removed by the city council, and take any action necessary. (1st reading)
	Memo - Airport Advisory Board
	Ord_1st Reading (airport board)
	Blank Page

	Building Inspections Monthly Report - November 2015
	November 2015 Building Report
	Blank Page

	Fire Department Monthly Reports - November 2015
	Fire Dept. Monthly Reports - November 2015 
	Blank Page

	GIS Department Monthly Report - November 2015
	GIS Monthly Report (November 2015)
	Blank Page

	Harbor PD Monthly Report - November 2015
	Harbor PD Report - Nov 2015
	Blank Page

	Internal Operations Department Monthly Report - November 2015.
	IO Report
	Blank Page

	Police Department Monthly Report - November 2015
	PD Monthly Report
	Blank Page

	Recreation Monthly Report - November 2015
	Recreation Graph - Nov 2015
	Blank Page

	Rockwall Animal Adoption Center Monthly Report - November 2015
	RAAC-November 2015
	Blank Page




